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Company at a Glance

QB FN

AAG Energy, the Leading
Independent CBM Producer in China

HES: 12

Vision
To be the world’s leading, most enduring clean energy company for today
and tomorrow.

Mission
To create best value for society, optimized platform for employees and
highest return for shareholders.

About AAG Energy Holdings
Limited

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG Energy” or “the Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a leading international energy
company in the field of Coal Bed Methane (“CBM”) exploration and
production in China. It is committed to developing and optimizing the value
of unconventional gas resources to supply clean energy to support the
economic development in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). AAG
Energy’s key operating assets, Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, are
located in the southwestern part of Qinshui Basin in Shanxi Province,
boasting the largest proved CBM geological reserves among basins in the
PRC. AAG Energy’s Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with
China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (‘CUCBM”), is the first
Sino-foreign CBM cooperative project with full-scale commercial
development and production and also the most commercially advanced
Sino-foreign CBM asset in the PRC. In 2020, Panzhuang concession
achieved an annual CBM production of over 1 billion cubic meters in only
63 square kilometers of operating area. The Overall Development Plan
(“ODP”) for the southern area of Mabi concession, which is in partnership
with China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”), was approved by the
National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) of the PRC in
September 2018. The designed annual production capacity for commercial
development is 1 billion cubic meters. After continuous improvement of
resource evaluation methods and engineering technology innovations, the
Group has formulated a complete main engineering technology system.
The Group is accelerating the construction of CBM production capacity
and will further contribute to production in the future. In addition to the
existing Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, the Group is committed to
building its own core competitiveness, continuously exploring and
innovating in-management, technology and business models, and actively
building-an eco-industrial chain for the natUral-gastindustry.. L everaging-its
successful .expenence in the COM Glalization of CBM and high-ealiore”
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2021 Performance Highlights of AAG Energy
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Safety is always our top priority
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ZerO injury and No Lost Time Injury for 7 years and 1 1 7 days
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We delivered strong financial results

RS T 2B TSR AR

Profit for the Year
FENHE

59.84%*4

2020 [ 510.30

2021 [N 515.68

Unit: Million RMB
B BBARK

EBITDA
ST E R AT

55.25% %

2020 [ 995.00

2021 N 1 544.72

Unit: Milion RMB
Bf: BEARY

We always focus on increasing production capacity a
BA—ERORIESERMT

Revenue (government subsidy and VAT refund are included)
WA (BIERA TS ERRR)

55.69% 4

2020 [ 1,278.89
2021 N 1 991.10

Unit: Million RMB
B BBARKE
EPS
B

60.00% 1

2020 [ 0.150

Unit: RMB/share
B ARKT B

GHE

4 Panzhuang Concession & i E#

Gross Production

EES
21.46% 1

2020 [ 967.19
2021 NN 1, 174.77

Unit: MMCM
Bf: ABMITK

4 Mabi Concession % E

Gross Production
WEE

84.22% 1

2020 [ 66.86
2021 I 123.17

Unit: MMCM
Bi ABMITK

Realized Average Selling Price
P B HEER

Gross Sales
RS

21.10%

t

2020 [T 943.16
2021 N 1 142.21

Unit: MMCM
B BB K

Gross Sales
BIHE

76.66% 1

2020 [ 6117
2021 | 108.06

Unit: MMCM
Bf: BEMAK

2021 N 0.240

Realized Average Selling Price™

FHBERHEER

26.76% 1

2020 [ 142
2021 I 50

Unit: RMB/cubic meter
B ARKETT STk

Number of Wells Drilled
EHE

192.31% %

2020 [ 65
2021 [N 20

Unit: Wells
Bf: 0O

Due to the difference in unit of expression and decimal places reserved of data,
there may be slight deviation in the percentage of increase or decrease; the
percentage of increase or decrease is based on the calculation of the minimum
units of expression and decimal places reserved available in the report.
HREBENREEN RRBUENE - ATt @ @R A DA ERE - R
B D LHIARE AR N REEMRRBUBNAEERRE -
Average realized selling price excludes directly attributable excessive costs,
reflecting the realized wellhead price.
FHERHEERTBEEERBNBENRSE - RENZHMERNHOER -

21.01% %

2020 [ 108
2021 NN 67

Unit: RMB/cubic meter
B ARBTT/ YUK
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Chairman’s Statement
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To create best value for soc ty
optimized platform for embyees

and highest return for sharel

olders.
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Mr. Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman
HEEXE

FE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG Energy” or the “"Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

OVERVIEW

2021 is a year of rapid change. Companies have confronted new
challenges brought by global climate change under extreme weather;
the economic turmoil brought by the continuous recurrence of the
pandemic at home and abroad, as well as changes in the China-US trade
policies; and the troubles brought by the accelerated transformation of
the domestic economy. Meanwhile, the transition period between new
energy and traditional energy has brought unprecedented opportunities
and challenges to the natural gas market and the Group in the process
of achieving the “dual-carbon” national goal. In 2021, under the strong
leadership of the Board, the Group advanced head-on under the
complex external environment, strengthened its response and safety
management under extreme weather, strictly implemented the
normalized pandemic prevention and control measures, and seized the
opportunities of the industry cycle under the guidance of scientific and
technological innovation. The construction of the industrial ecological
chain began to take shape, achieving the dual-growth model of
simultaneous improvement of input and efficiency of enterprise resource
elements. Financial performance of the Group in 2021 was as follows:
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

OVERVIEW (Continued)

Gross production in 2021 increased by 25.52% to 1,298 million cubic
meters ("MMCM") (or 45.8 billion cubic feet (“becf”)) as compared to that
of 2020, and sales utilization rate remained relatively high. The annual
production-to-sales ratio of Panzhuang concession was 97.23%, while
that of Mabi concession was 87.73%. The Group's revenue and other
income for the year (including government subsidies and VAT refunds)
was RMB1.991 billion, representing an increase of 55.69% compared to
the same period last year, mainly due to the increase in both the sales
volume and market price of natural gas. In terms of pricing, with a
realized average selling price (“ASP”) in Panzhuang concession of
RMB1.80 per cubic meter in 2021, representing an increase of 26.76% as
compared to that of RMB1.42 per cubic meter in 2020; the realized ASP
in Mabi concession for 2021 increased by 21.01% to RMB1.67 per cubic
meter compared to RMB1.38 per cubic meter for 2020. In 2021, the
Group realized operating profit of RMB1.148 billion, profit for the year of
RMB816 million, EBITDA of RMB1.545 billion and earnings per share of
RMBO0.24.

The Group has continued to achieve excellent performance and results
in the small, medium and micro technological innovation, and has
continuously promoted the growth of the output of the existing
concessions and the improvement of investment efficiency. The
Company will further improve the construction of various strategic
pivot points of the industrial chain, bringing continuous optimization of
customer structure to the Company, and ensure the full production
and sales of upstream products to the maximum extent. At the same
time, the Group has gradually incorporated multiple social
responsibilities into its corporate goals and production functions. We
will actively plot for the strategic planning of digital transformation,
and take a solid step towards the digital transformation and intelligent
development of the corporation. The leadership evaluation of middle
and senior management personnel and the formulation of personal
development plan will comprehensively improve the management
skills of middle and senior management personnel, and ensure that
there are talents for the future development of the Company. Through
various management upgrades, the Group has laid a solid foundation
for AAG Energy to complete the transformation and upgrades as well
as its sustainable development.

MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW:

— Health, Safety and Environment ("HSE"): Key Performance
Indicators (KPls) kept “Three-Zero" record, and Five-Year
Strategic Plan for Sustainable Development is formulated
and implemented

AAG Energy attaches great importance to HSE work and its obligation
to fulfill social responsibility. Through the update of advanced safety
production management system, the Group strengthens its safety
education and training, contractor management, ecological
environment management and safety culture origination, persistently
strengthening the HSE awareness of its employees and enhancing HSE
performance. In 2021, AAG Energy has maintained zero for lost time
injury rate ("LTIR"), total recordable incident rate (“TRIR"”) and
pollution incident in respect of its HSE performance.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW: (Continued)

— Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE"): Key Performance
Indicators (KPls) kept “Three-Zero" record, and Five-Year
Strategic Plan for Sustainable Development is formulated
and implemented (Continued)

The Group always adheres to the core value of sustainable
development. In 2021, the Company further improved the sustainable
development governance system, optimized the sustainable
development governance structure, stimulated the systematic
management of ESG information, incorporated ESG management into
the Company’s business operations, promoted the implementation of
the Five-Year Strategic Plan for Sustainable Development, and formed
the initial settings of KPIs related to ESG environmental objectives. The
Group adhered to the concept of green and sustainable development
to promote corporate transformation and upgrading.

— Panzhuang Concession: Consolidate Geological Research
and Actively Promote the Preparation for Large-Scale
Development of Thin Coal Seams

In 2021, the gross production of Panzhuang concession reached 1,175
MMCM (41.5 bcf), exceeding the original target of 1,080 MMCM (38.1
bcf), representing a year-on-year increase of 21.46%. A total of 62 wells
were drilled in 2021, including 1 thin seam parameter well. The
Panzhuang concession has basically identified the geological resource
characteristics of thin coal seams, verified the adaptability of drilling,
fracturing and pumping technologies of thin coal seams, and provided
support for the development of thin coal seams at the Panzhuang
concession.

— Mabi Concession: Continue to Optimize Technology
Development Programs, With Record-High Annual Drilling
and Annual Yield

Mabi concession continued to improve resource evaluation methods,
continuously promoted engineering technology innovation. While
promoting the effective development and utilization of the southern
area of Mabi concession, it also preliminarily verified the development
potential of the northern area of the Mabi concession, laying a
foundation for the preparation of the overall development plan and
the effective development of resources in the northern area of Mabi
concession. In 2021, the total production volume of Mabi concession
reached 123 MMCM (4.3 bcf), exceeding the original target of 120
MMCM (4.2 bcf), representing a year-on-year increase of 84.22%. A
total of 190 wells were drilled in 2021, representing an increase of
192.31% as compared to 2020, a record-high for the Mabi concession.
During the year, the development practice once again proved that the
sweet spot in Mabi concession was accurately identified, the
engineering process was highly adaptable, the technical indicators
were well accomplished and the production results met expectations.
The new wells drilled in 2021 will make good contribution to
production in 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

MAJOR RESULTS REVIEW: (Continued)

— Corporate Management: Leverage on Technological
Innovation and Industrial Ecological Chain to Further
Enterprise Transformation and Upgrading

In 2021, the Group insisted on leveraging the technological innovation,
continued to carry out research on industrial technological innovation,
dynamically adjusted and optimised exploration and development
plans. The Group completed the research on excellent and fast drilling
technology for long extended horizontal wells, research and testing of
large-scale fracturing technology, research on development potential
of thin coal seams and research on engineering adaptability. Through
the organization of research, field trials and the promotion and
application of the results, the Group has effectively promoted the
quality and efficiency of investment in existing businesses, and has
accumulated replicable core technologies and experience for the
exploration and development of new concessions.

In 2021, AAG Energy preliminarily completed the construction of the
"natural gas industry ecological chain” strategic pivot point. Based on
the characteristics of unconventional natural gas resources in the
upstream, the Group promoted the acquisition of new concessions and
new resources, and inspected and investigated CBM block projects in
Shanxi, Henan, Xinjiang and other regions, laying the foundation for
obtaining high-quality concessions, investment, mergers and
acquisitions, and cooperation. The midstream relied on the key
pipelines leading to Henan, promoted the interconnection of external
pipelines, and ensured the high-quality output of gas volume in
Panzhuang concession and multi-channel output of gas volume in Mabi
concession. The Company built up the capability of direct control over
the production capacity and storage in downstream, and carried out
multi-form and all-round cooperation with enterprises such as city gas
companies and important customers, so as to increase the market
share and control power of the downstream market. The formulation of
the entire industrial ecological chain in upstream, midstream and
downstream has begun to take shape.

Meanwhile, AAG Energy has comprehensively carried out the strategic
work arrangement of green and sustainable development, improved
and disintegrated the Five-Year Strategic Plan for Sustainable
Development into the annual implementation plan, and included
energy conservation, emission reduction and consumption lessening
into the performance assessment indicators, aiming to achieve the goal
of green and long-term development and fulfill the corporate social
responsibility.
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Chairman’s Statement
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PROPOSED DIVIDEND

The Group will consistently implement its dividend policy to share the
outstanding achievements of AAG Energy with all shareholders. In view
of the strong operational and financial performance, the Board
recommended the payment of a dividend of RMB0.0589 per share
(representing approximately HKDO0.0724 per share) for the year ended
31 December 2021. The Company shall utilize its continuous strong
capital position and growing cash flow from operations to pay the
dividend. The Company's persistent strong business outlook will
supports its continuous payment of dividends in the future.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

With the further clarification of China’s carbon neutrality and carbon
peak targets and the arrival of the low-carbon economy era, the
demand for natural gas will continue to grow and the consumption
market has great potential. In 2022, AAG Energy will further
consolidate the foundation of existing business, increase investment
and development efforts in existing concessions, and continue to
improve quality and efficiency through technological and management
innovation. The Group will actively expand new concessions and
incremental businesses, explore the core competitiveness of innovative
technologies, thus achieve sizable clean energy to increase reserves
and production, and assistance the country’s green and low-carbon
industrial transformation.

At the beginning of 2022, based on the development level of the
energy industry and the Group’s own development scale, in order to
better implement the “Four Alterations” core strategy of
"development of full industrial chain, new-and-high technologies,
internationalization and financial development” of natural gas energy,
the Group and Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (#1528 & &R A TR
A BBRAF]) jointly established an energy research company, with a
view to comprehensively improving technological innovation
capabilities to lead the transformation and upgrade of the energy
industry. Focusing on the “four new fields” of new energy, new
technology, new materials and new equipment, the joint venture strives
to become a world-class and domestic leading industry technology
research and development and achievement application team by
striving to increase scientific and technological research, technology
transformation and application promotion, providing the driving force
for the Group's leap-forward development and building its core
competitiveness.

8 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

EZERE

AEEBFESHREEE  HTARESZ
R ERERM S A RE o ZEH 0k SHAYIE & MBS
X EECEAZARMNEE2021F12/831H
HFERESRARE0.0589 T ' HHERFR
HBHE0.0724 70 - ARRIFEBRYNESE N
MRENELHIERIBES R AR
PRB o RAREBASMIFERY - Al ZEAR
NEERREE RIS

EBRARRE

BEE BB A - BOEE B ROVE — SRR
{EHR A 78 B FOORER - RS F SKADAS A 7 1
£ OBEMHENERK - 20224 » EXERM
E—IHEFERBER  MATFERRKRE
FENE - LRI RE R AT - 5
BREEY  BERMRNRRIIEEBET - K
REFTERMZLEF N - BRAB(CBEREE
IR LE - BHBEFSe BRI RER -

2022F Fin - ERRERITRAERKEMALE
BOHMBERAE  SEHERNAIRARE
REEX#EL  SFRXL BRI o/
el 8 Tfe ] b Bils - REBEMNERERK
ARBOER AR A ERILERATELRR » LA
HIZEIRTATAIFTEE ) - Sl BREIRE R EE
THiR e B ERRIEBIELR - M - A
B STRER TR ] - BRMAR K
B IS EMEREES T EA TIENE -
NFATEBR —R - BIARR LT RIS
HEREREN  REEBEUAERRERRS
N BEBROBEFES -



Chairman’s Statement
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK (Continued)

In 2022, the Group will further explore the value of the industrial
ecological chain, develop value-added business and expand its market
share. The Group will continue to pay attention to downstream city gas
projects which enjoy greater growth potential, and enhance the core
competitiveness and risk resistance capacity of the industrial chain by
expanding the depth and breadth of the cooperation model. The
Group will focus on optimizing and upgrading the supply chain
management standards, building a strategic cooperation system with
its suppliers, and demolishing the original single “procurement and
supply” model, so as to enrich the Company's resources from the
supply chain, optimize the business process operation model, and
realize the value transferal and value sharing with suppliers. At the
same time, the Group will gradually establish a low-carbon green
development system applicable to the CBM industry and a systematic
digital system to integrate the advantages of big data based on the
two five-year plans, namely the Five-Year Strategic Plan for Sustainable
Development and the Five-Year Plan for Digital Development, so as to
jointly promote the transformation and upgrading and sustainable
development of the corporation, providing green guarantee for the
national economic development, and create greater values for the
society, employees and shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of AAG Energy, | would like to express my heartfelt
appreciations to the shareholders, business partners and investors for
their years of trust and support. | would also like to express my sincere
gratitude to all of our employees. The Company will continue to make
unremitting efforts in ensuring stable development, bringing a better
return to the shareholders.

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman of the Board
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As climate change becomes increasingly severe, green and low-carbon
development strategies have attracted extensive attention. According
to the “Natural Gas Analysis and Forecast 2021-2024" report issued by
the International Energy Agency, the global natural gas demand will
show an increasing trend in the next few years.

In 2021, under the influence of extreme weather and the international
oil price went out of the trough, the natural gas market showed a
stronger peak season and a less-than-sluggish low season. 2021 is also
the first year for China to widely promote the development of natural
gas under the "14th Five-Year Plan”. With the promotion of the “dual
carbon” goal, natural gas consumption has grown rapidly. The
fundamentals of the development of the domestic natural gas industry
continue to improve with vibrant performance. In 2021, the apparent
consumption of natural gas in China reached 372.6 billion cubic meters,
representing an increase of 12.7% as compared with that of 2020.

By the end of 2020, the Group took the lead in establishing a
development strategy to set up the existing business in the
concessions and increasing development efforts, and made full use of
industrial advantages to achieve excellent performance. In terms of
production, the Group's gross production in 2021 increased by 25.52%
from that of 2020 to 1,298 MMCM (or 45.8 bcf), including 1,175 MMCM
(or 41.5 bef) of production from Panzhuang concession and 123 MMCM
(or 4.3 bcf) of production from Mabi concession.

In terms of investment, the actual capital expenditure in 2021 was
RMB859 million as compared with the annual budget of RMB967
million. Compared to 2020, drilling and fracturing activities in 2021
continued to increase by 62.58% and 25.53% to 252 wells and 147 wells
respectively. At the same time, we continued to focus on reducing
costs and improving profitability. The average drilling cost per well of a
single lateral horizontal well (“SLH") decreased as compared with 2020,
of which the average drilling cost of SLH wells in 3# coal seam was
RMB2.54 million, representing a decrease of 8.63% as compared with
RMB2.78 million in 2020, and the average drilling cost of SLH wells in
154 coal seam was RMB2.7 million, representing a decrease of 5.26%
as compared with RMB2.85 million in 2020. The average drilling cost
per well of a pad drilling well ("PDW") decreased by 10.34% from
RMBO0.87 million in 2020 to RMBO.78 million.

XK EREE
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REFE2RRART KRG 2BRLENBS -

20214 « ZIBIHRAATE - Mz BB HEE
HERA - RARMSLIRTHEEZER - AE=T
KEFTIE © 2021 F 2 B 2 EHEE] U F ]
KARKRERNFAB 2T BE[EHx] BF
D) - RARBERRER - IAXARIT
XEBRMNEATMBEMLY - 7omE 7 2021
FRBERAREBBEESED3 72687 -
FELE 2020 FF 18K 12.7% ©

REFLIT 2 R2020FEELFHTFE
B3 IR NENERERRE - 2o AT
4O ESIUEN - TEEHE  A%H
2021 FE 4 E 2 FE L 2020 F 18 & T 25.52% 3 5|
129818 K (BI458 B R R ) » Eff A
FERREIMES 117583 5K (B14151857
FHRR)MBVEBHES1.23E L5 K (B
A3BITHR) o

EREFE  ALLE2FEEARKI7TIETLH
BEARMTE 221 FEBENEALHAARE
859BIL - 2021 FEHARBERN TR IEEH
2020 F AL #E 4B 5 R 3E K 62.58%  23.53% &
2520 14708 - R - BROFFER IR
FRA - BRFFFE 2R o BEOKFEFH([SLH]) M
14 B8 4B H N8 2020F A BT RN B - Eoep
MEEBSIHAMFHIEFEHFNEABARE
2548 7T 0 2020F M) A R #2788 T T %
8.63% ' 15# B SLHH B F 15 5 H B H ik &
BARME2I0E T » W2020F AR 2855
TL N F#5.26% © s F ([PDW ) 8 F 19 E H i
FERK A8 2020 F 19 A R 87 B 7T T F£10.34%
EARETISETT °

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K 11




Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWEDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In terms of market sales, the Group's realized ASP in 2021 was RMB1.79
per cubic meter, of which realized ASP in Panzhuang concession was
RMB1.80 per cubic meter (an increase of 26.76% from RMB1.42 per
cubic meter in 2020), and realized ASP in Mabi concession was
RMB1.67 per cubic meter (an increase of 21.01% from RMB1.38 per
cubic meter in 2020).

In terms of financial results, the Group's revenue and other income
(including government subsidies and VAT refund) in 2021 increased by
55.69% to RMB1.991 billion as compared to 2020 , operating profit
increased by 58.67% to RMB1.148 billion, profit for the year increased
by 59.84% to RMB816 million, EBITDA increased by 55.25% to
RMB1.545 billion, and earnings per share increased by 60.00% to
RMBO.24.

Key financial indicators for the last 5 years are as follows:

E A E) -6

EMBHEERT 2021 FAEETHEIRMEE
BRAGI T KARE179T » EdEHESR
WFHEREEERATLAKARE1.807T
(2020 F B A K ARE 1420 E
2676%) c BB T ERIEEERAE
SR ANEREE .67 7T (M 2020 F 89 & 32 75 0K
ARE 1,38 TH# K 21.01%) °

EYBEEFTE  ANEBE2021FHKRARE
b U A (B FE BT 7 BE A2 E AR B ) B B
2020 F 12K 7 55.69% = AREE19.91187T » &
EFEIER T 58.67% E ARE11481(8L  F
EHEIEE 75984% % A R#81618 T
EBITDA#E K& 7 5525% = A R ¥ 154518 7T
FRRWEER T 60.00% 2 AR0.24 7T °

BT A RS EIRSIRIAT ¢

As at or for the year ended 31 December

RBEEEFE12A31H

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ltems HH 20214 2020 4F 2019 4F 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARBTT ARETT AREBTT
Current assets MENVEE 3,165,406 2,893,611 2,871,068 2,260,490 2,537,341
Non-current assets EREEE 4,920,536 4,144,770 3,877,092 3,746,617 3,595,348
Total assets BEE 8,085,942 7,038,381 6,748,160 6,007,107 6,132,689
Current liabilities mENAE 989,722 579,450 462,958 306,191 422,062
Non-current liabilities IERBEE 670,670 498,089 441,560 324,063 760,282
Total liabilities BEE 1,660,392 1,077,539 904,518 630,254 1,182,344
Revenue A 1,739,226 1,038,524 1,161,246 978,671 541,598
Other income EH U A 251,875 240,368 346,805 279,169 193,913
Profit before income tax IRl 1,144,322 742,573 940,765 596,260 310,941
Profit for the year FEFE 815,679 510,296 707,368 412,937 183,198
Net cash generated from  &&FB)FTSIR S FEE
operating activities 1,363,449 534,266 948,210 404,933 438,301
Net cash used in KEEYMARE F58
investing activities (1,167,546)  (431,034)  (272,421)  (419,593)  (455,556)
Net cash (used in)/ BB ES (A,
generated from PSR & %5
financing activities (355,833)  (367,656)  (263,492)  (635,140) 26,392

The two major assets operated by two subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Panzhuang concession operated by Sino-American Energy, Inc.
("SAEI") and Mabi concession operated by Asian American Gas, Inc.
(“AAGI"), have made significant progress in achieving certain key
operational targets.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) EKERE @
1. Panzhuang Concession 1. BHER

Our Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with CUCBM, B EPERESERREREDAZD
BE=ENRKERER EHERERE
(TEARBERRB ) HIE - BIREHEEMmH
BERCKEILA) FAENBITOE]R
g B ARREEKERERIER -

continued to be the CBM project with the highest output in
China, and was listed as China’s key CBM project in production
under the “14th Five-Year Plan” for the development and
utilization of CBM (coal mine gas) prepared by the National
Energy Administration (the “NEA") and issued by the NDRC of
the PRC.

Production Update

In 2021, the gross production of Panzhuang concession
reached 1,775MMCM (41.5bcf), which was 8.78% higher
than the original target of 1,080 MMCM (38.1 bcf), with a
21.46% year-on-year ("YoY") increase compared to that of
967 MMCM (34.2 bcf) in 2020. The average daily gas
production was 3.22 MMCM, representing an increase of
21.97% compared to that of 2.64 MMCM in 2020. By the
end of 2021, there were a total of 504 wells in production,
including 158 PDWs, 49 multi-lateral drilling wells (“MLD")
and 297 SLHs in Panzhuang concession. Further details on
production and well count are set out below in Table 1.

Geological Research

The Company is committed to the geological research of
CBM reservoir, and has basically identified the
characteristics and minability of geological resources of
CBM in thin coal seams, and verified the adaptability of
drilling, fracturing and pumping technologies for CBM
development in thin coal seams. The gas production
performance of the 13 tested wells was satisfactory, of
which 9 wells have achieved high production and stable
production, with an average daily gas production per well
of 6000-7000 cubic meters, and the stable daily gas
production of 4 wells exceeds 10,000 cubic meters, and the
daily gas production of the highest production well reaches
15,000 cubic meters, which has reached the average
production level of a SLH in the major coal seam. In the
future, we will accelerate the exploration progress and
development scale of CBM in thin coal seams.

EEER

M FEHEBERNBESEYT
11758 3 75 K(BIM58 L 7 &
R &R E10.81&37 77 K (BN 381
B AFER)MEIZHBEST78%
[E Lt 2020 5 9.67 & 32 77 2K (BN 342
BYFHER)BET 21.46% ° F15
HEREE3I2L2E T K 82020
FYHHERB 24BN KIER
2197% ° B EZ2021F K @ EH®
MEBEESEHS04D - R
158 O PDW * 49 A% 9 /K F 4
(TMLD ) #1297 O SLH » B % &
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']o

HhE R
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7 BEEAEREEEEE RN
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Eifre@EEt- oM 1305
RHAEREARY  HF9OHE
BERSE BE FHEHBER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Panzhuang concession (Continued)

1.

14

Drilling and Surface Facilities Update

In 2021, a total of 62 wells were drilled in Panzhuang
concession (including 21 SLHs and 41 PDWs). The average
drilling time of SLHs was only 15.97 days. At the same time
of completing the thin coal seam test well, the construction
of thin coal seam parameter well was initiated, which
provided a basis for accelerating the preparation of the thin
coal seam development plan and laid a solid foundation for
the subsequent replacement and improvement of
production.

Currently, the surface facilities of our Panzhuang concession
include 6 gas gathering stations, 58 wellhead compressors,
68 kilometers of trunk lines and 135 kilometers of inter-well
pipelines. The central gas gathering station has a secondary
processing capacity of 1.20 MMCM per day, and
compressors at remaining stations and wellheads have a
processing capacity of 4.56 MMCM per day. The double-
circuit 35kV and other power lines meet the electricity
demand of Panzhuang concession, and provide a favorable
guarantee for improving the CBM transmission and
distribution capacity of Panzhuang concession to increase
production and sales.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) ESAE]- 6 )

2. Mabi Concession 2. BHER
Our Mabi concession, which is in partnership with CNPC, was KEPAHEENEF N @ - FEHRE
listed as China's key CBM project under construction under the REEBEBHITE « BIRERZHMOEE
"14th Five-Year Plan” for the development and utilization of CBM ROEERE) REFA [+ E] EEF
(coal mine gas) prepared by the NEA and issued by the NDRC, Wy ARREEEBREZIER b2
and was also one of the key CBM construction projects in Shanxi WAL 20N EH B R EEERIER 2 — °

Province in 2021.

Production Update

In 2021, the gross production of Mabi concession was 123
MMCM (4.3 bcf) with an average daily gas production of
0.34 MMCM, representing an increase of 86.10% compared
to that of 0.1827 MMCM in 2020. By the end of 2021, there
were a total of 327 wells in production, including 272 PDWs,
1 MLD and 54 SLHs in Mabi concession. Further details on
production and well count are set out below in Table 1.

In 2021, a total of 190 wells were drilled (including 89 SLHs
and 101 PDWs) in Mabi concession, representing an
increase of 192% as compared to 2020. The drilling
investment in Mabi concession reached a new high. With
the maturity and stability of the two-section well type and
nearbore directional technology, the average drilling time
of SLH was only 14 days, and the length of the single
horizontal section increased by 140 meters on average
compared with 2020, representing an increase of 15%,
which greatly improved the development economy.

In 2021, Mabi completed a total of 108 wells and a total of
725 stages of fracturing, representing an increase of 33%
and 68%, respectively. The maturity of the fracturing
process, selection of fracturing tools, and innovative and
efficient management of common tubing with bottom
sealing, drag and fracturing greatly improved the fracturing
quality and reduced the fracturing cost. In 2021, the single-
stage fracturing cost of SLH well decreased by 10% year-
on-year. At the same time, the test of ultra-low-density
ceramic proppant showed obvious production
enhancement effect.

190 wells drilled in 2021 will commence production in 2022.

— 4LEER

02 FHMERRNBEES B 1.2318
KB4 B A HER) - Ty
AERE348 3 7K 820205F
THHERE182/IB T KER
86.10% - H E2021F K- F M=
WMEBEEHNIAO EF 8
2720 PDW 1 AMLD 540
SLH - EZMESE R RF L
FIEEF A TAIRT -

2021 F 5 4 @ s L R AR B |
190 0 (EAh & 389 O SLHAI101 O
PDW) * 82020 F#HEE T 1=
R T192% - BAIE IR REHF
WEHE - HEE —FH R AT ETE
BRI R K ABE - SLHHF
HEHFSEEARI14K  BHKF
ER R EE 2020 F 3938 hn 140K -
HET15%  NiRiRsMRBEE -

2021 4F 5 w4 @ 3R H5ERK 108 B 4 -
HET725 M EZ T - 48H 2020
¢“ﬂﬁ§73% 68% ° & i

EEHBEEITHENK - BE
%Iﬁ%ﬂ BlETEMER - 12
BTBRREE  BIETEBRMA
E 2021 FSIHFA ERERE A
L N 10% ¢ [FBF B K 25 P L
TEAHBRRRDBEENIEER
%o

2021 FE 2 H 190 O FF -+ #57 2022
FERES -

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K 15




Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED N

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Mabi Concession (Continued)

2.

16

Implementation Progress of the ODP of the Southern
Area of Mabi Concession

Through continuous improvement of resource evaluation
methods and continuous innovation of engineering process
technology, under the high-level organization and
leadership, efficient investment control and high-standard
quality requirements,
geological and engineering technology adapted to the
characteristics of Mabi Concession, and the southern area

the Company has mastered the

of Mabi Concession will be effectively developed and
utilized.

In 2021, the Company accelerated the construction of the
No. 2 gas gathering station and regional facilities,
completed a total of 11.9 kilometers of outbound pipelines,
24 kilometers of inter-well pipelines, and 43% of the main
construction of the 35 kilovolt single tower double circuit
and substation, which will effectively guarantee the increase
of production after completion.

Geology Research Progress of the Northern Area of Mabi
Concession

Through continuous monitoring of the discharge and
production test of three No. 3 coal SLH wells in the northern
area of the Mabi concession, the three wells are currently in
the stage of stable gas production, with an average daily
gas production per well of 8,300 cubic meters, and the daily
gas production of the highest gas production well reaches
10,000 cubic meters, which preliminarily verified the
development potential of the northern area of Mabi
concession. Through in-depth geological research on the
northern area of Mabi concession, the Company has
selected 64 square kilometers of production areas in the
northern area, and is conducting 3D seismic exploration
and the preparation of the development plan, which will
gradually improve the effective utilization of CBM resources
in the northern area in the future.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) X KO %
2. Mabi Concession (Continued) 2. BXERE)
Table 1 — Operation Update* of Panzhuang (“PZ") and Mabi F1 — BHEHR(BHE]DANELER
(“MB") concessions (TBXHNEEER
2021 2020 % Change
2021 4 2020 F FEFHESL
Gross production (MMCM) BES (BB HK) 1,297.94 1,034.05 25.52%
Total average daily production RITHBPE=S
(MMCMD) (B8N HAREXR) 3.56 2.83 25.80%
Gross production of PZ (MMCM) EH#AEE (A& HK) 1,174.77 967.19 21.46%
PZ MLD & MLD 123.05 156.95 -21.60%
PZ SLH I SLH 865.80 697.81 24.07%
PZ PDW & PDW 185.92 112.43 65.37%
Total producing wells of PZ** S EE B 504 424 18.87%
PZ MLD & MLD 49 49 0.00%
PZ SLH &I SLH 297 255 16.47%
PZ PDW & PDW 158 120 31.67%
PZ wells drilled A E I TR 62 90 -31.11%
PZ wells fracked EH BRI EREHE 39 38 2.63%
Gross production of MB (MMCM) w48 & (BEHXK) 123.17 66.86 84.22%
MB MLD BFWMLD 0.20 0.17 17.65%
MB SLH B SLH 60.68 17.40 248.74%
MB PDW 5w, PDW 62.29 49.29 26.37%
Total producing wells of Mabi** 55 A48 4 = H 8> 327 220 48.64%
MB MLD FWMLD 1 1 0.00%
MB SLH B SLH 54 25 116.00%
MB PDW B PDW 272 194 40.21%
MB wells drilled B EF T 190 65 192.31%
MB wells fracked 5 WA ER S 38 B 45 e 20 108 81 33.33%
Notes: BiE
* Operations update as of 31 December 2021, 08: 00 CST. * BEERBABE2021F12A3181E - 08 :

00 RIZERE

= FESE AR BEAE

*x Well count is calculated from pumping start date.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
3. Reserve Upgrade

Based on reports issued by Netherland Sewell & Associates Inc.
("NSAI"), an independent reserve certification company, the
Group's 1P and 2P natural gas reserves as at the end of 2021
("2021YE") were 152.0 bcf and 635.1 bcf respectively,
representing a 16% decrease from the 1P reserve of 179.9 bcf as
at the end of 2020 (“2020YE") and a 1% decrease from the 2P
reserve of 640.6 bcf as at 2020YE. After deducting net gas
production of 35.0 bcf for 2021, the 1P and 2P reserves increased

by 5% and 5% respectively.

The 1P reserve and 2P reserve of Panzhuang concession were
114.7 bcf and 148.1 bef as at 2021YE, representing a decrease of
24% and 17% respectively from the 1P reserve of 150.2 bcf and
the 2P reserve of 179.4 bcf as at 2020YE. After deducting net gas
production of 31.9 bcf for 2021, 1P reserves decreased by 3% and
2P reserves increased by 0.4%. The 1P reserve decreased after
deducting the 2021 net gas production due to the delay in the
commencement of production of some of the completed wells in
2020 to 2021. 2P reserves increased slightly due to the increase in
the number of thin coal seam planned wells in the future. The
increased 2P reserves will also continue to contribute to the

continued high production of Panzhuang concession.

The 1P reserve and 2P reserve in Mabi concession were 37.3 bcf
and 487.0 bcf as at 2021YE, representing an increase of 26% and
an increase of 6% respectively from the 1P reserve of 29.7 bcf and
the 2P reserve of 461.2 bcf as at 2020YE. After deducting net gas
production of 3.1 bcf for 2021, the 1P reserve increased by 40%
and the 2P reserve increased by 6%. Due to the acceleration of
drilling operations and the commissioning of new wells in Mabi
concession in 2021, the production capacity contribution from
new wells has increased, resulting in a significant increase in 1P
reserves. The Group's pilot test in the northern area of Mabi
concession achieved good gas production results, strengthened
well position deployment in the area, and optimized long-range

plan (“"LRP"), resulting in an increase in estimated 2P reserves.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) E3 AE1 R

3. Reserve Upgrade (Continued) 3. REAHKE
Table 2 — Reserve Data * * R2— REHE
Reserve Data** 2021 Gross 2021 Net* 2020 Net*
HREHE 2021 FHE 2021 FFE* 2020 FFE*
(bef) (bef) (bef)
+EIFHR  HEISER  HEYFER
Total At
Proved (1P) FERE(IP) 194.6 152 179.9
Proved + probable (2P) FE+HE 1“%5 2P) 897.1 635.1 640.6
Proved + probable + possible (3P) BE+IE+ JEEHEE(3P) 1,250.8 876.2 860.4
Panzhuang concession BRER
Proved (1P) EERZ(IP) 147.9 114.7 150.2
Proved + probable (2P) BE+HE F’EE(ZP) 191.6 148.1 179.4
Proved + probable + possible (3P) BE+IHE+JEHEE(3P) 278.4 213.2 2247
Mabi concession BEVER
Proved (1P) BEMEOP 46.7 37.3 29.7
Proved + probable (2P) BE+BEFEE(2P) 705.5 487 461.2
Proved + probable + possible (3P) BE+IHE+1JEEFEE(3P) 972.4 663 635.7

Notes: BT

* Net gas reserves are the Company’s share of the gas reserves according to ~ * FREABRBERD KA RIETALTIEAREDN
the terms of each production sharing contract and after adjustment for fuel KATIKAREE -
and shrinkage.

*x Our reserve estimates and future net income have been prepared by NSAl in *x BRI E et R ARMF WS Ty NSAIREAH T
accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and valuation EHERANAENAARFEEHERETEE
principles for oil and gas reserve estimates and audits issued by the Society RAMARTRERGHEAERIGEE - B1E2018F A0
for Petroleum Engineering. According to the definitions and guidelines of ﬁ,}?ﬁii? HZEHRERERRSH A M IEMPE
the 2018 PRMS (the Petroleum Resource Management System published by ([SPE]) - t R A MmIEEE ([WPC)) » =B A Hit
the Society of Petroleum Engineers (“SPE"), the World Petroleum Council HEXRHpE([AAPG])) - A M T REMp e
("WPC"), the American Association of Petroleum Geologists (“"AAPG"), the ([SPEE]) « #h X IB#E W< ([SEG)) « AHYiE
Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (“SPEE"), the Society of B MBIFH A S ([SPWLAL) EEUMN b E 2R
Exploration Geophysicists (“SEG"), the Society of Petrophysicists and Well MT A E ([EAGE]) R 2018 6 6 A %M ) EE
Log Analysts ("SPWLA") and the European Association of Geoscientists and 153 - NSAIERA TEEET R M IR 25 RE I
Engineers ("EAGE") in June 2018), NSAI has adopted standard engineering HEEMTE  H (£E)BEE  AREMERZE
and geosciences methods or a combination of both, where analytical EAMBEEBRADE REMMIERERSRAM
methods such as (production) dynamic methods, volumetric methods and MBRTE - RPNESEBGHE » TMeEAREESS
simulation methods are considered to be necessary for the classification, o
classification and estimation of reserves. Our reserves are estimates only and
should not be construed as exact quantities.
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MARKET OPERATION REVIEW

In 2021, the domestic epidemic stabilised. The establishment of the
national “dual carbon” goal further promoted the rapid growth of
demand in the natural gas market. The growth rate of domestic natural
gas production was lower than expected, and the import volume
increased significantly. Driven by the continuous rebound of
international oil prices and the gradual strengthening of supply and
demand fundamentals, the natural gas market experienced a sluggish
low season and a more prosperous peak season.

Looking back on the domestic natural gas market, the market-oriented
trading system was established in an orderly manner. Driven by the
service system of China Pipeline Network Corporation’s shipper service
system, the market supply has gradually diversified, the upstream
resources are supplied through multiple channels, the midstream
resources are efficiently collected and transported through “one
network”, and the downstream market system of “X + 1 + X" with
benign competition is further improved. In 2021, the Group focused on
more in-depth industry and market research to improve market
sensitivity, seize the industry cycle dividends, deploy and build the
industrial ecological chain, continuously optimize the customer
structure, enhance the ability to resist risks, and achieve the increase in
both product volume and price. The specific performance is as follows:

In 2021, the annual gross sales volume of Panzhuang concession
reached 1,142 MMCM (40.4 bcf), representing a year-on-year increase
of 21.10%, of which 314 MMCM (11.1 bcf) for LNG customers, 818
MMCM (28.9 bcf) for piped gas customers and 10 MMCM (0.4 bcf) for
CNG customers. The annual realized ASP of Panzhuang concession
was RMB1.80 per cubic meter, representing a year-on-year increase of
26.76%, and the annual production-to-sale ratio of Panzhuang
concession was 97.23%.

In 2021, the annual gross sales volume of Mabi concession reached 108
MMCM (3.8 bcf), representing a year-on-year increase of 76.66%, of
which 105 MMCM (3.7 bcf) of piped gas customers and 3 MMCM (0.1
bcf) of CNG customers. The annual average realized sales price of
Mabi concession was RMB1.67 per cubic meter, representing a year-
on-year increase of 21.01%, and the annual production-to-sale ratio of
Mabi concession was 87.73%.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

1.

Strictly carry out normalized prevention and control
and comprehensively expand the scope of epidemic
prevention and control

The overall situation of the pandemic in China has generally
stabilized, but there is a situation of high local concentration and
spread across the country. Although the epidemic has entered
the stage of normalized prevention and control, the situation of
epidemic prevention and control is still severe. The Company
adhered to and implemented the prevention and control
requirements of local governments at all levels and industry
management departments, adopted strong measures, and
continued to achieve the "three zero” epidemic prevention
results of “zero confirmed case, zero suspected case and zero
infection”. On this basis, the Company comprehensively
expanded the scope of epidemic prevention and control. In
terms of supply chain, the Company strictly controlled suppliers
to ensure the safety of material supply in the epidemic time; In
terms of market operation, the Company will improve its
sensitivity to market changes, make plans in advance, avoid the
recurrence of production fluctuations due to the impact of the
pandemic, comprehensively ensure the Company's safe
production, and achieve a new record high in the Company's
performance.

Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE"’)

The Group placed great value on HSE and made efforts on
assuming its social responsibilities. 2021 is a year of rapid
development for the Company’s business. HSE work is full of
challenges. By updating the safety production standardization
system, and strengthening safety education and training,
contractor management, ecological and environmental
management and safety culture construction, the Group
continues to strengthen the HSE awareness of employees. In
2021, the Group continued to maintain zero lost time injury rate
("LTIR"), zero total recordable incident rate (“TRIR"”) and zero
environmental pollution incident rate in respect of the HSE
performance. As of 31 December 2021, the Group has achieved
extraordinary results of a total of 7 years and 117 days without
lost time injury.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

3.

22

Quality and Efficiency Improvement Through
Technological Innovation

The Group is committed to improving quality and efficiency
through technological innovation. In Panzhuang concession,
combined with the actual production situation, the negative
pressure extraction technology was adopted for the production
wells that have a greater impact on the coal mine area, which
accelerated the extraction of CBM and improved the recovery
rate of CBM. The daily production volume of the three tested
wells was 0.002-0.004 MMCM, and the efficiency was obvious. In
Mabi concession, a number of small and micro technology
innovations in the selection of deep well drainage equipment
and the optimization of pipe column structure have been formed,
extending the inspection and pump cycle. For deep well
drainage, the three stages of “drainage and pressure reduction”,
"gas exploration and production improvement” and
"quantitative and stable production” have been summarized and
the relevant factors of geological conditions have been
strengthened, providing strong support for the current stable
production and subsequent evaluation.

Focus on Improving Internal Management

The Group insists that talents are the primary resources and
attaches great importance to the cultivation and development of
talents. In 2021, the Group conducted a systematic review of
middle and senior management team and formulated a team and
personal development implementation plan, so as to cultivate
and improve the professional skills and management skills of
middle and senior management of the Company in a more
targeted manner, providing an effective guarantee for the future
development of the Company. In addition to talent development
factors, the digital economy is leading the upgrading and
transformation of traditional industries. In 2021, the Group
organized and implemented digital research and compiled the
"Five-Year Plan for Digital Development”, which laid a good
foundation for the Company’s digital transformation and will also
become a strong cornerstone for the Group's industrial
development.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

5.

Five-Year Strategic Plan for Sustainable Development
The Group always adheres to the core value of sustainable
development and actively improves the sustainable development
management system. The Group has established an ESG
organizational structure with the Board as the highest decision-
making level, the ESG working group as the main body of
responsibility, and the ESG executive management group and its
subordinate divisions as the main body of execution. In 2021,
under the leadership of the ESG working group of the Board, the
Company sorted out and analyzed the ESG management status,
and further improved the Company'’s sustainable development
governance system, optimized the sustainable development
governance structure, refined and implemented the sustainable
development function and division of labor, promoted the
systematic management of ESG information at the same time,
collected ESG information on a quarterly basis for business
operation, conducted daily management of potential ESG risks,
incorporated ESG management into the Company’s business
operation, promoted the implementation of the Five-Year
Strategic Plan for Sustainable Development, and initially formed
the key performance indicators of ESG environmental objectives.
The Company will lay a solid foundation for ESG management to
meet higher compliance requirements and capital market
requirements and to make greater contributions to environmental
protection.

Strengthening Integrated Construction and Building an
Ecological Chain of Natural Gas Industry

Through the integrated construction of upstream, midstream and
downstream, AAG Energy has initially formed an upstream
natural gas industry ecological chain with advanced technology
as the core element, strengthened the investment management
and control upgrading of the existing Panzhuang and Mabi
concessions, actively explored the acquisition of new concessions
and new resources, guaranteed market access through the
midstream transmission and distribution pipelines, and
strengthened the development of market customers
downstream, continuously consolidated the Group’s core
competitiveness, and strengthened the ability to respond to
market and resist risks.

AAG Energy continues to explore and innovate in management,
technology and business models, and promotes innovation and
maximization of synergistic benefits from the perspective of
natural gas industry ecological chain, aiming to achieve
continuous acquisition and development of upstream resources,
stabilize midstream output, and expansion of downstream
market, so as to build the core competitiveness of the Group and
build an ecological chain of natural gas industry.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
— Panzhuang
— Mabi
— Headquarters and others

Subsidy income
— Panzhuang
— Mabi

VAT refund
— Panzhuang
— Mabi

Other gains, net

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Exploration expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets
Others

Panzhuang
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets
Others

Mabi
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Exploration expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Net impairment losses on financial assets

Others
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1,038,524

973,540
64,984

155,025
156,043
(1,018)

85,343
79,463
5,880

2,095

(557,358)
(271,368)
(73,372)
(190,831)
(7,600)
(14,187)

(39,009)

(2,260)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) MO ()

Headquarters and others HES R A A (19,018)
Depreciation and amortization e R (4,92¢6)
Employee benefit expenses EERMAX (4,244)
Materials, services and logistics ME - R RDIR ©9.179)
Net impairment losses on financial assets SRIEERBEFELX -
Others HAtb (669)

EBITDA EBITDA 994,997
— Panzhuang — & 993,353
— Mabi — B 14,159
— Headquarters and others — AR R HAh (12,515)

Profit from operations KERHE 723,629

Finance income ey aligas 33,237

Finance costs W52 A (4,834)

Exchange losses (FRIR=ES (9.459)

Finance income, net B e — B 18,944

Share of net loss of associates accounted  FE{GIREREARNBE QT
for using the equity method REEE -

Profit before income tax CIRETY-TE b 742,573

Income tax expense Frisii & A (232,277)

Profit for the year FEERHE 510,296
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Production, sales, realized ASP and revenue are set out below:

Gross production volume (bcf)'
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross production volume (MMCM)'
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross sales volume (bcf)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross sales volume (MMCM)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Net sales volume (bcf)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Net sales volume (MMCM)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Realized ASP (RMB per cubic meter)*
Panzhuang
Mabi

Revenue (RMB'000)
Panzhuang
Mabi

B # E1EE ()
EE - HE - FHERSEEESRKASIM
—|T :

REE(HEZHTRR)!
A

mEE(BEELTAK)
A

#IHE (THEL T RR)?
B

HIHE (BB TTK)?
A

FHE (TR HRR)?
A

FIHE(BELTTK)®
A

THERHEER (AREIT/LTAK)
A

WA ARETT)
A
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36.52
34.16
2.36

1,034.05
967.19
66.86

35.47
33.31
2.16

1,004.33
943.16
61.17

25.25
23.89
1.36

714.95
676.47
38.48

1.42
1.42
1.38

1,038,524
973,540
64,984
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Notes:
1. Gross production volume is the total amount of CBM produced.
2. Gross sales volume is gross production volume less utilization loss.

3. Net sales volume is the portion of gross sales volume allocated to us under the
production sharing contract, after the deduction of amount sold to pay applicable VAT
and local taxes.

4. Realized ASP excludes the directly attributable pass through cost, thus reflecting the
realized wellhead price.

Revenue. Our revenue increased by RMB701 million or 67.47% from
RMB1.038 billion in 2020 to RMB1.739 billion in 2021. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in realized ASP and net sales volume as a
result of the increase in production volume in Panzhuang and Mabi
concessions, as well as the increase in revenue due to the new energy
trading and LNG processing and sales businesses. The gross
production volume of Panzhuang concession increased by 21.46% from
967 MMCM in 2020 to 1,175 MMCM in 2021; realized ASP increased
from RMB1.42 per cubic meter in 2020 to RMB1.80 per cubic meter in
2021. The gross production volume of Mabi concession increased by
84.22% from 67 MMCM in 2020 to 123 MMCM in 2021; realized ASP
increased from RMB1.38 per cubic meter in 2020 to RMB1.67 per cubic
meter in 2021.

Subsidy income. Our subsidy income decreased from RMB155 million
in 2020 to RMB112 million in 2021, representing a decrease of RMB43
million or 27.99%, mainly due to the lower criteria set by the subsidizing
authorities.

VAT refund. Our VAT refund increased by RMB55 million or 64.33%
from RMBB85 million in 2020 to RMB140 million in 2021, mainly due to
the increase in realized ASP and net sales volume of Panzhuang and
Mabi concessions.

Other gains, net. Our other gains increased by RMB15.93 million or
760.24% from RMB2.09 million in 2020 to RMB18.02 million in 2021,
primarily due to the investment income arising from disposal of
financial assets.
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Operating expenses. Our operating expenses increased by RMB304 4% &

Fi5z - HPIME LR A2020F AR

million or 54.47% from RMB557 million in 2020 to RMB861 miillion in #5578 01 0 7 A R ¥ 3.0418 70 5k 54.47%
2021, primarily due to the increase in depreciation and amortization as ~ E 2021 EH) A RSB T E2HR4E
a result of the increase in production wells, the increase in materials,  EFFIGINE A ITE LB EIG I - EEFIEMN
services and logistics as a result of the increase in production wells, the  EEH M - IR LRGN - FIEALNG
newly incurred sales costs of LNG, and the newly incurred exploration  $§&RA - A K TG E) BN R S FTEX -

expenses.

J Depreciation and amortisation. Our depreciation and e

amortization increased by RMB125 million or 46.12% from
RMB271 million in 2020 to RMB396 miillion in 2021, mainly due to
the increase in production wells and production volume in
Panzhuang and Mabi concessions.

o Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses o

increased by RMB30 million or 40.25% from RMB73 million in
2020 to RMB103 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase in
wages and bonuses.

o Exploration expenses. Our exploration expenses were RMB50.28 o

million, primarily due to the permanent well closure in Mabi

concession.

° Materials, services and logistics. Our materials, services and e

logistics expenses increased by RMB93 million or 48.64% from
RMB191 million in 2020 to RMB284 million in 2021, primarily due
to the increase in repair, wastewater treatment and other
operating costs as a result of more wells coming into production
and increased production, and the newly increased sales costs of
LNG.

o Net impairment losses on financial assets. Our net impairment e

losses on financial assets were RMB7.60 million and RMB9.76
million in 2020 and 2021 respectively, primarily due to the
expected credit losses on trade receivables and other
receivables.

o Others. Our other expenses were RMB14.19 million and e

RMB17.82 million in 2020 and 2021 respectively.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

EBITDA. Our EBITDA increased by RMB550 million or 55.25% from
RMB995 million in 2020 to RMB1.545 billion in 2021. The increase was
primarily due to the increase in realized ASP and the increase in net
sales volume as a result of the increase in production volume in
Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, but partially offset by the decrease
in subsidy income, the increase in materials, services and logistics, the
newly incurred sales costs of LNG and the newly incurred exploration
expenses. In conclusion, higher production and realized ASP have led
to an increase in EBITDA, the magnitude of which was smaller than the
increase in revenue. The EBITDA for 2020 amounted to RMB995
million, including non-operation related business development and
legal consulting service expenses of RMB1.07 million. The EBITDA for
2021 amounted to RMB1.545 billion, including non-operating related
business development and legal consulting service expenses of
RMB7.00 million. The EBITDA of Panzhuang concession increased by
RMB484 million or 48.73% from RMB993 million in 2020 to RMB1.477
billion in 2021. The increase in EBITDA of Panzhuang concession in
2021 was mainly due to the increase in production volume and realized
ASP, but partially offset by the decrease in subsidy income and the
increase in materials, services and logistics. The EBITDA of Mabi
concession increased by RMB59.38 million or 419.37% from RMB14.16
million in 2020 to RMB73.54 million in 2021. The increase in EBITDA of
Mabi concession in 2021 was primarily due to the increase in
production and realized ASP, but partially offset by the newly incurred
exploration expenses.

Profit from operations. As a result of the foregoing, our profit from
operations increased by RMB424 million or 58.67% from RMB724
million in 2020 to RMB1.148 billion in 2021.

Finance income. Our finance income decreased by RMB8.72 million or
26.22% from RMB33.24 million in 2020 to RMB24.52 million in 2021,
primarily due to the decrease in cash and bank balances.

Finance costs. Our finance costs were RMB4.83 million and RMB5.75
million in 2020 and 2021, respectively.
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Exchange losses. Our exchange losses decreased from RMB9.46
million in 2020 to RMB8.60 million in 2021, primarily due to the foreign
exchange gains of monetary items in foreign currency arising from the
exchange rate fluctuations for foreign currency against RMB.

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using the equity method.
Our share of net loss of associates accounted for using the equity
method was RMB14.05 million in 2021.

Profit before income tax. Our profit before income tax increased by
RMB401 million, or 54.10%, from RMB743 million in 2020 to RMB1.144
billion in 2021, primarily due to the factors affecting EBITDA as
described above, partially offset by the increase in depreciation and
amortization expenses, the decrease in finance income, the increase in
finance costs, exchange losses and share of net loss of associates
accounted for using the equity method incurred.

Income tax expense. Our income tax expenses increased by RMB97
million or 41.49% from RMB232 million in 2020 to RMB329 million in
2021, mainly due to the increase in profit before income tax of
Panzhuang concession and the increase in deferred income tax
expenses of Mabi concession in 2021.

Profit for the year. Our profit for the year increased by RMB306 million
or 59.84% from RMB510 million in 2020 to RMB816 million in 2021,
mainly due to the factors affecting profit before income tax stated
above but partially offset by the increase in income tax expense.

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to profit
for the year, which is the most directly comparable financial
performance calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS.
EBITDA refers to earnings before finance income, finance costs,
exchange gains/losses, share of net loss of associates accounted for
using the equity method, income tax and depreciation and
amortization. Adjusted EBITDA refers to EBITDA adjusted to exclude
non-cash expenses, non-recurring items or non-operation-related
expenses to demonstrate EBITDA of the Group's core operations.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe they are
financial measures commonly used in the oil and gas industry. We
believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used as supplemental
financial measures by our management, investors, research analysts,
bankers and others to assess our operating performance, cash flow and
return on capital as compared to those of other companies in our
industry, and our financing ability. However, EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as
alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure of
performance or as indicators of our operating performance or
profitability. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are unable to account for
income tax, share of net loss of associates accounted for using the
equity method, exchange gains/losses, finance income, finance costs
and depreciation and amortization.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA to profit for the year.

EBITDA K L2 EBITDA (&)

A E & AEBITDA K &£ 2 EBITDA * 2 H
REMRABTMEHRTESANMISTE -
MR A EBITDA K 48 A ¥ EBITDA F F P Y
BRE - 1REE  AROWE - RITRREAM
ATRIEEHTT ST E - A AR IFIES RN
NEMARAEERE Benea NEADR
RARBPIAEREREE S - A1 - EBITDA
K 48 S8 EBITDA I A] 4 52 7 18 3 iR 48 & F)
SAMEMRIBAE - F A REBAELEFH
SEMEMRBEFENERIEEL R ARM
A FRIBH A BE I IEIE © EBITDA K48 3
ZEBITDARBEE FT1SH - EILIRERIAAR
MEE ARIIRAEE BRI - B
Wi B BEARITE REBHEMRLEE -

T % 71| 4 [E EBITDA % #% i 22 EBITDA 2 7
T EER -

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31MBLFE

2021 2020

2021 & 2020 F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T

Reconciliation of profit for the year to FERHEEBITDA F ¥ iR
EBITDA:

Profit for the year FEFHE 815,679 510,296
Income tax expense SRy i=E-§z= 328,643 232,277
Share of net loss of associates accounted FE(E R E A BRI & A7)

for using the equity method KEERE 14,052 -
Finance income B (24,522) (33,237)
Finance costs W% 5 A 5,750 4,834
Exchange losses [E 5,18k 8,597 9,459
Depreciation and amortization e R#HE 396,523 271,368

EBITDA EBITDA 1,544,722 994,997

Non-operation-related business SEE BN EBERM
development and legal consulting EREARBERE
service expenses 6,998 1,065
Adjusted EBITDA KT EBITDA 1,551,720 996,062
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

Our EBITDA increased by RMB550 million or 55.25% from RMB995
million in 2020 to RMB1.545 billion in 2021. The increase was primarily
due to the increase in realized ASP and the increase in net sales
volume as a result of the increase in production volume in Panzhuang
and Mabi concessions, but partially offset by the decrease in subsidy
income, the increase in materials, services and logistics, the newly
incurred sales costs of LNG and the newly incurred exploration
expenses. In conclusion, higher production and realized ASP have led
to an increase in EBITDA, the magnitude of which was smaller than the
increase in revenue.

Our adjusted EBITDA increased by RMB556 million or 55.79% from
RMB996 million in 2020 to RMB1.552 billion in 2021. The increase was
due to the aforementioned reasons for the increase in EBITDA coupled
with the increase in non-operation-related business development and
legal consulting service expenses.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group's financial management department is responsible for the
financing and fund management policies related to the overall
operations of the Group. Our investment funds were mainly derived
from cash generated from operating activities.

As at 31 December 2021, we had cash and bank balances of RMB1.887
billion (31 December 2020: RMB1.846 billion).

Save as the information disclosed above or otherwise in this annual
report, the Group had no outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures
or other loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts,
borrowings, liabilities under acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire
purchase and finance lease commitments, or any guarantee or other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued) REBEESRELRER®)
Cash flows RERE
The table below sets forth our cash flow for each of the years indicated:  TR&JNESARFERMHRTRE -

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31MBLLEE

2021 2020

2021 £ 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥ETTT

Net cash generated from operating activities & & /EE)FT15IR & F 58 1,363,449 534,266

Net cash used in investing activities B EE RTINS RRE (1,167,546) (431,034)

Net cash used in financing activities MEEDTAR S F5 (355,833) (367,656)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRReESEBMRIFE (159,930) (264,424)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FRERESZEED 1,790,505 2,083,931

of the year
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents I8¢ NMIR&SEWIE KIBX (3,900) (29,002)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRIEE KIREEEY 1,626,675 1,790,505
Operating activities REEY

Net cash generated from operating activities in 2021 was RMB1.363 720214 - & & EBFE R FERAARE
billion, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB1.144 billion, 13.63187C ' TEEHANRKRAGEHAFEAR
depreciation and amortization of RMB397 million and exploration  ® 1144870 » TE R#EHEARE397EITIA
expenses of RMB50.28 million. These items were offset by income tax N EIEFASZ ARES50288 7T - ZZEBEHKEE
paid of RMB210 million and share of net loss of associates accounted AT AR 210 B C A FE(R IZ i A AR
for using the equity method of RMB14.05 million. BB E NI E BB AR 4058 ST

Net cash generated from operating activities in 2020 was RMB534 20204 » &K & FEAMERFHERARE
million, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB743 million and 5341870 * = E MR RABSHAIFIEARE
depreciation and amortization of RMB271 million. These items were  7.43{ETMITE REHEARKE 27118 - %5
offset by income tax paid of RMB124 million and an increase in trade ~BE BB HRARE 1.24187C - BIIRK
and other receivables of RMB375 million. Ko Eopth E MR IG NN R 8 3. 75 (8 TP 8 -
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities in 2021 was RMB1.168 billion,
mainly comprised of purchases of property, plant and equipment of
RMB699 million, investments in associates of RMB234 million,
purchases of term deposits with maturity over 3 months of RMB200
million. The purchase of property, plant and equipment mainly
comprised of payment for more wells drilled, additional well head
compressors and construction of gas gathering stations and power
facilities.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2020 was RMB431 million, mainly
comprised of purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB504
million, offset by the decrease in term deposits with maturity over 3
months of RMB47.31 million and the interest received of RMB29.27
million. The purchase of property, plant and equipment mainly
comprised of payment for more wells drilled, additional well head
compressors and construction of gas gathering stations and power
facilities.

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities in 2021 was RMB356 million, which
was mainly due to the payment of dividend of RMB351 million for year
ended 31 December 2020 and repayment of lease liabilities of RMB6.19
million.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2020 was RMB368 million, which
was mainly due to the payment of dividend of RMB359 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 and repayment of lease liabilities of
RMB8.9 million.

Cash and bank balances

We had cash and bank balances of RMB1.846 billion and RMB1.887
billion as at 31 December 2020 and 2021, respectively. Our cash and
bank balances consist of cash on hand, cash at banks and restricted
bank deposits. As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, approximately
30.30% and 0.84% of our cash and bank balances were held in Hong
Kong dollars or US dollars, respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The operating activities of the Group expose to a variety of financial
risks: credit risk, market risk (includes foreign exchange risk), liquidity
risk and concentration risk. The overall risk management program of
the Group focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial
performance of the Group.

Credit risk
Credit risk of the Group arises from cash at bank, trade and other
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost.

As the majority of the cash at bank are placed with state-owned and
international banks and financial institutions in the PRC and Hong
Kong, and there has been no recent history of default in relation to
these banks and financial institutions, the corresponding credit risk is
relatively low.

The Group has controls in place to assess the credit quality of its
customers, taking into account of their financial positions, past
experience and other factors. The Group's sales were only made to the
customers with good credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, particularly with respect to US dollar. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognized assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency other
than the entity’s functional currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, we were exposed to non-cash foreign exchange
risks arising from retranslation of inter-company loans denominated in
US dollar. To manage the foreign exchange risk, the management
decided to execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by converting
the inter-company loans into perpetual loans through entering into
perpetual loan agreements between respective group companies such
that the perpetual loans do not bear interest and the lenders cannot
request repayment. Upon completion of this debt restructuring, any
foreign exchange difference arising from the retranslation of these US
dollar denominated perpetual loans was recognized in equity in the
consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring
the movement of the foreign exchange rates and companies’ internal
accounts denominated in US dollar.

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
against US dollar, with all other variables being held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have been RMB1,187,000 (31
December 2020: RMB1,649,000) higher/lower, respectively, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US$
denominated receivables and payables held by our entities with their
functional currency as RMB.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments for the year ended
31 December 2021.

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
OR ASSOCIATES

The details of acquisition of associates by the Group are disclosed in
note 9 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of
this annual report. Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associates for the year ended
31 December 2021.

IMPACT OF 2021 POLICY

On 3 June 2021, the Shanxi Provincial Government issued the
"Approval Procedure for Coal-Formed Gas Mining Projects in Shanxi
Province” (LI 754 B AX SR B £R 18 B | HLIT 12 )), which requires that,
according to the characteristics of coal-formed gas projects, the coal-
formed gas mining process shall be divided into four stages:
acquisition of mining rights, exploration, development and production,
and relinquishment. Through optimization of the approval procedure,
the approval time frame is considerably shortened, further accelerating
the development progress of CBM exploration and development.

On 24 October 2021, the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China and the State Council issued the “"Opinions on Fully and
Accurately Implementing the New Development Concept to Work on
Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality” (IR TR ER 2 EE G ERE
B2 M iER - IRP A ITIERE R )), which requires arrangement
and deployment for the dual-carbon work at national level, and the
construction of a clean, low-carbon, safe and efficient energy system.
As the most clean and low-carbon fossil energy, natural gas is a key
way to achieve the adjustment of the energy industry structure. As an
upstream CBM exploration and development enterprise, the Group
will benefit from the dual effects of policies and market in the current
and long term in the future, and further increase the release of CBM
production capacity and economic benefits.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2022

Notwithstanding the resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic in some
regions, global economy is anticipated to recover gradually. According
to the forecast in the World Economic Outlook Report published by
the International Monetary Fund (“IMF") in January 2022, global
economy is expected to grow by 4.4% in 2022. With the steady
recovery of the domestic economy and a clear dual carbon goal,
natural gas, as a clean and low-carbon energy, will become the major
growth point of energy structure adjustment and the main force of low-
carbon transformation. China’s natural gas consumption will continue
to experience rapid growth.

The Group will continue to strengthen the investment and
development strategy of the existing CBM concessions, striving to
build an ecological chain of the entire natural gas industry while
strengthening the development of CBM transmission and distribution
capabilities, thus lowering the market risks of the products. Meanwhile,
by leveraging its advantages in CBM exploration and development
technology and industry, the Group intends to further expand its
upstream resources.

Driven by the dual-carbon goals, the Group will continue to strengthen
the ESG management system by further integrating the strategic
objectives of sustainable development into the development planning
system of AAG Energy, setting up strategic objectives with sustainable
development as the core, breaking down the work implementation
plan and promoting the implementation. For investment related to
development and construction in the future, the Group will continue to
focus on scientific and technological innovation by conducting more
research on green technology development, facilitating the process of
green development.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has not been eliminated, and
yet challenges and opportunities coexist in the post-epidemic era. In
2022, the Group will continue to regularly prevent and control the
epidemic, striving to maintain the “three zero” record of “zero
confirmed case, zero suspected case and zero infection”, with a focus
on increasing investment and development of traditional CBM projects
led by technological innovation, strengthening the building of the
ecological chain of the entire natural gas industry, making unremitting
efforts to facilitate cost reduction and higher efficiency for the
Company, hence achieving continuous growth in production and net
profit.

For 2022, we are pleased to present the latest goals as follows:
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2022 (Continued)
Panzhuang Concession

The Group will continue to strengthen investment in Panzhuang
concession in 2022, details are as follows:

o The Group will implement the full year plan upon the related
government approvals on Panzhuang concession, including the
plans of completing pre-drilling construction of 16 well sites, the
drilling work of 61 new wells, the fracturing construction work of
63 new wells, the pumping equipment purchase and
commencing production of 72 new wells, as well as implementing
related ancillary surface facilities engineering.

Among them, the Group plans to complete the drilling work of
39 new wells in thin coal seams, the fracturing construction work
of 50 new wells, the procurement of drainage and production
facilities and the commissioning of 50 new wells.

o With the scheduled project implementation and related
government approvals, the gross production of Panzhuang
concession in 2022 is expected to be 1,188 MMCM (42.0 bcf).

o Due to the frequent coal mining activities in the surrounding coal
mines adjoin Panzhuang concession, the Company will continue
to strengthen communication and cooperation with these coal
mines in 2022, to optimize mutual guarantee agreements and
continue to identify new development opportunities and
cooperation channels.

Mabi Concession
The Group will continue to invest in Mabi concession in 2022, details
are as follows:

o In Mabi concession, the Group will continue to enhance the
investment and construction per the ODP of the southern area of
Mabi concession and optimize the development of the northern
area. In 2022, we plan to implement drilling of 176 CBM wells in
Mabi concession (including 158 wells in the southern area and 18
wells in the northern area), and will also focus on the
development and construction in the area around No. 2 gas
gathering station.

o With the scheduled project implementation and related

government approvals, the gross production of Mabi concession
in 2022 is expected to be 254 MMCM (9.0 bcf).
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2022 (Continued)

Mabi Concession (Continued)

J According to the Measures for the Administration of Exploration
and Exploitation of Coalbed Methane in Shanxi Province (L7
EHEBRYEMREIEINE)) issued by the People’s Government
of Shanxi Province, the exploration license for Mabi concession,
which will be renewed in 2022, will reduce the area of exploration
rights in the unproved reserves area by 25%. The reduced area is
a resource-weak area. The reduction will not have any impact on
the Group’s reserves. The Group will continue to update the
progress of mining rights.

According to the development plan of Panzhuang concession and
Mabi concession mentioned above, the Group estimates to incur
capital expenditures of approximately RMB1.578 billion in 2022, which
will be financed by its own cash flow. The Group will assess the capital
investment plan for 2022 from time to time, and will make necessary
disclosure in the interim results for 2022 for any change.

The Group is highly confident in focusing on and dealing with
uncertainties, as well as sustainably committed to cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement to deliver promising operating results.
Meanwhile, we will continue to enhance technological innovation,
thereby laying a solid foundation for the stable production and
development of Panzhuang concession and the large-scale
development of Mabi concession. Besides, the Group will base on its
groundbreaking technological advantages to identify new
development opportunities mainly in China’s market as planned and
actively expand new concessions and businesses. The Group firmly
believes that the pursuit of excellence in existing concessions and the
selection of quality new concessions and businesses opportunities will
provide clean energy for more clients and relevant communities and
create higher return for our shareholders.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (BAFE), aged 58, is an executive Director of the
Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ming is primarily responsible for the
Group's overall development and growth strategies, investor and
public relations, board governance and supervision of key
management issues. Mr. Ming was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Mr. Ming has been the chairman of the board of Xinjiang Xintai Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. FTEEERARARKMNH AR A7), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393), since January 2013,
From June 2010 to December 2012, Mr. Ming was a director of Xinjiang
Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Xinjiang Xintai
Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (FIB&EFIEE(EE)ER A F]). From
March 1985 to May 1998, Mr. Ming served as the head of the
supervision and audit department, the head of the personnel
department, the chief audit officer and the deputy governor of the
Agricultural Bank of China Limited (Deyang Central District Branch) (2
Bl 22 IR1T(EBB T H IR 17)), and as the director and the secretary of
the Party committee of the credit cooperative union, respectively.

Mr. Ming graduated from the correspondence college of Party College

of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of China ({1 &
M)l L EREIRERT) in 1987, majoring in law.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yan Danhua (B f3%#), aged 54, is an executive Director, the
President, a member of the Strategic Development Committee and a
member of the ESG Working Group of the Company. Mr. Yan is
primarily responsible for the Group’s overall operation management.
Mr. Yan was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 24
August 2018, the President of the Company on 7 September 2018, a
member of the ESG Working Group of the Company on 27 March 2020
and a member of the Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 26 March 2021.

Mr. Yan has more than 10 years of strategic investment and operation
management experience in the energy industry. He was responsible
for managing the energy investment projects of China AVIC Trust Co.,
Ltd. (FHEFERMBERAF) from 2016 to 2018. In 2015, Mr. Yan was
the deputy general manager of Guangzheng Group Co., Ltd. (£ IE&E
&7 BBRAR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002524), and was responsible for the business of natural
gas and new energy development. From 2007 to 2013, he worked as
the office director of balanced scorecard department for Xinjiang
Guanghui Industry Investment Group Co., Ltd. (¥1i2fE[E T ¥ KR4 (£ E)
AR EMA2AA) and as the deputy general manager for Guanghui
Energy Co., Ltd. (EE&ERR D AR F]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600256), respectively. In
Guanghui Energy Co., Ltd., he was responsible for strategic planning,
operation management, natural gas project management and the
development of conventional gas and oil. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Yan
worked as the general manager at the department of fruit business of
Xinjiang Tunhe Co., Ltd. GFTsEH A B BR A A)) (currently known as
Cofco Tunhe Sugar Co., Ltd. (FIEFEAEZER D BRAF]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600737)).

Mr. Yan obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from Shaanxi
Institute of Finance and Economics (BR7EES£EEF7), currently known as
Xi'an Jiao Tong University of China (FEIPEZ 22 A E), in 1990.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (5R#% L), aged 58, is an executive Director, authorized
representative, an executive vice-president, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the ESG Working Group of the Company. Mr.
Zhang is authorized to be responsible for general management of the
Group, primarily responsible for human resources and management of
procurement matters. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on 24 August 2018 and an authorized representative of the
Company on 25 August 2018, respectively. He was appointed as the vice
president of the Company on 7 September 2018 and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 21 March 2019, respectively.
He was redesignated from vice president to executive vice-president on 28
January 2021 and appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of
the Company on 19 August 2021, respectively.

Mr. Zhang has worked in various government departments and
enterprises for over 35 years. Mr. Zhang has management experience
in industrial economy, finance, safety production management and
other aspects. Since April 2015, Mr. Zhang has worked as a director of
the general manager’s office of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd.,
the general manager of Fukang Xintai Gas Co., Ltd. (REETHRMRE
R E LA R]), the head of investment management department and an
assistant to the general manager of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co.,
Ltd., respectively. From 2010 to 2015, Mr. Zhang served as a deputy
director of Deyang Municipal Committee of Economic and Information
Technology (5 M 4{5Z). From 2006 to 2010, he was a director of
Deyang Information & Technology Office ({BfZm1{Z BALIHF A E). From
1999 to 2006, Mr. Zhang worked in Deyang Municipal Government
Office (B METHE) as a deputy chief of the administrative
department and the deputy director of the supervision and inspection
office. From 1990 to 1999, Mr. Zhang served as a deputy chief of the
industrial transport department in Deyang Economic Restructuring
Committee ({BS T BRBHINFEZES).

Mr. Zhang graduated from the correspondence college of Party
College of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of
China (P ££09) 1|4 ZE R K ZPT) in 2000, majoring in law. Mr. Zhang
obtained the Certificate of Secretary from the Shanghai Stock
Exchange in 2018.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Huang Min (E8), aged 58, is a non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang is primarily responsible
for advising on accounting, internal control and financial matters. Mr. Huang
joined the Company and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 27 March 2020. He was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company on 27 August 2020.

Mr. Huang has been focusing on the natural gas sector for over 20
years with extensive experience in the industry. He is currently the
chairman of the supervisory committee of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 603393). Prior to that, he served as an accountant, teller, credit
and subsequently deposits officer and credit card business officer of
the Agricultural Bank of China Limited (Deyang City Jingyang District
Branch) (F B B ZIR/T(BSMIER R 1T)) from December 1979 to
March 2000. He served as a manager in Miquan LPG Co., Ltd., (K&
{ER A 7)) from March 2000 to March 2002, a chief officer of the
Planning and Construction Office of the Urban Natural Gas
Transmission Project in Yangi County from March 2002 to February
2003, and a manager of Business Operations Department in Xinjiang
Xintai Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. from March 2004 to December
2012. He has been the chairman of the supervisory committee of
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. since January 2013.

Mr. Huang graduated from Deyang Municipal College of the
Communist party of China (| #2512 Z1R) in 1987, majoring in law.

=€)

FHITES

BREE 585 ARRIEMITE R NERE
BELE  -JZEETZAEREE - NEPEE
NS E RS - ELER 202093 A 27
BMARRRIREZEAEAARENTES -
MR2020F8 A2/ HEZE AR RAIEZEZE

%8 -

BREAEITAARBEB20F AELEH
TEES BRI ESESI S ETNIES
ZRARBRDBRA B (PRDREE - 603393) &
EEEFE LM 2F - BRI1979F12AE
2000 3 AP R R EBTEEMERE T
@5t EERBRENRSEERNERRE
7% o 7 20004E 3 A E 2002493 A - KRR
RARLEIE - PA2002F 3 AE2003F 2 AEE
EBWMTRAARBRER SEEER ° 72004
FIAE20NFNAAFEERILE(ER)
BARAFEEERILCIE - RE2013F1 A8
ELSAFEERRATBRNBERARESESE
}3; °

HEERI987ERERPABETERR
E

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K 43




Directors and Senior Management

EEREREER

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (BB R), aged 64, is an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Strategic Development
Committee of the Company and the chairman of the Audit Committee
of the Company. Mr. Tai is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Tai joined the Company on 24
August 2018, and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was appointed as the
chairman of Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 7 September 2018.

Mr. Tai is currently a partner of VMS Securities Limited. Mr. Tai currently
also serves as an independent non-executive director for each of
Jiayuan International Group Limited (fE/REIRZERR AR A A]) (Stock
Code: 2768), G&M Holdings Limited ({182 B R A7) (Stock Code:
6038) and Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (B R iRFTAZ N AR A A (Stock
Code: 2066), all being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He was appointed as an independent director of Qingdao
Eoroom Smart Home Technology Company Limited (5 58 E&ER
BEEEERMDERAT) on 29 June 2020 and ceased to be an
independent non-executive director of Anhui Conch Cement Company
Limited (ZHEUAIZICERD R A 7)) (Stock Code: 914) and Luk Fook
Holdings (International) Limited (7~ &5 B (EIFR) G BR A A) (Stock Code:
0590), both being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, on 30 May 2019 and 20 August 2020, respectively. Mr. Tai
was elected as a member of the 12th session of Shandong Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2018.

Mr. Tai is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, CPA Australia and New Zealand Institute of Chartered
Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting, corporate
finance and investment in Hong Kong and overseas.

Mr. Tai obtained a bachelor’'s degree in commerce and administration

from Victoria University of Wellington (B 2184 % |2 K2), New
Zealand in 1982.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (2|#:i£), aged 59, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee of the Company and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Dr. Liu is primarily responsible for
independently overseeing the management. Dr. Liu joined the
Company on 24 August 2018 and was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and the Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 7 September 2018. He ceased to be the chairman of the
Strategic Development Committee of the Company on 9 November
2018.

Dr. Liu has been an independent non-executive director of Kunlun
Energy Company Limited (B 8IR B R 2 7)) (Stock Code: 0135) since
2004, Cinda International Holdings Limited ({5:EBIRIEARA R A F)
(Stock Code: 0111) since 2016, and Sunfonda Group Holdings Limited
(FTLHEEBIERABMRAF]) (Stock Code: 1771) since 2017, all being
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Liu was
an independent non-executive director of Honghua Group Limited (7
FELBBR AT (stock code: 0196) from 2008 to 2021, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Liu is also the
independent director of the board of UBS Securities Company Limited,
an unlisted company. Dr. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in
corporate finance. He has served in a number of international financial
institutions since 1993, including N.M. Rothschild & Sons Limited (/&%
WRFAEMR AT, J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited (EEIR K38
(FEH)(EARN)ERR AR, N.M. Rothschild & Sons (HK) Limited (&% B X 1T
(B78)BR7A7A]), DBS Asia Capital Limited (2RI M EFRAF]) and
China Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited (ZH < @ik A
&2 A).

Dr. Liu obtained a master’s degree and a PhD from the Faculty of
Economics, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom in 1988 and
1994, respectively. He obtained a master’s degree in development
studies from the University of Bath, United Kingdom in 1987, and a
bachelor’s degree in political economics from the Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics (FH7 M 4&& X 22) (formerly known as
Sichuan Economic College (PUJIIEF 42 £2Ft)) in the PRC in 1983,
successively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (¥ 8), aged 58, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee and
the head of the ESG Working Group of the Company. Dr. Yang is
primarily responsible for independently overseeing the management.
Dr. Yang was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee of the
Company on 9 November 2018. He was appointed as the head of the
ESG Working Group of the Company on 27 March 2020.

Dr. Yang worked as a geological engineer in the Institute of Petroleum
Geology at the Department of Geology and Minerals (H2HES0A HHE
TFEFT) from July 1986 to April 1995. Dr. Yang then served as a senior
geological engineer in the Institute of Petroleum at China New Star
Petroleum Co. (FT2 M A BIFZERL) from April 1995 to July 1996.
From May 2000 to July 2002, Dr. Yang joined the post-doctoral
program and conducted research work in areas of geological resources
and geological engineering at the China University of Mining and
Technology (Beijing branch) (FBETE% K Z(JtR)). In December 2002,
Dr. Yang started working as a senior geological engineer and an
associate professor at the China University of Mining and Technology
(Beijing branch) and was later promoted as a professor in July 2017. He
has been working as a senior geological engineer and a professor at
the China University of Mining and Technology (Beijing branch) since
then. Dr. Yang has received several awards including a special award
from the China Coal Industry Association (FEIHE Kk TE%E) and a
second prize for progress in Science and Technology from the State
Council of the PRC. Dr. Yang was also appointed as a member of the
Mine Geophysical Committee of the Chinese Geophysical Society (1
Bk IR B e R YWIEEEZLZEE) and Geofluid Science
Committee (AR B EX R B ®).

Dr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree of petroleum geology from the
Chengdu College of Geology (A EHE £F57) in the PRC in July 1986
and a doctoral degree in earth exploration and information technology
from the China University of Geosciences (Beijing) (B8 K2 (1L R))
in December 1999, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Wei Jiangtao (f715), aged 54, vice president, financial controller

and member of the ESG Working Group of the Company.

Mr. Wei has served as the vice president and financial controller of the
Company since September 2018 and is primarily responsible for the
Group's financial compliance management, project budget and final
accounts management and corporate financing activities. He has over
20 years of experience in auditing, corporate finance, corporate
governance and financial management. Mr. Wei was appointed as a
member of the ESG Working Group of the Company on 19 January
2022.

From 2016 to 2018, Mr. Wei served as a post-investment manager for
energy projects of China AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. (FEsERMD AR AR)).
From 2008 to 2015, he was a financial controller of each of Jiangsu
YangKou Port Development and Investment Co., Ltd. (L& + AR E
F#ABRAR]) and Jiangsu Yangtong Investment and Development
Co., Ltd. (IERFBAZEIRE AR AR, both are the subsidiaries of PYI
Corporation Limited (IREEBE B A F]) (Stock Code: 0498), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From 2006
to 2007, he was a founding partner and general manager of Xi'an
Junchung Finance Consulting Limited (FA%Z & IS Z G R A R).
From 1999 to 2005, he successively served as a project manager,
department manager and business director in Shaanxi Yiyou
Accounting Firm Limited Liability Company (Btfaz5 &k @5HEIS= 4 ATE
R a)).

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (BRFAEFACEET), currently
known as Xi'an Jiaotong University of China (fEIFE&L 3 AZ), in
1990 and was admitted as a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 1999.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)
Mr. Wang Bing (E7K), aged 52, vice president and a member of the

ESG Working Group of the Company.

Mr. Wang has been the vice president of the Company since
November 2013 and is primarily responsible for the Group’s
government relations and investment development matters. Mr. Wang
was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company on 27 March 2020.

Mr. Wang has over 15 years of experience in project management,
public relations, sales and marketing in the CBM business. Mr. Wang
has held various positions in the Group since joining the Group in June
2005. Mr. Wang served as a director of operation from February 2012
to November 2013 and as a general manager of Panzhuang Project
from September 2008 to February 2012. He was a business
development and sales manager of Mabi Project from 2005 to 2007.

Before joining the Company, he was the deputy general manager of
Shanxi Kotel Micro Technique Co., Ltd. (ILFARIZRBIFRMT AR A F) from
September 2001 to May 2005 and the marketing manager of the
Beijing branch of American ATMEL Company from July 1997 to
September 2001.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in metallic material
engineering from Northeast Heavy Machinery Institute (32362 R
E%), currently known as Yanshan University (G&HIKZ), in the PRC in
September 1992 and his master’'s degree in business administration
from Hong Kong Metropolitan University (formerly known as The Open
University of Hong Kong) (B8 2AFIAZE) in December 2000.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)
Mr. Li Jun (ZE), aged 57, vice president and a member of the ESG
Working Group of the Company.

Mr. Li has been a vice president of the Company since December 2020
and is primarily responsible for the Group’s administration
management, information management, new energy technology
research management and new project development management.
Mr. Li was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company on 19 August 2021.

Mr. Li has over 25 years of experience in project management, supply
chain management, public relations and crisis management in the oil
and gas industry. He has held various positions since joining the Group
in September 2014. From December 2020 to February 2022, he was a
vice president and primarily responsible for production operation and
project management. From April 2020 to December 2020, he was an
assistant to the President and the Head of Investment Development
Department. From September 2014 to September 2020, he was the
general manager of each of Panzhuang Project and Mabi Project
respectively.

Prior to joining the Company, he was the Panyu asset manager of
ConocoPhillips China Inc. (E3EAHFEIBRRAF]) from January 2013
to June 2014. From November 2009 to December 2012, he was the
general manager of supply chain in the PRC for ConocoPhillips China
Inc., During his tenure, Mr. Li, as a representative of ConocoPhillips
China Inc., coordinated the crisis management and communication
with the authorities in respect of the Bohai Bay oil spill from July 2011
to January 2012. From October 1995 to October 2009, he was the chief
operation officer of logistics, liaison officer in charge of communication
with government authorities and joint venturers, and the head of
procurement and logistics management for ConocoPhillips China Inc.,
overseeing the operations in Bohai Rim Region. Prior to that, he was a
diplomatic, political and press attaché at the embassy of the People's
Republic of China in Yemen (% A R XA B G5 FIRFEE) from
February 1991 to April 1994, when he was stationed in Sana’a, the
capital of the Republic of Yemen.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in English Language and Literature
from Tianjin Foreign Studies University (F3ZSNEIFEAE) in 1986 and an
MBA degree from the State University of New York (4471 32 X £5),
USA in June 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)
Mr. He Guoxian ({IEI &), aged 58, is the chief geologist of the Company.

Mr. He was appointed as the chief geologist of the Company on 9
December 2021 and is primarily responsible for the preparation of
exploration and development plans, drilling deployment, production
dynamic analysis, comprehensive geological research, reserves
assessment of the existing concessions of the Group as well as
geological assessment of new businesses and concessions.

Mr. He has over 30 years of extensive work experience in the oil and
gas industry including geological evaluation, exploration and
development, drilling deployment, engineering technology innovation
and management. Mr. He has held various positions since joining the
Group in January 2010. From December 2020 to December 2021, he
was the deputy chief engineer and general manager of Mabi project.
From April 2020 to December 2020, he was the deputy chief engineer
and the Head of Geology and Gas Reserve Department. From October
2018 to April 2020, he was the Head of Technology Department and
from January 2010 to October 2018, he was a senior geologist of Mabi
Project and an exploration manager of Mabi Project successively.

Before joining the Group, from July 2002 to January 2010, Mr. He
served as a manager of the Northeast Project Department, a manager
of the production technology department and the deputy chief
engineer and the head of research institute of Sinopec North China
Petroleum Bureau Logging Company (At ZE 4L Al B H A7)
successively. From December 1983 to June 2002, he successively
served as a geology team member, a geologist, and a geology team
leader of the drilling team of the 5th survey and exploration brigade of
the North China Petroleum Geology Bureau of the Ministry of Geology
and Mineral Resources (A& I A MNE B3 1 S ER AR EH
BX).

Mr. He graduated from Zhengzhou School of Geology (£ /I 3 & £ 1)
(currently known as Zhengzhou Industry & Trade School (| T2 & 52
1)) majoring in geology in December 1983, and graduated from China
University of Geosciences (Wuhan) (47 B 1t & K 2 (2 )£)) majoring in
exploration geology in July 1991. Mr. He holds the title of senior
engineer of petroleum geology.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGSREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT Continued)

Ms. Su Xiaohang (B #fii), aged 36, joint company secretary and a
member of the ESG Working Group of the Company.

Ms. Su has served as the manager of the board of Directors’ office (&
F2WANEEM) of the Company from September 2018 to January
2021 and was appointed as a joint company secretary and the Board
secretary of the Company in April 2019. She is primarily responsible for
implementing good corporate governance and the Group's
compliance matters, investors’ and public relations management. Ms.
Su was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group of the
Company on 19 August 2021.

Ms. Su has over seven years of experience in the financial services and
investment industry. Before joining the Company, she worked as an
investment manager in the investment department at Chinastone
Capital Management Limited (A REREEE(EHRHERAR)
from November 2016 to August 2018. She served as a branch finance
manager in the finance department at the Beijing Branch of the
Standard Chartered Bank (China) Limited (&$T#R77(RE)B R A FIILR
5317) from February 2014 to November 2016. From January 2011 to
January 2014, she worked as a senior auditor at the Beijing office of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. (2 &) ZFE K @RI E5FT) under
the audit group of global financial service industry.

Ms. Su obtained a master’'s degree of science in International
Accounting and Finance at the University of Birmingham ({H87% KX 53),
United Kingdom, in 2010. She obtained the Securities Qualification
Certificate from the Asset Management Association of China (7 B %=
FEESEWHE) in June 2017. She is a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is a leading independent CBM producer in China. It
focuses on developing and optimizing value of unconventional gas
resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese economy. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set
out in note 1 and note 31 to the section headed “Consolidated
Financial Statements” of this annual report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report. Description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can also be found in the
section headed "Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. In
addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group can be found in note 3 to the section headed “Consolidated
Financial Statements” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year ended 31 December 2021 using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section headed
"Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further,
discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships with
its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Report of the Directors”,
and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report,
respectively. Discussions and information therein form part of this
Report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in the section headed "Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.0589 per share (equivalent to HK$0.0724 per share) for the year
ended 31 December 2021, subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the AGM to be held on 20 May 2022. The proposed dividends is
expected to be paid on 9 June 2022 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members on 30 May 2022. The dividends
payable to the Shareholders will be distributed in HK Dollar at an
average exchange rate of the central parity of RMB against HK Dollar
as announced by The People’s Bank of China for the five business days
prior to the dividend declaration date.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING OF THE
COMPANY

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 23 June
2015 with net proceeds from the initial public offering (“IPO") of
approximately RMB1.5069 billion, after deduction of the underwriting
commission and other expenses. The Company applied the proceeds
from the Listing in accordance with the proposed applications as set
out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds — Use of
Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 11 June 2015.

As at 31 December 2021, the proceeds from the IPO had been fully
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utilized. The following table sets out the breakdown of the use of A - EZE 2021412 A31 B L FEIPOFFE R
proceeds from the IPO during the year ended 31 December 2021: BRAGZ AR TERYR -
Net proceeds
Net proceeds utilized during
utilized as at  the year ended
Percentage of ~ Net proceeds 31 December 31 December Remaining
net proceeds allocated 2020 2021 amount
#2020 BZ201 %
1EFfs 128318 12A318L
MEFE PEHFE BftA FEERA
Use of net proceeds FEREFERE B FEFE  FSYEFE  FEXNETFE HereHE
(RMB hundred ~ (RMB hundred  (RMB hundred  (RMB hundred
million) million) million) million)
(AR®ER) (AR¥ER) (AR¥ER) (ARBER)
For the exploration and developmentof ~ BREEERSVERAFLFAZE 60% 9.041 9.041 - -
CBM in Panzhuang and Mabi concessions ~ HER
For the expansion of operations by acquiring Wi E 5 B Ra E hIE R 18 35% 5274 3.207 2.067 -
interests in other CBM or other AAREBNERIZHAER
unconventional gas concessions or REER - BURRAMOES
participating in cooperation or joint
venture projects
For working capital and general REeEEE R—ROZERRE 5% 0.754 0651 0103 -
corporate purposes
Total @it 100% 15.069 12.899 2170 -
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
REVENUE GENERATING ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
revenue generating assets of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in note 6 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
incentive schemes are set out in note 14 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report and the
paragraph headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The AGM is scheduled to be held on Friday, 20 May 2022. The AGM
circular will be published and issued to the Shareholders in due course.
For the purposes of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company (the
"Register of Members”) will be closed from 17 May 2022 to 20 May
2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 16 May 2022 (being the business
day prior to the first day of closure of the Register of Members).

The record date for determining the entitlements to the proposed final
dividend is 30 May 2022. In order to determine the Shareholders’
entitlements to the proposed final dividend, which is subject to the
approval by the Shareholders at the AGM to be convened, the Register
of Members will be closed from 26 May 2022 to 30 May 2022, both
days inclusive, during which period the registration of transfer of shares
will be suspended. All properly completed transfers forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on 25 May 2022.

RESERVES

Details of reserve movement of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out in note 30 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2021, the distributable reserves of the Company
was approximately RMB3,858 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group made charitable

contributions of RMB500,000.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for 46.7% of the total sales for the year, in
which the sales to the largest customer represented 10.14%. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's five largest customers
were principally engaged in the exploration and exploitation of CBM,
liquefaction and processing of CBM, and sales of town gas. The Group
and its five largest customers have maintained a relationship for 1 to 2
years and even longer. The credit term granted to the Group’s major
customers for trade receivables is generally 30 to 90 days, which is
consistent with that granted to other customers. In response to the risk
of the Group's dependence on major customers in peak-shaving of
natural gas, the Group has taken targeted measures to add other
customers for peak-shaving and establish a long-term and stable
relationship with its customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 27.62% of the total purchases for
the year in which the purchases from the largest supplier represented
7.57%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any substantial shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no material and

significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Yan Danhua (President)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Executive Vice President)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Huang Min
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

As of 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, Dr.
Cui Guiyong resigned as a non-executive Director and member of the
Strategic Development Committee of the Company with effect from 26
March 2021, and Mr. Yan Danhua was appointed as a member of the
Strategic Development Committee with effect from the same day. Mr.
Zhang Jianbing, Mr. Li Jun and Ms. Su Xiaohang were appointed as
members of the ESG Working Group with effect from 19 August 2021,
and the Secretary to the Chairman of the Board resigned as a member
of the ESG working group with effect from the same day; Mr. Wei
Jiangtao was appointed as a member of the ESG Working Group with
effect from 19 January 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this annual report, there have been no changes to the composition
of each of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Strategic Development
Committee and the ESG Working Group of the Company.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
therein, there was no other matter with respect to the appointment of
the Directors that needs to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and there was no information relating to the Directors
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of
the Listing Rules as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of
appointment subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance
with the Articles. Each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors), Mr. Huang Min, Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Dr. Yang Ruizhao, have signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the date of appointment subject to the relevant
provisions of retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Zhang Jianbing, Mr. Huang Min
and Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander will retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts, transactions and
arrangements of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during the year ended 31 December 2021 or at any time of this period.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 32 and note 21 to the
section headed "Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual
report. The remunerations of the Directors are determined based on
the market price and contribution made by such Directors to the
Company. There has been no arrangement under which any Director
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and as of the
date of this annual report, the Company considers that they are all
independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her officer or
otherwise in relation thereto. Provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of such directors or officers. In addition, the Company has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

R2021F 128318 ARRIEEREBITH
ABEALTSEBH AR (EELES K
B ((EBERBEERM ) EXVE) D -
HERNDEEFTHE@QBEZESRBEK
BIZEXVEBE 7 R 8E 5 - G AR A REER
FimERMARE (BEREESFNBEKRIE
BIEREEERGIEBRAENERIASR) =X
(o) AR IEFEH K A E 14 1) 58 352 (B E N AR
REEECMANEEMAR  (QRELE
MRAME10TE EMBITAE B ETES
RSGEESFA([BESFR D BREARRE R
X TR FA RN T ¢

Approximate

Company/name of Number of  percentage of
associated shares held  shareholding
Name Position corporation Capacity (Note 1) (Note 2)
N FrsROBE BRESEIL
%E B HEZEE SR E=47) (FfFEE1) (FfF3E2)
Ming Zaiyuan (Note 3) Chairman and Executive Company Interest in a controlled  1,933,704,886(L) 56.96%(L)
AR (HE3) Director ZA/NG] corporation
IRFENTES RipLERER
Interest in spouse 2,024,000(L) 0.060%(L)
foB s
Huang Min Non-executive Director Xinjiang Xintai Natural Beneficial owner 5,146,656(L) 1.21%I(L)
B FHTESF Gas Co., Ltd ExEAA
HEERAARRG
BRARA
Interest in spouse 60,000(L) 0.01%(L)
BB
Notes: B3
1. The letter “L" denotes long position in such shares. 1. FHILIEZATEESLEROHTPHTE -

BHZE2021F12 A31 H LM E 9 LL o 720214
128318 BEITIRN4RER3,395,124,117 % °

2. Approximate percentage of shareholding as at 31 December 2021. As at 31 2.
December 2021, the total number of issued shares was 3,395,124,117.

3. Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned 1,933,704,886 Shares of the Company. 3.
Liming Holding Limited is entirely controlled by Sichuan Liming Energy

EBNPZEREGR A B E=ES A R1,933,704,886
AR A& 17 o & & FIBA AR A IR A & 68 7Y )| 1) BA 58 IR
BHEREMERARZEZES )| FIFERAZEER
FEARFBNBERRARRN ARA R 2L -
PREBRBEBENHESTRARBROERAA
182,444 314 [RAR 17 - (hFTIBERRARKROBR R
FIAB BT IR AN B) 43.04% ¢ B 2N A F1,933,704,886
RRARD o ok - BEEHFREE AT S « BAEER
R 2,024,000 IR A0 P HE B e - RS REAL
EMRBERES -

Development Co., Ltd., which in turn is entirely controlled by Xinjiang Xintai Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. Mr. Ming beneficially owned 1,933,704,886 Shares of the Company
through his holding of 182,444,314 shares in Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd,
representing 43.04% of the total issued share capital of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas
Co., Ltd. In addition, Mr. Ming is deemed to be interested in 2,024,000 Shares held
by his spouse for the purposes of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF

THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than the

Directors or the chief executives of the Company) have interests or

short positions in the Shares or underlying shares or debentures as

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

section 336 of the SFO:

FERREAXADTRS - HERD
RESZTHEENESZNKXE

R2021F 1284318 THAT(ARRES
HEBITHABRIN FEARR RIRIEE S & H
BIEHIE 336 IEFE LTS RD - 18k
B REFFHEEERZSGABWNT ¢

Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity (Note 1) (Note 2)
IESTEnE ¢ BRESE A
e 51 (BzE1) (P3E2)
Liming Holding Ltd. (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,933,704,886(L) 56.96%(L)
BAENRAERERDA (5 3) EnBEAA
Sichuan Liming Energy Development Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,933,704,886(L) 56.96%(L)
I FeRRe RS EREE AR (FIEE3) XEEEER
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,933,704,886(L) 56.96%(L)
MEERAARRNAERRF (HFE3) XEEEER
Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. (Note 4) (Ff3E4) Beneficial owner 601,628,379(L) 17.72%(L)
EnBEAA
Weng Ming (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 601,628,379(L) 17.72%(L)
S8 (M3E4) XEEEER
Beneficial owner 3,361,000(L) 0.10%(L)
EnBEAA
Notes: ffEE -
1. The letter “L" denotes long position in such shares. 1. FE L EEELELFTITE -

2. Approximate percentage of shareholding as at 31 December 2021. As at 31
December 2021, the total number of issued shares was 3,395,124,117.

3. Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned 1,933,704,886 Shares (long position) of
the Company. Liming Holding Limited is entirely controlled by Sichuan Liming
Energy Development Co., Ltd., which in turn is entirely controlled by Xinjiang Xintai

Natural Gas Co., Ltd.

4. Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. beneficially owned 601,628,379 Shares (long
position). Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. is entirely controlled by Mr. Weng Ming,

who beneficially owned 3,361,000 Shares (long position).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the

Directors and chief executives of the Company are aware of any other

person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)

who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares

as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

2. HZE2021512 A3 B IEMFEFRE DL » 722021 4
128318 " BEITRIDEE0A3,395,124,117 % ©

3. BHEFAZERBER AR E=AEAF 1,933,704,886 B A%
B FRE) - BAFBERBR A E B ) FIRAER
HEERETARZEES - M) FIHERAES
REARARBHNBERRAARRNDER AT DHEE
e

4. Wisdom Treasure Holdings Inc. & z= # &
601,628,3790% & 3 ( & & ) ° Wisdom Treasure
Holdings Inc. B I8 &= 2 1S - REBEEE
m kA 3,361,000 IRAR 1A (47 &) ©

Br EXXRTIEEAESN - R2021F12A31H » &
NAIZEENEBITRABG T ABEMEAMDA
T (RRAREEREBITHABRIN ERIEE
# REEIRDIE 3B EA R BB FEELMATE
R D SRR (D R E B IR SR B ©
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

In order to incentivize the Directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group and to
attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, the Company
adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme (as defined below).

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) on 31 March 2015, the principal terms (such
as the purpose, participants and consideration for accepting any
options) of which are set out in the section headed ”“Statutory and
General Information — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V
to the prospectus of the Company dated 11 June 2015 (the
“Prospectus”).

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is valid from its effective date to the
earlier of the Listing Date or the date of completion of the Pre-IPO
change of control and no further options will be granted under it
thereafter. Options granted during the term of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme may be terminated in accordance with any of the
provisions described in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Each option
will lapse on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, but in any event the exercise period of the options shall not
exceed five years from the date of vesting of the relevant options.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to any
person (including exercised and outstanding options) pursuant to the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share compensation
arrangements adopted by the Company shall not exceed 3.0% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Outstanding Options

For the year ended 31 December 2021, 1,541,722 options were
exercised and no option was cancelled or lapsed. There was no change
in the share options of the Directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates during the
year. As at 31 December 2021, there were a total of 192,715 options
outstanding. None of the Directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates held
outstanding options.

As at the date of this annual report, total outstanding options under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were 192,715, representing
approximately 0.006% of the issued shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no further options have been or would be
granted by the Company after the Listing Date pursuant to the Pre-IPO

Share Option Scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, movements of the share

BXAHRENBRENE @
RITEBRE
HZE2021F 12 A31BIEFE - B51,541,72215
PERRAEIET T - WA IR - HA
RAREE  BRTRABREBRE N HHE
EEBMEBARAFEETMBERESZS - K
202112 A 318 » 25 192,715 f# A% # A
KITE - HRARRES ZofTRAS®E
ERENKESEBEARTHRRITEZE
[t o

HIUEAFHRFERD - RIEAFESIERET
BMARITIE 2 BIRERE A192,7151% - (5
NRIBEITIM 4 A 0.006% °

fr EXPRIERE SN - AR BN L A HR I &
REBEERAFREERBARET R E R
H b FEAAE

HE2021F12A31BIEFE - BXAFREE

options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are as follows: BB S FEET 2T TR BERS e S e B2 -
Number
Number of Shares
of Shares represented  Approximate
represented by Options  percentage of
Exercise by Options Exercised Lapsed Cancelled at issued shares
Name of Price  at 1 January during the during the during the 31 December of the Vesting Exercise
Share Option Grantees! Date of Grant (Us$) 2021 period® period period 2021 Company* Period? Period®
BRER BRER
20215 20215 [Z T
1A1H 12A318 BEf7
fTE®E &R FRRE  ROKEN
BRERRAZE" RiHAH (%7) RHEE  HRETES L IEES: BREEH RH#E ALY BEA Ese
Other employees of 31 March 2015 and 0151 1,734,437 1,541,722 - - 192,715 0.006% please see please see
the Company 5 June 2015 note 2below  note 3 below
FRFEMER 15%3A318R FEHTX F2HTX
01556 A5H 2 &3
Total 1,734,437 1,541,722 - - 192,715 0.006%
&t
Notes: PiaE
1. Prior to the Listing, certain of the grantees have transferred their options to 1. REMAT - —EBBREARABRIRERAHEE

companies wholly-owned by them, in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

AR Bl A2 EREN AR S REERE -
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. Unvested options granted to the grantees pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme vested as follows:

(a) 50% of the Share Options shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate of (i)
one half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if
the relevant date on which the employment relationship between the
Company (the “"Employment Date") is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i)
one third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant
Employment Date if such date is after 1 January 2014; and

(b) 50% of the Share Options shall be KPI-linked (the “KPI-linked Options”) and
shall be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of the three KPIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of
one (i) half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015
if the relevant Employment Date is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) one
third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant
Employment Date if such date is after 1 January 2014 pursuant to the
following payout schedule:

(1) 100% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI
Target is met; or

) if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked
Options shall vest if 80% of the Relevant KPI Target is met and an
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest for each 1%
further improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the
performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of
the improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished.

For the purposes of above, "KPIs" refer to (i) EBITDA, (i) Reserves; and (iii) All-in
Unit Cost. "KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and Reserves) or
105% (in the case of All-in-Unit Cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by
the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year,
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for
any unvested KPI-linked Options shall be determined by the Board or the
Committee as delegated by the Board.

3. Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, each option shall expire on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share
Option, provided that in no event, shall the Exercise Period of an Option exceed
five years from the date upon which the relevant option has vested.

4. Approximate percentage of issued Shares of the Company is calculated by dividing

the options held by the relevant grantees by the issued and outstanding Shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2021.

Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.
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POST-IPO RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted a post-IPO restricted share unit scheme (the
"Post-IPO RSU Scheme”) on 5 June 2015, which took effect on the
Listing Date, a summary of the principal terms (such as the purpose,
participants) of which is set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Post-IPO RSU Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.

The Post-IPO RSU Scheme is valid and effective for a term of 10 years
from 5 June 2015 (the “Scheme Period”), after which period no further
restricted share units (“RSUs”) shall be granted or accepted, but the
provisions of such scheme shall remain in full force and effect in order
to give effect to the vesting of RSUs granted and accepted prior to the
expiration of the Scheme Period.

The Post-IPO RSU Scheme Limit may be refreshed from time to time
subject to prior Shareholders’ approval, but in any event, the total
number of Shares that may underlie the RSUs granted following the
date of approval of the refreshed limit (the “New Approval Date")
under the limit as refreshed from time to time must not exceed 2% of
the number of Shares in issue as at the New Approval Date.

On 18 December 2015, the Company granted an aggregate of
41,234,696 RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected
grantees of the Group pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.
Subsequently the grant of RSUs to three connected grantees was
approved by the independent shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 22 January 2016. On 31 January 2016, an
aggregate of 19,865,199 RSUs were accepted by the connected
grantees and an aggregate of 21,199,297 RSUs were accepted by the
non-connected grantees, respectively.

On 24 March 2017, the Board granted an aggregate of 26,333,182
RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected grantees of
the Group pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. Subsequently the
grant of RSUs to six connected grantees was approved by the
independent shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 9 May 2017. On 31 May 2017, an aggregate of 26,333,182 RSUs were
accepted by the relevant grantees.
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POST-IPO RSU SCHEME (Continued)

At the 2020 AGM, a specific mandate was granted to the Directors to
exercise all the powers of the Company to grant RSUs pursuant to the
Post-IPO RSU Scheme in respect of the underlying Shares not
exceeding 2% (i.e. the Directors were authorized to exercise the
powers of the Company to grant the RSUs involving a maximum
number of 67,871,647 underlying Shares) of the Shares in issue as at
the date of the 2020 AGM during the period from the date of
approving the Mandate at that meeting up to the conclusion of the
next AGM.

OUTSTANDING RSUs AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

During the reporting period, no RSUs have been granted, vested,
lapsed or cancelled. As at 31 December 2021, there were no
outstanding RSUs.

As at the date of this annual report, pursuant to the specific mandate
obtained by the Board, the total number of securities available for
issue under the Scheme were 67,871,647, representing approximately
2.0% of the issued shares. However, this specific mandate will expire at
the conclusion of the 2021 AGM.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted
at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules),
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules),
to acquire such rights in acquisition of any other body corporate for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, save for the following
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions of the
Group which are exempt from the relevant disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and as disclosed below, the
Group has not entered into any connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transaction with
Shanxi Tongyu, as set out in note 28 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” in this annual report, is not a
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1) On 28 January 2021, the Company entered into the Cooperation
Framework Agreement with Urumgi Xintai Jinggong Construction
Engineering Co, Ltid (BB KRB SEHZ R IERXRIEBR A AF)
("XTJG") ("2021 Cooperation Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which, XTJG and its associates may bid for the
Group's coalbed methane (the “CBM") development projects as
construction contractor for the provision of construction services
in accordance with the invited bidding or competitive negotiation
procedures of the Group from time to time. The final price and
transaction terms entered into between the Group and XTJG
and/or its associates are subject to the invited bidding or
competitive negotiation procedures which apply to both
connected persons and independent third parties of the Group.

As Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (¥Ti8 &R AA RGN BIR
A 7)) ("XTRQ") holds 100% equity interests in XTJG, and XTRQ
holds approximately 56.96% of the total issued share capital of
the Company through Sichuan Liming Energy Development Co.,
Ltd. and Liming Holding Limited. Therefore, XTJG is the contact
person of XTRQ and a connected person of the Company, and
the transactions contemplated under the 2021 Cooperation
Framework Agreement constitute a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

1.

68

(Continued)

Background and purpose of entering into the 2021 Cooperation
Framework Agreement: With the increase in production output
of the Group of both the Panzhuang and Mabi concessions in the
past few years, demand for the Construction Services increased
accordingly. XTJG is a reputable contractor in the industry with
experience in handling various construction projects as an
independent contractor for CBM projects. XTJG's participation in
the bidding or competitive negotiations will increase the
competitiveness between other construction contractors and will
accordingly allow the Group to reduce its procurement risks and
ensure quality services provided by the construction contractors.

Under the 2021 Cooperation Framework Agreement, the total
transaction amount under the agreement shall not exceed
RMB24,500,800, and the agreement shall be valid from 28
January 2021 to 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total contract value of
the execution agreement entered into between the Group and
XTJG under the 2021 Cooperation Framework Agreement was
approximately RMB19,718,525, and the total transaction amount
for the year accordingly was RMB17,522,089.

ANNUAL REVIEW BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS AND THE AUDITOR

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Listing Rules, and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions:

a)  were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group;

b)  were entered into on normal commercial terms; and
c) the terms of the agreements are fair and reasonable and

are in the interests of the shareholders of the listed issuer
as a whole.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

1.

(Continued)

CONFIRMATION FROM THE AUDITOR OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised),
Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised), Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unmodified letter to the Board containing its
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this Report of the Directors in
accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange as required under Main Board Listing Rule 14A.57.

In view of the expiry of 2021 Cooperation Framework Agreement
on 31 December 2021 and the aforesaid need of the Group to
enter into a new cooperation framework agreement with XTJG,
on 16 December 2021, the Company entered into a new
cooperation framework agreement (the “2022 Cooperation
Framework Agreement”) with XTJG for a term commencing
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024, the annual caps of the
transactions under the agreement for each of the years ending 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 are RMB38,740,000,
RMB40,410,000 and RMB41,350,000 respectively. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16
December 2021.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in note 28 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report, of which
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules include
(1) the 2021 Cooperation Framework Agreement entered into between
the Group and XTJG as set out in the section headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” above, which
has been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company; (2) the
Group entered into two agreements with XTJG on 28 October 2020
and 7 January 2021 respectively for the provision of engineering
services in the aggregate amount of approximately RMB576,000 and
RMB1,890,000, which are connected transactions fully exempted under
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. During the year under review, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained the sufficiency of public float as required
under the Listing Rules at all times for the year ended 31 December
2021 and as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2021 none of the Directors or their respective
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or likely to compete with the business of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND

COMPLIANCE MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 the Company was not engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 the Company obtained all the
material licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the development
stage of Panzhuang concession; and for the Southern area of Mabi
concession (131 sqg km), except for the mining license which is still
pending, all material licenses have been obtained. The “3 in 1"
proposal of the proven reserves in the Northern area of Mabi
concession was approved in 2021, whereas the material licenses, such
as the approval of the environmental assessment report were handled
in 2021, other related works have been progressing well.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this

report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with applicable laws and regulations in all material respects.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The management believes that talent is the basis for corporate
development. Through the implementation of the “Leadership
Censoring and Development Program for Middle and Senior
Managers”, the Group has been able to enhance its understanding
from different perspective and to conduct leadership improvement
planning with precise teaching. Through the echelon building of
talents and the development of employee training system, the Group
provides a platform and assistance for the development of employees’
personal potential and career path. In addition, the Group provides its
employees with competitive remuneration packages and various
benefits in line with industry practice. At the same time, the Group
creates a good working environment, and establishes teamwork spirit
among employees. The Group regularly reviews human resources
policies to ensure that the policies align with market practice and
comply with regulatory requirements. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group employed 503 employees (including five disabled persons), with
two of them based in Hong Kong. The total employee benefit
expenses (excluding termination compensation) for 2021 was
approximately RMB103 million. Details are set out in note 21 to the
section headed “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”of this
annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2021

On 18 January 2022, the Group entered into an agreement with XTRQ,
pursuant to which the Group and XTRQ agreed to make a capital
contribution of RMB24.5 million and RMB25.5 million to establish a
company, representing 49.0% and 51.0% of the total capital
contribution, respectively. On 30 March 2022, the Group entered into a
capital increase agreement with XTRQ, pursuant to which the Group
and XTRQ agreed to contribute additional RMB122.5 million and
RMB127.5 million, respectively. Subsequent to the capital increase, the
share of equity held by the Group and XTRQ remains unchanged. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18
January 2022 and the announcement of the Company dated 30 March
2022.

Saved as the above and as disclosed in the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report, there were
no subsequent events between the end of the reporting period and
the date of this annual report that would have a material impact on the
Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Information on the environmental, social and governance aspects of
the Company will be prepared based on the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules. The environmental, social and governance report of the
Group will be published no later than 5 months after the financial year
ended 31 December 2021. The Group has established an ESG working
group under the Board. The working group consists of eight members,
of which the leader (or person in charge) is served by an independent
non-executive director. The working group reports to the Board and is
accountable to the Board, it is mainly responsible for formulating ESG
strategies for the Company and monitoring the enforcement; reviewing
the progress of ESG objectives; implementing quarterly examinations;
supervising the operating system to ensure its consistently
effectiveness and reviewing and auditing the ESG report, etc.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group's risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters with the
management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Policy”) aims to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

The Board adopts the policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well as
its shareholder value.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES (Continued)

The Company intends to distribute no less than 25% of its annual net
profits as dividends to its shareholders, subject to the conditions and
factors as set out below.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company, subject to the articles of association of
the Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors
set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

financial results;
o cash flow situation;
° business conditions and strategies;

. future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of Shareholders;

J any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

J any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions
and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board for a financial year or period:

J interim dividend;

. final dividend;

o special dividend; and

J any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES (Continued)

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders'
approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

REVIEW OF THE POLICY

The Board will review the Policy as appropriate from time to time.

AUDITORS

There have been no changes of auditors in the past three years.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for their
outstanding contribution towards the Group’s development. The
Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their dedication
and diligence, and they are the key factors for the Group to continue
its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for
the continued support from its Shareholders, customers, and business
partners. The Group will continue to deliver sustainable business
development, so as to meet its business objectives for 2022 and realize
higher values for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
30 March 2022
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Review Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance our corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code") contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) as its own code of corporate governance. The
Company has complied with all applicable provisions under the CG
Code during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to

ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company's affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
and a working group under the Board, namely the Audit Committee
(the "Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”), the Nomination Committee (the
“Nomination Committee"”) and the strategic development committee
(the “Strategic Development Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”) and the ESG Working Group. The Board has delegated
to the Board Committees and ESG Working Group responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference.

The Board’s composition is in compliance with the requirements under
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-
executive directors must represent at least one-third of the Board. The
Board believes that the balance between executive Directors and the
non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including one executive director and chairman of the Board, two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan

Executive Directors
Mr. Yan Danhua (President)
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Executive Vice President)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Huang Min
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

The biographies of the current Directors are set out under the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Saved as disclosed in this annual report (if any), to the knowledge of
the Directors, the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material relationship with each other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Strategic Development Committee and
the ESG Working Group.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company's performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to perform
their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company and the lawyers engaged by the
Company have from time to time updated and provided written
training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
Director.
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Directors (Continued)

During the Review Period, all Directors have participated in continuous ~ fEEIFEARAl - 2 EEE R RBLA MM HEE
professional development by attending training courses and/or HBEAEEER  EtHAREZEEA® ik
referring materials on the topics related to the Group's business, BEMBENDEE ATME S HEIIRIZM, 5%
corporate governance and regulations on the roles, functions and  ##l - A EIFEFERRE -

duties of a Director of a listed company:

Attending
expert briefings/
seminars/
conferences/
on-line courses

relevant to
Reading the business of
regulatory the Group or
Name of Director update  directors’ duties
SmEEAER
EBREEHE
ZERERE
-V V4
EENE HEBRNEEER R ERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) ABEREE(FE) v v
Mr. Yan Danhua BFHE SR E v v
Mr. Zhang Jianbing SR A v v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Huang Min =HEL v v
Dr. Cui Guiyong EEBEL v -
(resigned on 26 March 2021) (7220214 3 A 26 ABHE)
Independent non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HEREE v v
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng BlEziEig+ 4 v
Dr. Yang Ruizhao HBinAE L v v
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement or a letter of appointment with the Company. There are
currently seven members in the Board, the term of service for each of
them is three years from the date of appointment or re-appointment.
Such term is subject to re-election by the Company at an annual
general meeting upon retirement. The Articles provide that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board
shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
Besides, any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election. In accordance with the Articles, at every annual general
meeting of the Company, one third of the Directors for the time being
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Zhang Jianbing, Mr. Huang Min
and Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander shall retire by rotation and being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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General Meetings

During the Review Period, a general meeting, being the 2020 AGM,
was held and the attendance of the individual Directors at the meeting

BEEE ()
BEASYE

FERIEHA - 8177 —RRRASG#E12020
FEBRRBFAE  SEFHFUILRGHENGE

is set out in the table below: MRETER:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BEHRE T HERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) PERSE(FE) 1/1
Mr. Yan Danhua EFELRE 1/1
Mr. Zhang Jianbing by itas 1”1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Huang Min mESEE 1/
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021) BEEEEL (7020214 3 A 26 HEHE) 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors BAKEHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BEIR EE 1/1
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng 2lEEEE+ 11
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BinAE L 1/1
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or committee members three days before
the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the
papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When directors
or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman of the Board prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.
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During the Review Period, five board meetings were held and the EREHAN  EESLTTARNSE  SE=
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in  HFEL@HMBRE &K
the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BEHRE T HERE
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) PERSE(FE) 4/4
Mr. Yan Danhua EFELRE 5/5
Mr. Zhang Jianbing by itas 5/5
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Huang Min mESEE 4/4
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021) BEEEEL (7020214 3 A 26 HEHE) 11
Independent non-executive Directors BAKEHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BEIR EE 5/5
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng 2lEEEE+ 5/5
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BinAE L 5/5

Our Company held a meeting attended by the chairman of the Board AR FEEFEE LR MNEC27
and independent non-executive Directors during the Review Period in &2 #7F - BREMABH T ES® X FHEET
compliance with requirements under Rule C.2.7 of Appendix 14 to the  JFRITEEEH - WA Rl mERmEHAE
Listing Rules to discuss and consider duties and roles of the Board and & RIEHEKEREACBREITIEN °

its relevant members as well as their performance during the Reporting

Period.

82 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021




Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

THE BOARD (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the president of the Company are
currently two separate positions held by Mr. Ming Zaiyuan as the
chairman of the Board and Mr. Yan Danhua as the president, with clear
distinction in responsibilities. The chairman of the Board is responsible
for providing strategic advice and guidance on the business
development of the Group, while the president is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Group.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the "Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings
in the Company's securities. No incident of non-compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was noted
by the Company during the Review Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision-making authorities on all major
matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.
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Delegation by the Board (Continued)
The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are

delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and

responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to

be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions

entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance

duties include:

(a)

84

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the

Company and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EEREREBAESTMH

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for A RQ T AHIEAEBES R SRETE A EEEN
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior HBEEY T —ELHEMAAFHENRER -
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the &R BEEARFFEH F 202112 A 31 B H B
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 32 EHNARFR [ S HIEHRRNM T — &M
to the section headed “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” 32 -

of this annual report.

The remuneration of the senior management who were senior W2021E 12 A3 BEAREBSREEED
management of the Group as at 31 December 2021 is within the SREBABNEHEGENT :
following bands:

Number of Individuals

AE
Emolument bands FoEE
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T = 2,000,000 % 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7T Z 2,500,000 7% 7T 3
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T Z 3,000,000 % 7T 2
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7% 7T Z 4,000,000 7% 7T 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 % 7T 2 6,500,000 % 7T 1
Directors’ Liability Insurance EEEER
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of AR B EMEE A EEEHERFABE T A
legal action against its Directors. EHIRR o
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Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises
three members, namely Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander and Dr. Liu
Xiaofeng, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Huang
Min, the non-executive Director. The chairman is Mr. Tai Kwok Leung
Alexander, who confirmed that he possesses appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company's staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

3. to review the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
Company'’s financial reporting system, internal control system
and risk management system and associated procedures,
including the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, reports to the Board on any material

issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)
During the Review Period, five meetings of the Audit Committee were

held to discuss and consider the following matters:

reviewed annual results, internal audit report, auditors’
remuneration, engagement conditions, independence and terms
of reference of the Audit Committee of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the period ended 31 December 2020,

reviewed the unaudited financial information of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the three months ended 31 March 2021;

reviewed interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the period ended 30 June 2021,
management and internal control system for the first half of 2021

execution of their risk

and internal audit and risk management plan for the second half
of 2021 etc.;

reviewed the unaudited financial information of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the nine months ended 30 September

2021; and

reviewed the 2021 audit plan, 2021 internal review work plan
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adjustment and the remedy for deficiencies in internal control of ETEl - 2021 F A LT 8158 % [ 2020
the Company and its subsidiaries in 2020. FIERFERSIER -
The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set out in ~ FEZZEEMEMEFLHEI TR
the table below:
Attended/
Members of the Audit Committee Eligible to attend
EREEERE BERHETHERE
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (Chairman) BEIRSE(EE) 5/5
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng ZlpElgE + 5/5
Mr. Huang Min BRALA 5/5

Pursuant to the code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code, the Audit
Committee should meet with the Company’s auditors at least twice a

year.

During the Review Period, the Company had met the auditors

twice.

RIBBFERT

>=

BMEREDIIGMRTE - B

ZEQREFEVEARFZBESHEHMR °

FEEESHA - ARRIENZBENGEMIX

EEES

BERIERBERDA / — T —FFR 87




Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, namely Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Zhang Jianbing, the executive Director. Dr. Liu Xiaofeng is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
determined by the Board,;

3. to adopt the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) by making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. These include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions of
the Group;

6.  to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8. to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) BEEZEEH)

Remuneration Committee (Continued) TMEES(H)

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are  ZHEHZE B & )22 [ B A & B 72 B 22 BT ] A B
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. MAub A HEA o

During the Review Period, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee T_—EIEIEEHHW HMMEE@RIT T —xeE 0 A
was held to discuss and consider the following matters: A mll A T RIR

*  reviewed and discussed the performance evaluation and an o  FZREHR2020FE A TERNEZ K 12
analysis of bonus distribution and staff cost for the year 2020; SEW - NIRRT

. reviewed remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and o ER2REELSREIEASNTIEK
senior management; RN IR

J reviewed and discussed the suspension of granting of share e ERRREERTHORESRE &
option incentive; and

o reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee. e BTN EEeEEBESRE

The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is FHMEE @K ENHFLERE K
set out in the table below:

Attended/
Members of the Remuneration Committee Eligible to attend
FHMESERE BERHRE W HERE
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (Chairman) RlEgE L (EE) 1/1
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BER L 1/1
Mr. Zhang Jianbing B v 1/
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members, being Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Ming Zaiyuan, the executive Director and chairman of the Board. Mr.
Ming Zaiyuan is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer; and

5. toreview the Board diversity policy and the Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to assume the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the Review Period, a meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held to discuss and consider the following matters:

. reviewed the structure, size, composition and the Board diversity
policy and its implementation;

o reviewed and considered election, retirement and re-election of
Directors;

. reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee;

J reviewed the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and
o reviewed the resignation and appointment of Directors.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The attendance record of the Nomination Committee members is set
out in the table below:

BEEZEE®H
BEEEE ()

EEFESN  BEEEEQRTT—RE
SR REEUTEE

I

% A

k=11

s EREFENRBE - A AKRNZT
LR REANTIER :

s ERUEBEFMES  REMEE:

s ERRBAZEENZTHBERE

o ERBUIFMTERNBEIUIME AR

s EREBRINERLRE-

RAZSENEMBRHBE LY X R ARF
ABuh Al &R -

BEREZBEENBEMHFELERIL TR

Attended/
Members of the Nomination Committee Eligible to attend
REZEEERE BERHEWHERE
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) BREELEE(FE) 1”7
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng g+ 1”1
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERTE 1
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Strategic Development Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Strategic Development
Committee consists of three members, being Dr. Yang Ruizhao and
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander, the independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Yan Danhua, the executive Director. Dr. Yang
Ruizhao is the chairman of the Strategic Development Committee.

The principal duties of the Strategic Development Committee include
the following:

1. to review and evaluate the investment strategies, annual
investment plan(s) proposed by senior management and the
chairman of the Board and the relevant risk management policy
of the Company and make recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and evaluate the investment opportunities of the
Company and issue opinion for long-term development plan
(including mergers and acquisition, joint venture and equity
investments) proposed by senior management and the chairman
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board;

3. to review and evaluate significant investment projects pursued
under the Company’s investment strategy and annual investment
plan, review and approve the issue of non-binding indicative
offers or letter of intent, and make recommendations to the
Board on final proposals of significant investment projects;

4. to review and assess, in addition to new opportunities, the
ongoing investment strategy, technical merits and risks
associated with existing development and exploration projects,
including the annual reserve and resource assessments and make
recommendations to the Board;

5. to supervise the implementation of the above-mentioned matters
duly approved by the Board and assess periodically the
Company’s capacity to conduct technical work and the
Company'’s approach in managing technical risk associated with
above matters;

6. to advise management from time to time on the engagement of
appropriate external financial and technical advisors in
connection with material acquisitions or divestitures, including a

review of the terms of their proposed compensation; and

7. other matters as delegated by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Strategic Development Committee (Continued)

The written terms of reference of the Strategic Development
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

During the Review Period, two meetings of Strategic Development
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed the reports relating to the technical summary and
development update of existing concessions of the Company;

J reviewed the reports relating to strategic consideration and
development of the Company;

J reviewed the proposal relating to Five-Year Strategic
Development Plan of the Company; and

o reviewed the terms of reference of the Strategic Development
Committee.

The attendance record of the Strategic Development Committee
members is set out in the table below:

BEEZEE®H

BHERESE (&)

BLES 3R 2 B 6 122 D B 42 80 B 1 6 0 B TR A
ATVBUL T EE o
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% o

k=113
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= UK

o EHEMBERZESNBERE -

FEERRERZBENBEMNHFLHER TR

Attended/
Members of the Strategic Development Committee Eligible to attend
BEMBXRESENE BERHEWHERH
Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Chairman) BimAE LT (FE) 2/2
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HERTA 2/2
Mr. Yan Danhua (appointed on 26 March 2021) B EE S A (FA2021 63 A 26 B IEET) 1/1
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021) EEBE LT (202143 H 26 BEfE) 1”1

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

BEEgZnlbBR
EFROIFMTRESTILEE - RREE
TAATRERETERR I RIEARBET
B8t -

ARRZRZBERZURBFEZTERES T
1t BREESRRMER - Fik  XEERHEE
BBk BXRER - X MEMNRSE B
BR
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

The composition of the Board (includes gender, age, cultural and
educational background, profession, experience, skills and knowledge),
which is characterized by significant diversity, is disclosed in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management”.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect
of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

Pursuant to the code provision C.5.9 of the CG Code, the management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the section headed "Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this annual
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The Board is also
aware of the fact that such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management form the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
the risk management function, comprised of Legal, HSE departments
etc., aiming to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective
risk management practices by operational management throughout
the Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company's risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken
into account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these
risks. The risk assessment results are reported to senior management
and the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been
appropriately managed and decide on our priorities in risk
management, based on the Company'’s risk appetite, and in particular
how much risks the Company is willing to take for the achievement of
its strategy and business objectives, the availability of resources for risk
mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal control system.

L B B B R A R B A

EEesT
EEeREASAEIREARRRY RER
RERBARNEREREABPLEZERS U E
ERNZRFOERM - EEETBEALZ R
SEEEEMIEER R EREK B EMNE
B AEAEHABMERLHEETEAEX
KERMRIESR -

REEERANBEZRS
ARREER=ZBHGEANEERR - 2EEE
ABRFE-BHROZL  BAE—BHHEAR
o REAEHE 2EBEEABRAERN
BEMNLEERFEEPEFENRR - £
BUIRERER - HSESRIBEAEN AR ER
BiRE S EHBLRERLEREABGEART
PR E R E SR - NBBERMEEE =
BUR TBRAERS  BRAERE-LE
—EDRTIE-

RR RO ZEERGHIDE - ARFHE
EmizhE  HERRER - FEXRBRE
THEBABRABEERTDE - BRIRETH
R\ - Y IEAT R REREREE - RREES
ME R EEN R R ENIZENE -
WHIA B AR K% F R R FTER R R M BB EEHE -
RHEERASGEEEREFTERE - N
RIEARNRARRL - LHERRESAELBR
MEEBRNBERAES DER  BRERRL
BIRMBMBRITAMENREN AR EER R
KEHERBRESHEER BT EMRTREREEN
BRIRF -

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K 95




Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(Continued)

The Company’s internal control system is based on Internal Control —
Integrated Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission, and has five components, namely
Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Information
and Communication, and Monitoring Activities. The system intends to
facilitate the design and functioning of good control practices and
reduce the likelihood and impact of risks to an acceptably low level, in
order for us to achieve our objectives in operations, reporting, and
compliance.

Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statuses are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

During the Review Period, the Company continuously upgraded its
internal control system starting from corporate governance,
organisation structure and business process through risk identification
and assessment, thereby reducing operational risk while further
enhancing operational efficiency of the Company at the same time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Internal Audit Function

In order to enhance the Company’s adaptability to the business
environment, The Company established the Risk Control and
Compliance Department, which is responsible for providing effective
legal professional support for various legal matters of the Company,
handling corporate information disclosure and legal compliance
management, as well as providing value-added internal audit and
consulting services for independent review, in January 2021 by merging
the functions of the former Legal Affairs Department, the Board of
Directors’ Office and the Audit and Supervision Department. The
internal audit function reports to the Company Secretary in respect of
administration and directly to the Board and the Audit Committee in
respect of operation. The internal audit function still has the
independence required to conduct audit business.

The Company’s internal audit function plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes, i.e., to
provide independent assurance that the Company'’s risk management,
governance and internal control processes are operating effectively.
The major tasks of this function include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company’s governance, risk management and
internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of the
Company and its subsidiaries on a regular basis with recommended
action plans to audit findings. This function also provides consulting
services in risk management and internal control related issues within
the Company.

During the Review Period, the Company’s internal audit function
conducted annual independent full scope risk assessment update and
internal audit for selected areas, and reported to the management and
the Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Our Systems
The Company prepares and submits reports to the Board in relation to
risk and control at least annually, detailing how risks have been
managed and internal controls been designed and implemented in
accordance with the established risk and control frameworks, to keep
our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and achieve our business
objectives. The Board reviews the reasonableness of these reports and
representations from management and makes sufficient enquiries
whenever they feel necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

During the Review Period, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems with the application of the above review process, and
considered our risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate in both design and operations.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), for audit and other services totaled RMB3,150,000.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to PwC is set out
below:
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEE

2021
2021 F
RMB’'000
AR® T

Auditors’ remunerations ZEENE A
— Audit Service — B IR 3,150
— The Company — KA F] 2,900
— Subsidiaries — WBAF 250
— Non-audit services — B RTE -
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ming King from Vistra Hong Kong, an external service
provider, has been engaged by the Company as its joint company
secretary. The primary corporate contact persons at the Company are
Mr. Zhang Jianbing, an executive Director and Ms. Su Xiaohang,
another joint company secretary. Please refer to the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” for details of both Mr. Zhang and
Ms. Su.

During the Review Period, Mr. Chiu and Ms. Su undertook at least 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and
nonselective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to
answer Shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company
will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
Shareholders and maintains a website at http://www.aagenergy.com/,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM") by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. An EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The Directors shall within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene such meeting. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders of
the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles and the Cayman Islands Companies Act
(2021 version). Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at
general meeting may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a
written requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are published on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board and Contact Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send their
enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit 2506, 25/F

Cosco Tower

183 Queen'’s Road Central, Sheung Wan
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

xiaohang.su@aagenergy.com

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has not made any other significant changes to its
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Email:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of AAG Energy Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 109 to 189, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021;

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,;

and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

BERKEGAER  BBPRAFAET &
T 3E: +852 2289 8888 {HA: +852 2810 9888 * www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to:
o Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets and gas

properties, gas gathering stations and relating facilities and
constructions in progress.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Key Audit Matter
HREITER
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BEEFTEE @)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNATEERRETNER

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets ("E&E
Assets”) and gas properties, gas gathering stations
and relating facilities and constructions in progress
(collectively the "Relevant Gas Assets”)
BARRAGEENAAREE - SRUREBREMETE
IR (BB RRRMEEEE ] BB EFE

Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HAGMBERRMES -

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of E&E
Assets and Relevant Gas Assets of the Group amounted
to 661.6 million and 3,757.5 million (31 December 2020:
683.0 million and 3,305.0 million), respectively.

R2021 12 A31 B - AEENHREFHEEETNRAR
HEAEEREEEDHROILOABARKMITSISES
AR (20205512 A31H : 683088 ARKEF3,305.08
BARK) -

Management assessed E&E Assets and Relevant Gas
Assets for impairment whenever there are events or
changes in circumstance which indicate that the carrying
amounts of these assets may exceed their recoverable
amounts.
ERAEFHRRREZ(CBRNYRMFEEEMRARIER
BEMNEEEEBEBE RIS RN - BEEREY
REHEEEMRARBEEEETRERNE -

In addressing this matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

HRERESFFET  RFNTTUATERF:

. Understood and assessed the design,
implementation effectiveness of key process and
controls relating to the identification of impairment
indicator, determination of cash generating units and
the assessment of the recoverable amount.

o TEUWIAEBFIEBELTRENR WERESELET
N aP A AT Bl 58 B8 /Y B B A2 M AR R 15 I O AR &
KATEV A L -

° Evaluated management’s assessment of whether
events or circumstances existed at 31 December
2021, which would indicate that E&E Assets or
Relevant Gas Assets are impaired.

e FMEEEEHN2021F12A3NAREBFEA BT
AR KEIEEENAARBREERENEFEIIRE
PULEITHRTE o

o Where an impairment indicator was identified by
management, procedures were performed on their
impairment assessment, as below:

e EFERERMLTFEEAEMETRE - AHEERD
TEVRERERF

—  Compared the forecast gas prices used in the
determination of the recoverable amount of
respective cash generating unit against
historical actual gas prices;

— HKEEEAFGHEENRSELETNHAKRE
SRNRANTEANRAREREFELERX
AREIEEITHLER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREER

BHREATSHEH®
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BAMESNARERRENSEE

When indicators of impairment of E&E Assets or Relevant
Gas Assets were identified, management assessed the
recoverable amounts of the cash generating units based
on their value in use as estimated using discounted cash
flow models. In performing such assessment,
management adopted key assumptions, including:

g B IR B ATl & B AR O OB B B 7 )RR R SR A 55
i BEEUEARTRASREAGESLENAERER
RAEBHIREEABITTH AR E S REITHE - EEMEZ
BETER - EREERATUTARRER

—  Forecast gas prices;

— TERINRARER

—  Forecast production volumes;

— TEAMEES:

—  Forecast operating costs and capital expenditures;
and

— FERMEEMTHMERESL R

—  Discount rates.

—  FEE-

Because of the significant balance of E&E Assets and
Relevant Gas Assets as at 31 December 2021, together
with the use of significant management judgements over
various assumptions in estimating the recoverable
amount, we have identified this matter as a key audit
matter.

B MYl & E R A SRR RS EE R 2021 612 A 31
HREREEEMRAYEXN UREHZEEEENIKRE S
BETTER SN RERRTEZEAETENERREA
i BPISU EER R AR ETEE -
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—  Assessed the forecast production volume by
comparing it against (i) the approved
production plan for the year ending 31
December 2022; (ii) forecast production volume
for the remaining concession period prepared
by the management, which is consistent to the
information set out in the reserve report; and
(iii) historical actual production volume. We also
performed procedures to evaluate the
competence, capability and objectivity of
external reserve experts engaged by
management for preparing the reserve report;

—  STRAIAE S () B HLER B E 2022 12 A 31
Etﬁf%i%#ﬂ (i) B2 B E AR RS
A EARR A ETERIE S 'SiéisaﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂiﬁAﬁﬁ
EHRMEE B RNELERESETL
B URHRIEAIMES - I HRPIEEBERE
FHERERANGRENFERENINLERD
BE - B h REBIEETIE

—  Assessed the forecast operating costs against (j)
the approved budget; and (ii) the historical
actual costs;

— %ﬁwmwﬁﬁiﬁﬁ VRS HEERTER ¢ (i)
RS BRR ST HETTHE

—  Compared the forecast capital expenditures
against (i) the approved budget; and (ii) the
historical actual costs;

—  HIEAAENES RO LHENTEE ¢ &)
B BT R EITHOR

— Compared the discount rate with external
market data and published information of
comparable companies;

— IR EEIEBHISERA LR RNRFE
BETHER

— Tested mathematical accuracy of the
discounted cash flow projections.

— RERRRESRERAFTENEREE -

Based on our work, no significant exception has been
noticed.

ERNEMHTHE REREREET -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hon Chong Heng.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022

(If these is any inconsistency between the English and Chinese version
of the independent auditor’s report, the English version shall prevail.)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
2021 2020 F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
B =E AR®T AREEF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE « TR &E 6 4,478,379 3,994,259
Right-of-use assets FREEE 7 59,435 65,579
Intangible assets By AE 8 24,198 29,742
Restricted bank deposits SREIERITIER 13 60,230 55,048
Investments in associates HEE R AIRE 9 242,985 -
Other financial assets at amortised cost A& K At ENHMEREE 10 55,000 -
Other non-current assets HitndEme&EE 309 142
4,920,536 4,144,770
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 11,049 9,822
Other current assets HEMnEEE 101,146 21,873
Trade and other receivables JE U BR 2 K EL 4 rE U =X 11 1,226,536 1,071,411
Term deposits with initial terms of 1134 HABR A A = 8 B &9 E BATF 3k
over three months 13 200,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents RENRBEEEY 13 1,626,675 1,790,505
3,165,406 2,893,611
Total assets BEE 8,085,942 7,038,381
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of BEREALRREENER
the Company
Share capital [N 14 2,080 2,079
Share premium A% AR (B 3,522,168 3,869,806
Other reserves Hib 15 276,058 279,392
Retained earnings Bz 2,625,244 1,809,565
Total equity R 6,425,550 5,960,842
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®ET T AREFIT
LIABILITIES af&
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Asset retirement obligations BEEERB 16 150,695 20,120
Non-current lease liabilities ERBHEHEAR 7 41,914 40,357
Deferred income tax liabilities FEIEFSHaE 17 478,061 437,612
670,670 498,089
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JEAST BR 3R N ELAth FE 5 3R 18 803,599 468,169
Current income tax liabilities EHIFM SR AR 172,390 94,572
Current lease liabilities mEEEAaE 7 13,733 16,709
989,722 579,450
Total liabilities BMeF 1,660,392 1,077,539
Total equity and liabilities BWEZLEE 8,085,942 7,038,381

The notes on pages 114 to 189 are an integral part of these F114BZE189EMMTRAEHUBEHREKN
consolidated financial statements. BEEHD -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 189 were #1009 B £ 189 A MBI MK A EE T 12022
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 and were signed 3 A30 B#it/fE - WHERKEE
on its behalf.

Director Director
EF EF
Yan Danhua Zhang Jianbing
BE REES
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

B mERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2021 2020
2021 2020 F
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
B =E AR®T ARETFIT
Revenue WA 19 1,739,226 1,038,524
Other income EblUg A 20 251,875 240,368
Other gains, net HAAG — HE 18,022 2,095
Operating expenses BERX
Depreciation and amortisation e N EsY (396,523) (271,368)
Employee benefit expenses EEEAMAY 21 (102,901) (73,372)
Exploration expenses RS (50,280) -
Materials, services and logistics MR RS RYin (283,644) (190,831)
Net impairment losses on TRIEEREFRELX
financial assets (9,757) (7,600)
Others HAth (17,819) (14,187)
Total operating expenses KEETEE (860,924) (557,358)
Profit from operations ReEFHE 1,148,199 723,629
Finance income s e 22 24,522 33,237
Finance costs M ER 22 (5,750) (4,834)
Exchange losses i H 18k 22 (8,597) (9,459)
Finance income, net Mgl ss — FE 10,175 18,944
Share of net loss of associates JEIRIRRE A A BR B 2 A 7] 9
accounted for using LA EE
the equity method (14,052) -
Profit before income tax Bk Fr 18 % B A8 23 1,144,322 742,573
Income tax expense FriEfi &R 24 (328,643) (232,277)
Profit attributable to owners of BERANTFEENEERNE
the Company for the year 815,679 510,296
Other comprehensive income: Hibmmas
Items that may be reclassified HiE gk ESHE Ea B H
subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences SN & =R (1,663) (31,692)
Total comprehensive income BEBRAQARMEEN
attributable to owners of FEFREWRHEE
the Company for the year 814,016 478,604
Earnings per share (RMB) BERUFE (AR T)
— Basic — HAx 25 0.240 0.150
— Diluted — e 25 0.240 0.150
The notes on pages 114 to 189 are an integral part of these HF114BEZ189EMMEREAAHMBREN
consolidated financial statements. BEEE D o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOREEEE X

Attributable to owners of the Company

BEREDANAEE
Share Share Other Retained Total
capital premium reserves earnings equity

BA BRARE  HttRE W Bk L $:3
Note ~ RMB'OO0 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'O0  RMB'000  RMB'000

M ARBTE ARRTT ARETT ARBTT ARETRH

As at 1 January 2020 M2020F1 810 2,079 4,231,210 311,084 1,299,269 5,843,642
Comprehensive income FewhE
Profit for the year EFEME - - - 510,296 510,296
Currency translation differences  SMEIFTEZEE - - (31,692) - (31,692)
- - (31,692) 510,296 478,604
Transactions with owners HTEENRS
Dividends 5 e 26 - (361,404) - - (361,404)
- (361,404) - - (361,404)
As at 31 December 2020 M2020F12A31H 2,079 3,869,806 279,392 1,809,565 5,960,842
As at 1 January 2021 M2021F1 818 2,079 3,869,806 279,392 1,809,565 5,960,842
Comprehensive income FehE
Profit for the year EEFE = = = 815,679 815,679
Currency translation differences  JME& I E =58 - - (1,663) - (1,663)
- - (1,663) 815,679 814,016
Transactions with owners HTEENRS
Exercise of options TR E 14 1 3,157 (1,671) - 1,487
Dividends 5 e 26 - (350,795) - - (350,795)
1 (347,638) (1,671) - (349,308)
As at 31 December 2021 M2021F12A31H 2,080 3,522,168 276,058 2,625,244 6,425,550
The notes on pages 114 to 189 are an integral part of these HF114BZ189EMMERAAHUBHREN
consolidated financial statements. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2021 2020
2021 2020 F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
i ARET T ARBF T
Cash flows from operating activities K& EFHHLRE
Cash generated from operations KRBTSR S 27 1,577,532 662,466
Interest paid ERAFE (3,707) (4,096)
Income tax paid BEAIEIER (210,376) (124,104)
Net cash generated from KRBTSR S F5
operating activities 1,363,449 534,266
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEESRE
Purchases of property, plant and BETHE  LTHEXRE
equipment and intangible assets NRBEAE (699,239) (504,085)
Increase in restricted bank deposits SR B8R 1T 17 R AN (5,182) (5,153)
(Increase)/decrease in term deposits with #]26 EBR R =& A &Y
initial terms of over three months FEHFEROGEM), SR (200,000) 47,308
Payments for financial assets at fair value BBEMNUAREBETEAH
through profit or loss B ABRRNEREE (789,345) (155,900)
Payments for financial assets at BE ARG ERN
amortised cost Hih e Rh&E (207,957) -
Loans to third party ME=FRHEER (3,452) -
Investments to associates HEta NmRE (234,388) -
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at HENAAEBEFZAH
fair value through profit or loss HE T A BTN REE 790,156 157,523
Proceeds from repayment of BN LA BRA AN ET R 1Y
financial assets at amortised cost EMemEEEER 166,124 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HETEE - TR E
plant and equipment PTG RIE 741 1
Interest received B U F & 14,996 29,272
Net cash used in investing activities RERETRIR G R (1,167,546) (431,034)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBHHRERE
Proceeds from exercise of options TR BB AR PTG RIE 1,481 -
Principal elements of lease payments BEEHEaERS (6,194) (8,901)
Dividends paid to the Company's BT T
shareholders (351,120) (358,755)
Net cash used in financing activities REEHTREIR S F5E (355,833) (367,656)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBELEEYHLS FHE
cash equivalents (159,930) (264,424)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#38 & RIREHEY
of the year 13 1,790,505 2,083,931
Exchange losses on cash and Re KA EEYETIEBL
cash equivalents (3,900) (29,002)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FXRBEERREZEY
the year 13 1,626,675 1,790,505
The notes on pages 114 to 189 are an integral part of these F114BEE189EMNM TR EAAHUBREN
consolidated financial statements. BEgES o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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114

GENERAL INFORMATION

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in
exploration, development and production of coalbed methane
("CBM") in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). The
Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 23 December 2014. The address of
the Company's registered office is P.O. Box 31119, Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1205, Cayman Islands.

The Group conducts its business through two Production Sharing
Contracts ("PSC") entered into with China United Coalbed
Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") and China National
Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC") (authorizing its subsidiary
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”)) for Panzhuang and
Mabi concessions respectively in Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province
of the PRC.

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP”) of Panzhuang concession
was approved by the National Development and Reform
Commission (“NDRC") of the PRC on 28 November 2011, which
allowed Panzhuang concession to enter into commercial
development phase. On 1 November 2016, Panzhuang
concession entered into production phase after the Joint
Management Committee ("JMC") approved and announced
based on the terms of Panzhuang PSC. The ODP of the Southern
Area of Mabi concession was approved by NDRC in September
2018. With this approval, the Southern Area of Mabi concession
is eligible for commercial development. On 1 January 2020, the
Southern Area of Mabi concession entered into production phase
after the JMC approved and announced based on the terms of
Mabi PSC. As at 31 December 2021, the Northern Area of Mabi
concession was still in exploration phase.

The Company's initial public offering (“IPO") of its shares on the

Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was
completed on 23 June 2015.
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GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

In 2018, Liming Holding Limited (“Liming”), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, controlled through Sichuan Liming Energy
Development Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Liming”), of Xinjiang Xintai
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. ("XTRQ"), a company incorporated in the
PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603393), acquired approximately 50.5% of issued shares of the
Company.

The Directors regard Liming, Sichuan Liming and XTRQ as its
immediate parent entity, intermediate parent entity and the
ultimate parent entity of the Company respectively subsequent
to the completion of the takeover (“Change of Control”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”) and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance
Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)
(@) New and amended standards adopted by the (a) AEBEEEMAFITREHEE
Group 28|
The Group has applied the following amendments for AEER2021F1H1H A
the first time for their annual reporting period MR FEmS B ERARA
commencing 1 January 2021: ATMERT -
e Covid-19-related Rent Concessions — o  HETEEBEHEENHES
Amendments to HKFRS 16 BE — HKEBMBR
HAERZE 16 FRIMEET
o Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 — o HAER KW E(F
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, B) — K& B M5
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 EFERAFIR) (FE

SFERIE39H) (F
W s R ET
) (BAEMBREE
A5 458 )M E B R/ 15
HEERF 165 E

I
The amendments listed above did not have any L aitE 5T I 2K %5 LA BT HA 8 A
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods RS EHEKEAZE - I
and are not expected to significantly affect the current BEEt A& & Al sk R 2R EA
or future periods. MEEEATE -
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet (b) MERFEMNIFEARFERE

adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments and ZIAFTE R ER] - BFT kR

interpretations have been published that are not EE B MHEDER2021F

mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting periods 12 A 31 B#) R 5 HAfE 08 ) e

and have not been early adopted by the Group. A mAEEIVER SRR o

e Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- o TREBEEMIIERDAERE
current — Amendments to HKAS 1 Mo — ¥KEBGE

AERIZE 1 FROMERT

° Disclosure of Accounting Policies — ° SRR EE — (A
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice BEETERIE 15 )M
Statement 2 (BERUBHREERE

TSRS 25 B ET

o Definition of Accounting Estimates — D ST ESRE — ¥

Amendments to HKAS 8 (BEGTTERIER)
HERT

o Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities D MBIBERXFEENEE
arising from a Single Transaction — MEFEHEEELTRE
Amendments to HKAS 12 T — ¥KEBGFEL

FE1250)RER]

These standards, amendments or interpretations are BE AR - (E5] sk R TE B
not expected to have a material impact on the entity g R E Al ek R R RS HB
in the current or future reporting periods and on BIES EE@LA&—JE_}F&%Q%
foreseeable future transactions. ERNEATE
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHERBE®

118

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries 22 HWEAFE
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over M B N B A2 35 AN E5 (B L A 1 ) 4
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity MNER(BIEEBIEER) A%
where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable BE2EZEEMES N E A A&
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the Btz - WA NBBEEND
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the EEEEEE M EZ O H®RET - 8
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated AEBEHZEREGIEHE - 8B
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. REAEHEEREAER AR
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 2HEAPFARR o FRORIEIEHIELR

b7 Bz IEaptARR -

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on EFRNIR S ERATERXSE
transactions between group companies are eliminated. EWMHEBRERERKNRSEER
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction i o REIBEEL Y BRIEM
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred RGEETEREEREBENTE -
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries RUEBERSHHEARIFT2Re5E
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's EHABRUFE RSB T
accounting policies. & o

2.3 Production Sharing Contract 23 EmoHKER

The Group's exploration, development and production
activities are primarily conducted through PSCs which
establish joint control over the exploration, development
and production activities. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflects:

(i) The Group's assets used in joint operations;

(i) Any liabilities that the Group has incurred;

Any income from the sale or use the Group's share of

the output of the production, together with its share
of any expenses incurred in the production; and

(iv)

Any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect
of its interest in the production.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued) 23 EmaHKER &)

The Group's PSCs comprise of three phases: the
exploration phase, development phase and production
phase. Costs incurred with respect to exploration activities
within the PSC contract areas are solely borne by the
Group. All costs incurred subsequent to the date of the
approval of ODP are treated as development costs and
provided by the Group and the PSC partners in the
proportion of their respective participating interests.
Operating costs incurred for the production operation shall
be borne by the Group and the PSC partners in proportion
to their share of the output of the CBM productions in each
concession.

Pursuant to the Panzhuang and Mabi PSCs, the annual
gross production of CBM, after payment of value-added tax
("VAT") and royalties, is allocated into Cost Recovery CBM
and Remainder CBM.

(@) Cost Recovery CBM

Cost Recovery CBM is the CBM allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for recovery of the
operating costs, as well as the exploration costs and
development costs. 70% and 80% of annual gross
production of CBM is deemed as Cost Recovery CBM
under the Panzhuang and Mabi PSC, respectively.
Cost Recovery CBM is allocated until all costs incurred
by each party have been fully recovered. Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated as follows:

(i) Prior to the production phase, Cost Recovery
CBM s firstly applied to recover costs incurred
during the exploration phase of the PSC and
once such costs have been fully recovered, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated to recover costs
incurred during the development phase.

AEENERSRARE S =@k
B BEREE - BRERREER
B - BLEMDKE RREEBRE
B PTEE AN 22 BP R AN SR AR o
RERBESREMBZERMELS
BB AR 1 5 8 AR AN p AR SR 8] e
EmOKERAETREEA2HE
RSO TE - AEBEMELN
BERAEAANEENERDKE
REET ARG S RBRERE
B BIAE

REBEEHEMBSUOERDKAER -
BB R 2 AR B A HRE (B T
(MBEMRD RERE L HERRRD
A2 B R EKREREREER

(a) EABRUKSER
BARKABSERAEE
MERDKEREERAE
WAE & KN+ BV IR AN BA I
FAERANEER - EHEK
ENEROKERTHAE
70% F180% ) /& [E & & [ 48
EEWRRAEBHALNKR - &
ARl RESRREESHE
EREEERABWE ALE
ERRBWRSBENT ¢

() EERERA BROK
RELEBRKREERD
A& R BV ER B B P EE £
A —BERREKRAZ
EREIUE - B R
DEEREEERELD
A
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

Cost Recovery CBM (Continued)

120

(a)

(i)

After the PSC enters the production phase, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated according to the
following mechanism:

Operating cost recovery: payment in kind for
the operating costs actually incurred but not yet
recovered by each party.

Exploration and development cost recovery:
after operating costs have been fully recovered,
the Cost Recovery CBM is allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for the recovery of
exploration and development costs. Exploration
costs, 100% of which are borne by the Group,
are fully recovered before development costs
can be recovered. Upon the full recovery of
exploration costs, any remaining Cost Recovery
CBM is allocated between the Group and the
PSC partners for the recovery of development
costs according to the respective participating
interests in the CBM concessions.

For the purpose of recovery, exploration costs
do not include any interest, while development
costs include a deemed interest calculated at a
fixed compound interest rate of 9% per annum.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued) 23 EmaHKER &)
(b) Remainder CBM (b) EREER
Remainder CBM represents the remainder annual HERAKEBEREFEZH
gross CBM production after payment of VAT, royalties FriGER BRI FERE
and allocation to Cost Recovery CBM. & B REYCGE D Biig BUEREE
The Remainder CBM is further divided into allocable BRERE — D BDKEM
remainder CBM and share CBM. The allocable BRR - DR ER BT H
remainder CBM equals to the total remainder CBM R —ERB(X) » T BB K
multiplied by a factor (X) and the share CBM equals RERBRERBD KA © &
the Remainder CBM minus the allocable remainder BEXBREERDEKERTE
CBM. The factor (X) is determined in accordance with N EREBFES RERD
a set of successive incremental tiers on the basis of —RABEEBIRE o DK
the annual gross CBM production as set out in the ABRBEASBEHEHEMDSNE
PSCs. The allocable remainder CBM is allocated BEERFSERERDKE
between the Group and the PSC partner according to Ar2EERZEDE - 8
the respective participating interest in the PSC. Share PR 100% D LR Em DK E
CBM is allocated 100% to the PSC partner. R&1ER °
2.4 Segment reporting 24 FEE/E
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent LESHFRETNEREBEE
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating REEREOANIBHRE AR —2 -
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is BEENARTEERNTERRES
responsible for allocating resources and assessing TELERRE BEORERYL
performance of the operating segments, has been FHEEE D IR LS -
identified as the directors and chief executive of the
Company.
2.5 Foreign currency translation 25 HNBINE
(@) Functional and presentation currency (a) THEERFIFREM
Items included in the financial statements of each of AEEZFENMBHREAN
the Group's entities are measured using the currency FITBBHAZ T EBME
of primary economic environment in which the entity BREPFIRENE R ([I)8E
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional B FTE - AR AR 8L
currency of the Company is US$, whereas the EBEEZL MEPEMNE
functional currency of the production sharing projects mOKAERIBEENIEEE
in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial AR - a0t B mA LA
statements are presented in RMB. AREEBIHR -
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

122

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
within “exchange gains/(losses)”.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income

("OCI").

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2. EESHBEXBE®)
2.5 SEFE(E)

(b)

()

R 5 R &R
SNERSHERAR S BEER
ERMELSREER - HE
B HR AR 5 B A RO I 5L A 1S A
BRIA NI F R E R E L
SNEFTENEREERAR
EEMERNESNRRES
PR S R R ER -

BRRE MR FEMHE
REEBRAEERERA
[ 5 e, (#EK) ] 5 -

SEATH
DREEBEIFEE RN
PESEER(EHERER
EMAREE TER) XS
R BIRRIBA T AR E
RYNREH

() BhEERERTHNE
EMBEREEAEBR
BT R

(i) BHHEEEmEROBA
RERLTFHEXRGE
(BRIFLULFE KW IR 5
REXRGZENEHE
EME - BB T
WAMERERZ B
MEXRFE) &

(il FTERNELENEEY
EEBEAEHEMES R
RRER o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, other than exploration and

2.6

evaluation assets and construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Other than gas properties, depreciation of each asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:

2. EESHBEXBE®)

TEE ITHRESRE

B E - TREEE(BIEME
BEREZETIRRIN HUELRK
KBEBZFITENMREYITR - EE
RABEEEFBNIEIEE MFT
BRAX -

BRERAESEEIARFARRK
BN BRI ERAAREE - X
THE BRI AR A SRt & - )5
SABENREEERERS —
HEFEE(WERA) - B BRI
RREEE T AR ILER - A E
e Mg EBEES 2 V5 HRA]
FFAG BRI °

BRTRAREBE - SEENNER

HRARF R EEERGEFHERSF

MR ABRETE - TBE - TH
RENEHERFEHOT

Estimated useful lives

fhat I 6 A 58

Gas gathering station and relating facilities
SR N AE R

Building and structures

BT REEY

Vehicles

B

Furniture, fittings and others
FRIE - REREM

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2. EESHBEXBE®)

2.6 TEE  ITHRZEE)

124

2.7

Construction in progress represents development costs
occurred after the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable
and the buildings, machinery and equipment for which the
construction work has not been completed. It is carried at
cost which includes construction expenditures and other
direct costs less any impairment losses. Upon completion,
the development costs recorded in construction in progress
are transferred to gas properties. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until they are
completed and available for use.

Spare parts are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment when (a) they can be used only in connection
with an item of property, plant and equipment; or (b) the
Group expects to use them during more than one year.
Other spare parts are classified as inventory.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains/(losses)” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation expenditures mainly include
acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological,
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling,
sampling and activities in relation to evaluating the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a
mineral resource.

During initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on a
project after it has reached a stage at which there is a high
degree of confidence in its viability is capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets. If a project does not
prove viable, all irrecoverable expenditures associated with
the project are expensed in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

Costs of exploratory wells are capitalised and evaluated for
economic viability within one year after completion of
drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes if
it is determined that such economic viability is not attained.

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less
impairment provisions. Exploration and evaluation assets
are reclassified to gas properties when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral
resource are demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may
exceed its recoverable amount, and also tested for
impairment immediately prior to reclassification to gas
properties.

Gas properties

Gas properties include drilling costs, exploration and
evaluation costs, development costs and other direct costs
attributable to the gas production properties. Gas
properties are depreciated based on the unit of production
method. Unit of production rates are based on proved and
probable gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from
whole concessions based on the current terms of the
respective PSC and taking into account estimated future
development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software. Acquired
computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 10 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

2. EESHBEXBE®)
210 ke MEERE

126

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows which are largely independently of
the cash flows from other assets or group of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet date.

2.11 Investments in associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting, after initially being
recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments in associates (Continued) 211 HEE QA TRE (B)
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its REBEABE AT A IR
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's BERWEAREFN LS X Ea R
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also SmAERTFULEE -  AEREBEITT
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an A¥3E - BRIEZ R SHIRHEBRET
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of FrE R 8 E D RE - BE N EETIX
equity-accounted investees have been changed where RERFEEHNE - UBRER
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted SERANEERFAE B
by the Group.
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is EZEABRMIRE - HEEmAER
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy FRBT 5E 2.10 Bt B9 BR R HE 7T RUEDR
described in Note 2.10. A e
2.12 Financial assets 212¢WMEE
(a) Classification (a) 28
The Group classifies its financial assets in the AEBZUTHEENES
following measurement categories: BB EEITHLE
e those to be measured subsequently at fair value e BEUAALEMERFE
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), (BEE#EFHT AH ML
and alESER) NS
e those to be measured at amortised cost. o DESAAFENEE
BEE ©
The classification depends on the entity's business ZOBRIUANERERESRH
model for managing the financial assets and the BEMEBERNUALZE
contractual terms of the cash flows. BEENESRBERERH
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and BEHEEEEZSEENE
only when its business model for managing those B BES(E  KNEF
assets changes. THEBREETESR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

128

(b)

(c)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit or
loss.

2. EESHBEXBE®)

212 SREE (8)
(c) FEE)
BEEITA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

130

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through OCI,
except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other
gains/(losses). Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other
gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

2.13 Inventories

(a)

Material, spare parts and consumables with low
value

Material, spare parts and consumables with low value
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
cost method. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

2. EESHBEXBE®)

212&WMEE(E)
() FE(E)
EHETA(E)
e NURAREEF=EEEE
Bt A8 AEA M
BRI BARR
BEITEZEEFHIA

(d)

21318
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Inventories (Continued)

2. EESHBEXBE®)

213 FE (&)

132

(b) Raw materials, work in progress and finished
goods
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises raw material costs, pipeline
transportation costs associated with purchasing raw
materials and outsourced processing costs. Costs are
assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis
of weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for gas
sold in the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Other receivables are mainly government grants due from
government and PSC partners and cash call due from PSC
partners, which are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

See Note 11 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade and other receivables and Note 3.1(a)
for a description of the Group's impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)
2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits

BEEESHBEREE®

215 B RESEEY
RekBReEEMBRERS - 7k
B ERAIR 1T s N R B BREAMR &
=B A A TR EHTFK -

held at call with banks and term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.16 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 14).

2.16 JRA
LB DA AED (HFE14) -

EERBR BT REN
Y& PR P S SRR R FORL (2 A BR
PR °

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade payables 217 BERERR

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after
the reporting period.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in OCI or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in OCI or
directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the
Group companies operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

134

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

218 EHIRIEZLEFTBH (8)

(c) Offsetting
Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and tax liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.19 Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits, that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled.

The Group participates in defined contribution plans
operated by relevant government authorities. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan which the Group pays to
the relevant government authorities contributions
calculated according to the bases and percentage
prescribed. When employees retire, the relevant
government authorities are obliged to pay the pensions to
them. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised and allocated to related cost
of assets and expenses based on different beneficiaries.
There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) to offset existing contributions
under the defined contribution schemes.

All Chinese employees of the Group also participate in
other social security plans, including medical, housing and
other welfare benefits, organised and administered by the
government authorities. According to the relevant
regulations, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions
that should be borne by the Group are calculated based on
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a
certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare
authorities.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition

2. EESHBEXBE®)

2.20 A TERR

136

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts and VAT.

Sales of gas

The Group produces and sells gas. Sales of gas are
recognised when control of the gas has transferred, being
when the gas is delivered to the customers. The amount of
revenue is recognised based on the terms of the PSCs and
gas sales agreements.

2.21 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred with no future related
costs, such as refund of VAT paid and subsidies granted
according to CBM production, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Note 20
provides further information on how the Group accounts for
government grants.
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BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Share-based compensation

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates two equity-settled share-based
compensation plans, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options and restricted share unit) of the
Company. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options and
restricted share unit is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options and
restricted share unit granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the Group over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or to hold shares for a
specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of the equity instruments
that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received from the exercise
of options net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (and share
premium).

2. EESHBEXBE®)

2.22 ARG 19 B E 1R 9 SR
(a) UEZLEUROGCAEBRHN
]

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K

AEBEELMBREISGEET
AR oD 3 EBE ey BN 5T &)
RIRZATE - K EER KR
BMRGESAEEERT
A(BREMZRG RN E
) HRME - BRI RBEE T
FE AR AN 2 IR I B Bz
REBRBOAABEERR
ER-RBERBERANEDSE
SER T BIRENZR I
NEMNATEEERE

BRI S E A R
(BlEnEEBAAME) :

o IEREEMARBMIET
5B (P& T
BT - HERRBEREM
ERERHARENE
ER)NEE K

o BREEMIERITREGEN

VR E (DR B R

IR 7 A S B D
HIRE)

ERBRERTHRER
BRTHEENMBERERT
R BRE - £RBS B
R ARBEKBIFMHESE
MARF R EFT S BRI
TH DR T AZBB MGG -
EEHRaRaRERYR
HENEFT(NE)NTE
I SRR R h AR

EITERBBER - AAR]#%
TTRTBR o 1716 i A A U HR A
PIERBEHRENEER S
PAFT AR (FIBR A5 (B ©

137




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Share-based compensation (Continued)

138

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
at a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the equity instruments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at
the date of modification.

If a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled
during the vesting period, the Company shall account
for the cancellation or settlement as an acceleration
of vesting, and shall therefore recognise immediately
the amount that otherwise would have been
recognised for services received over the remainder
of the vesting period.

Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the
Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment
in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding
credit to equity in the parent company entity
accounts.

2.23 Interest income
Interest income is presented as finance income where it is

earned from financial assets that are held for cash

management purposes. Interest income is calculated by

applying the effective interest rate.
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BOFM IR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Provision-Asset retirement obligation
Asset retirement obligation for environmental restoration is

2. EESHBEXBE®)

224t — EEEEEK
EAEBRBEEHMELEREH

recognised when: the Group has a present constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation

EER - WAIREFEAERIMHIA
wEER Bemegr sElEt
AREREERERENEERE

and the amount has been reliably estimated. E7 o
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the MAEZIEENET EEEsE
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is BERREOAREM - B RIEE

determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Asset retirement obligation is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Asset retirement obligation are measured at the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.25 Lease

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset

BRI BEEE - MEER —EH

BRIFTE 2 R ER —

(EREESRIEEEED

BRRHH A g EEIR - DFE R

BEREERK -

EEREZHRRERLFRE

=S
BB

BB A A R F BB SR ER

g E%'J“X’Jiﬂﬁ%”‘ﬂ—iﬁﬁ
BRZEHHNRE

5105 R R
A/\ H:|_1E . H_f

Fe ) 7 241 10 28 700 E’Jﬁéﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬂw

FASE °

22588

AEBEGEHEEENHEERNE
B ERR SEAEEENAR

is available for use by the Group. ON=NER

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease SRR B SHEEKE D
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the JEEEMAK D - AEBENEA
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on SHMKE D BEIETHERKE D E
their relative stand-alone prices. BEBBHLASESRLE -

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include

HEEANEEME BRBAEETT
EEE - HMERBERENATEE

the net present value of the following lease payments: R EER)FIRE -
e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed e BEENRE(BEEEETEN
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; FEE) R EAERNEE
B
e variable lease payment that are based on an index or . HEREHS R T a &
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at HENNE KA %ﬂ 5 HABH
the commencement date; iR BRI Bt RET A
ETE
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Lease (Continued) 225 HE (&)

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under o AEERBEHREERBE
residual value guarantees; EEREE

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is . AEBESEEEBITEANE
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and EREENITREER S &

*  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the e HEHEHREEAEEKIT
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option. ERIZEMNB L TIRIEEE

BEIREHE -

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay
to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

“$EIAIEEEEH#??1EZ§2‘H31%
R HENRELAARBNG
Ef e

MENRBRHEERNSFIRITE -
AEBNHERNSFNXBTERELE
BT EIBERT  BEAER
ABPIESERFIE - BIEAHEATE
PEEERIE TSR EAEEER
BEEANEE - FEUER AN
IR RS A E & MBS EF

environment with similar terms, security and conditions. R o
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: BIETFIBE BN E - KEEE

FERIBEERBRT » AEFEA

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing

received by the individual lessee as a starting point, AW ENE=ZFTmE A
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions o WHETHBARRE
since third party financing was received; BGHEEBKRIE=ZFREEN
Bt
. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free o HRTHARESE=ZTmE
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by MNASEFENEE  HA
the Group, which does not have recent third party DA 48 5 B 1) R R R BE 9 200
financing; and - WRREERNERRR
EITHE R
e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, e HHHAEMEFTERAE W
country, currency and security. HEH - BHIXR - ‘éﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ °
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHBEXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Lease (Continued) 2258 (&)

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take effect.
When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or
rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and
adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While
the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of buildings
and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Dividends
Dividends distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk),
liquidity risk and concentration risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Credit risk
(i) Risk management
Credit risk of the Group arises from cash at
bank, trade and other receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost.

As the majority of the cash at bank are placed
with state-owned and international banks and
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong,
and there has been no recent history of default
in relation to these banks and financial
institutions, the corresponding credit risk is
relatively low.

The Group has controls in place to assess the
credit quality of its customers, taking into
account of their financial positions, past
experience and other factors. The Group's sales
were only made to the customers with good
credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored.
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BOFM IR M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. B¥EAREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEERKBEE(E)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) ERREKE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) THEEHRE
The Group has financial assets that are subject AEBMUTEESR
to the expected credit loss model: BEBEANEHRERE
KIRAL -
—  trade receivables; — R
—  notes receivables; — RBWRERE:
—  other receivables; and —  HMERF X
—  other financial assets at amortised cost — LAESRR A E
HEM A E
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject HeMREEEYWMNA
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the BIEE BT EHRE 2R
identified impairment loss was immaterial. FIRAMEZR - B
EHERARER KT T
BR-
For trade and notes receivables, the Group ThE W ER R M R N B 1R
applies the simplified approach to measuring s NEERABL
expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime FAEGEEHERE
expected loss allowance for all trade and notes % BNE P FEMBR X
receivables. K R E IR R AT

B TERIR RS -
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group assesses the expected credit losses
on an individual basis and grouped basis. As for
the grouped basis, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, and then recalculates their
respective historical credit loss information. The
historical credit loss rate are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the consumer price index
to be the most relevant factors and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rate based on
expected changes in these factors.

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at
31 December reconcile to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

3.

BEERERE @)
3.1 B¥EREZE(E)
ERRK(E)

(a)

(i1)

THEENRE (B)
ZRER [ 42 {8 Bl B M 4H
BEEFEEMERE
K-HEHEAEET 1R
TR R e R R U
RETTOME  RRE
Mt EEREANELE
RBXER - AEEH
BETELERBELRE
PSUSZ o) LG
AEEBE N HE BT AR
EUEZEBRERRE
B AKBEHHEES
MERBEERREER
TR
HEELERBEREK -

N ER B S FE UL AR SR 12
A 31 BRI RS
TR BRI IB R A
ARt -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2021 2020

2021 F 20206

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR  ARETFR

Opening loss allowance Hia KB (7,600) -
Increase in loss allowance RERNFTABRRD

recognised in profit or loss 1B EIE
during the year (7,584) (7,600)
Closing loss allowance HARIE R BE (15,184) (7,600)
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

To measure the expected credit losses of notes
receivables, the Group calculates the expected
credit loss based on the default risk exposure
and the lifetime expected credit loss rate, with
the consideration of the historical credit loss
experience, the current situation and the
forecast of future economic conditions.
Considering all of the notes receivables are
bank acceptance bills and there is no default
experience in the past, the Group does not
recognise any impairment.

For other receivables, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the other receivables since initial
recognition or the other receivables not
determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date, in which cases the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

3.

BEERERE @)
3.1 B¥EREZE(E)
ERRK(E)

(a)

(i1)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. MEREREERE®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEERKBEE(E)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) ERREKE)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) TEEEHE (&)
The loss allowances for other receivables as at R & [ E At R U R
31 December reconcile to the opening loss 12A31E/MEREX
allowances as follows: BiERARE BB RE

B BT

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE

2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 £F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T
Opening loss allowance B R B - -
Increase in loss allowance RERFABRD
recognised in profit or loss BRBAEE M
during the year (2,173) -
Closing loss allowance HRIB R BHE (2,173) -
The Group assess the expected credit losses of & 18 E % B B ELE ST
other financial assets at amortised cost on an LABE AR ANET E B E b
individual basis. The expected credit losses are S RAEMTEE{=HE
assessed with reference to the credit status of 4 o FBERZ B K TR
the recipients and the past due status of 2E I AKZ BT
doubtful debtors. Based on management N REEEANBEE
assessment, no loss allowance is recognised for SMIBHEITEE o IBIEE
other financial assets at amortised cost. BRI
BRAHBHEMER
BEMBRREME -
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to US$. Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions or recognised assets
or liabilities are denominated in a currency other than
the entity’s functional currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, the Group was exposed to non-
cash foreign exchange risk arising from retranslation
of US$ denominated inter-company loans. To manage
the foreign exchange risk, management decided to
execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by
converting the inter-company loans into perpetual
loans through entering into perpetual loan
agreements between respective group companies
such that the perpetual loans do not bear interest and
the lenders can not request repayment. Upon
completion of this debt restructuring, any foreign
exchange differences arising from retranslation of
these US$ denominated perpetual loans are
recognised in equity in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates, and by monitoring the amount of the
US$ intracompany accounts.

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 1% against the US$ with all other
variables held constant, profit before income tax for
the year would have been RMB1,187,000 (31
December 2020: RMB1,649,000) higher/lower,
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
receivables and payables held by the Group entities
with their functional currency as RMB.

3.

BEERERE @)
3.1 B¥EREZE(E)

(b)
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3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. MKEKREE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BBEREBEEE)
(c) Liquidity risk () REBMERE
The liquidity risk of the Group is mainly controlled by AEENRBUERABRFER
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents BRKERFRENAS R
through operations. The table below analyses the ReFEWETES - TFX
Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity BRAEENEREE &
groupings based on the remaining period at the RS R BHER - RIEA
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. HEBZ5RIEANTE L
W EEST DA -

Total  Carrying

Less than Over contractual amount

Tyear 1-2years 2-5years 5years cashflows liabilities

fERE HHEE

PR-F -EZ@F WERF DENLE RELH &8

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

AEBTT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

As at 31 December 2021 420215 12A31R

Trade and other payables ~ ERfEFREMERT 750,415 - - - 750415 750,415

Lease liabilities HERRE 13,733 10,519 26,831 24,225 75,308 55,647

764,148 10,519 26,831 24,225 825723 806,062

As at 31 December 2020 420206 12A31H

Trade and other payables  [EREEF R EMERF 448773 - - - 448,773 448,773

Lease liabilities HEak 16,709 8,509 25,368 28,176 78,762 57,066

465,482 8,509 25,368 28,176 527,535 505,839

(d) Concentration risk (d) SFEE

Revenue of the Group is mainly derived from
Panzhuang concession. Any disruption to the
operation of the concession may have a material
adverse impact to the result of operation and the
financial position of the Group.

During the year, 46.7% of the Group's revenue was
derived from sales made to the top five customers
(2020: 61.1%). In the event that these customers
terminate their business relationship with the Group
and the Group fails to find new customers, it may
have a material adverse impact on the Group's
financial position and result of operations.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. MKEKREE @
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BEXEHE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEENEAEEBZEEREAR
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going SEEENFELE - BIRFEREMEE
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders WM AEMT AR ERER
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an AR #FRENERNEENRDE
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. REKAN o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BTHEFSNABRERNGERE  ~EE
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to AREeRABEINERENERRE
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new 58~ IR ERE E ARSI THIAY -
shares.
The Group monitors capital by using debt-to-asset ratio REENAEEEBEESINELEE
analysis. This ratio is calculated as amount of total liabilities o b RIZEHEEABRIIR
divided by total assets as shown in the consolidated MEERBERNEERTETE - K~
balance sheet. The debt-to-asset ratio at 31 December SEE2021F12 A31H & 20204F
2021 and 2020 is 20.5% and 15.3%, respectively. PANEBMEEBEES A

20.5% F115.3% ©

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREEME

The measurement of fair value uses different level of inputs AABENFEEATRERBA

to valuation technique. Such inputs are categorised into BB R ERI - 2 S8 ABBEE

three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: AABEEFERADB=TEEX - &

TR

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for e MHREEXBEEERTS
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). LHMECRAR)(FE1E) -

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level o BT ENEFRBEENREIN
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either ZEEMBENIEENE
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived g A - B AEE (BNplnE
from prices) (level 2). %) e (BREER)(E2

&) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on e  EEMAGEIIFMEEAEHR
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) MISEIEHE A (BIETER
(level 3). BA)EIE) -
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BOFM IR M A

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

4.1 Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
Proved gas reserves are those quantities of CBM that by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially
recoverable, from a given date forward and under defined
economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations. Probable gas reserves are those additional
reserves of CBM that analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered
than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than
possible reserves.

The Group's reserve estimates were prepared for each
concession area and include only CBM that the Group
believes can be reasonably produced within current
economic and operating conditions. Reserves cannot be
measured exactly. Reserve estimates are based on many
factors that require evaluation by the engineers interpreting
the available data, as well as price and other economic
factors. The reliability of these estimates at any point in
time depends on both the quality and quantity of the
technical and economic data, and the production
performance as well as engineering judgement.
Consequently, reserve estimates are subject to revision as
additional data become available. Well tests and
engineering studies will likely improve the reliability of the
reserve estimate. The evolution of technology may also
result in the application of improved recovery techniques
such as supplemental or enhanced recovery projects, or
both, which have the potential to increase reserves beyond
those envisioned during the early years of a reservoir’s
producing life.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
(Continued)

Proved and probable reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. A reduction
in proved and probable reserves will increase depreciation
and amortisation charges (assuming constant production)
and reduce net profit. Proved and probable reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including gas prices, contract
terms or development plans.

In general, changes in the technical maturity of gas reserves
resulting from new information becoming available from
exploration, development and production activities and
change in gas price have tended to be the most significant
cause of annual revisions.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are capitalised on a field-
by-field basis and are assessed for impairment when
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. This assessment involves
judgment as to (i) the period for which the Group has the
right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected
to be renewed; and (i) substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; and (iii)
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
and (iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale. While conducting an impairment review of its
assets, the Group makes certain judgments in making
assumptions about the future gas prices, reserves and
future development and production costs. Changes in
these estimates could require a material change on the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets.

4. BRI RAE @

4.1

4.2
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

152

4.3

44

Impairment of gas properties, gas gathering
stations and relating facilities and construction in
progress

Gas properties, gas gathering stations and relating facilities
and construction in progress are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'’s fair value
less costs to sell or value in use. In estimating the
recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions,
including future cash flow to be associated with the assets
and discounted rates, are made. If future events do not
correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts
will be revised and this may have impacts on the Group's
result of operation or financial position.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will be reflected in the
income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the realisation of future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group’s ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits
and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future profitability
from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and
liabilities that could have a significant effect on the income
tax expenses.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

4. BRI RAE @

4.3

4.4

RAREE - ERUKBEER
EMER TRRREE

RAREE - SRR REMN
ERTREASFHELLBENHIR
SemERREEER TR
& - SHERDR(E - REERRE
BEENRAEERRETRES
REBEER - TRESBEAEE
HI RS BERE SR AN ERE
BERHESE - FHEEENT @K
THE 8FHZRBXR(BREE
BEMBHORRRSRE RIR
K)o BERRBREZEBRNTE
5 BERTRIRE S8R - MUbEEa]
e HARE MRS FERM BN
ERRFE

FriS Bt B IR SE B R

AEBREZ ERZERBAAE
B o WIS B 2B EAE
EXHE - HELEBEBBRET - A
TR M EOREBRBG/ERL T
FETE » AN BRIE R B ARSI
HIENEFT SRR AEZ T ERE
RAE BERFENRETBER
HEELFNSBIE - ZEEG
FEAR B AR 10 P S 35 P S AR AE X
TR P AR -

BESN - RRFAISHEENER « B
RRAEERKREEREELRN
HIERRBLULA - DAE A FTS AR e
KRR REBNENME - &1
KEFIGE N IRBE(A ST RATEHE -
AEH RIS HEE R AENE
EEHTEE - BRI R Y PSR
XEREATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BRGTHET RAE @

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.5 Impairment of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’'s past history existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(a).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the Company
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group's operating segments are defined by PSCs, which is
the basis by which the CODM makes decisions about resources
to be allocated and assesses their performance. The financial
information of the two concessions under the relating PSCs has
been separated to present segment information to be reviewed
by the CODM.

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the
performance of the operating segments of the PSCs based on
profit before income tax, depreciation and amortisation, finance
income, finance costs and exchange gains/(losses) (“EBITDA").

45 S@EERE
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. o#MER @)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the HE2021F12A3MHIEFE A 2
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as WMOTIRBLETEEERRENDIE
follows: BT
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total
BHER BUER ast
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TT AR¥TT AR®TT

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z%E2021%$12H31H

IEFE

Revenue from external customers 3 5 7ML & P UL A 1,522,736 176,946 1,699,682
EBITDA EBITDA 1,477,455 73,537 1,550,992
Other income EH A A 223,651 28,224 251,875
Operating expenses KEREY (596,668) (196,727) (793,395)
Depreciation and amortisation  #T8 5 # §H (325,181) (65,389) (390,570)
Net impairment losses on TRVE EREFEX

financial assets (7,579) (2,173) (9,752)
Finance income B EE 17,200 2,221 19,421
Finance costs Mi%ER (4,602) (1,078) (5,680)
Exchange (losses)/gains PEH (1825), e (10,358) 6,054 (4,304)
Income tax expense FriSHi & F (295,202) (31,559) (326,761)
Year ended 31 December 2020 &% 2020512831 H

IEFE

Revenue from external customers 2k B 4N 28 % = B Uk A 973,540 64,984 1,038,524
EBITDA EBITDA 993,353 14,159 1,007,512
Other income H b A 235,506 4,862 240,368
Operating expenses LERY (444,118) (94,222) (538,340)
Depreciation and amortisation T8 5 # §H (228,421) (38,021) (266,442)
Net impairment losses on TREEREFEKX

financial assets (7,600) - (7,600)
Finance income B ES 23,090 475 23,565
Finance costs Bf 7% & A (3,872) (821) (4,693)
Exchange (losses)/gains PEH (8k) Mz (30,199) 21,820 (8,379)
Income tax expense Ry R4 (204,980) (27,296) (232,276)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7HER @)
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T AREFIT
As at 31 December 2021 A2021%12H31H
Total assets BB E 4,088,985 3,261,864 7,350,849
Total liabilities BwEE 1,073,233 566,004 1,639,237

Additions to non-current assets  3ERENE E L AN
(other than deferred income (EERIAEE ERIN)

tax assets) 292,940 537,638 830,578
As at 31 December 2020 N 2020F12A31H
Total assets BB E 3,690,541 2,661,475 6,352,016
Total liabilities BEE 816,965 257,513 1,074,478

Additions to non-current assets  JEENE E L AN
(other than deferred income (RIEFRIBEERIN)

tax assets) 285,762 235,782 521,544
A reconciliation of EBITDA to total profit before income tax is EBITDA £ Bk P15 2% A A1 42 28 1) 58 &6 40
provided as follows: T

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31BLLEE

2021 2020

2021 £ 2020

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Total EBITDA for reportable segments T 23R4 2 HI EBITDA#%E 1,550,992 1,007,512

Headquarters and others overheads BE R EMA B (6,270) (12,519)

Depreciation and amortisation PreE Ly (396,523) (271,368)

Finance income B 75 I 2 24,522 33,237

Finance costs Wi%EA (5,750) (4,834)

Exchange losses [EZR=PS (8,597) (9,459)
Share of net loss of associates accounted  JE{GIRIEZEABRMEEE A ]

for using the equity method K& EE (14,052) -

Profit before income tax FRETSE AT FE 1,144,322 742,573
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7EER &
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as A 2RO PEELRBEEMRAGILOT -
follows:

As at 31 December

156

M12A31H
2021 2020
2021 & 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Total segment assets DI B ELEE 7,350,849 6,352,016
Unallocated Ko
Unallocated property, plant and AOBTEE - TR ARG
equipment 52,645 207
Unallocated other financial assets at RO AR ANETEH)
amortised cost HEMorEE 55,000 -
Unallocated trade and other receivables 7% B i U B 70 & EAth fE U 7k 6,940 24,268
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents KPR ENIREEEBY 306,765 661,101
Others HAth 313,743 789
Total assets per balance sheet BEABRMTAERSE 8,085,942 7,038,381

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities

as follows:

A2y HABERARENHHNT

As at 31 December

MR12H831H
2021 2020
20215 2020 £
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREEFIT
Total segment liabilities DI BERE 1,639,237 1,074,478

Unallocated ROE

Unallocated lease liabilities AOEEERE 823 518
Unallocated trade and other payables RO RN BRFR M EAth FEAS 3R 20,332 2,543
Total liabilities per balance sheet BEABRITNAGBESE 1,660,392 1,077,539
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. THE - ITHERXRE
Gas
Exploration  gathering
and station and Building Furniture,
Gas evaluation relating Construction and fittings
properties assets facilities  in progress  Structures Vehicles  and others Total
BER  ERUR BFR BE #E

ARREE  THEE  HERE  ERIE BEY EH REf it
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBUOOO

ARBTL ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARETZ

Year ended 31 December 2020  HZ 2020512831 BLLEE

Opening net book value FRESE 2,100,464 646,306 472,064 497,906 - 870 4078 3,721,688
Additions 10 8,164 38,659 1,921 484,170 - 1,651 2358 536,923
Transferred inflout) g0/(1t) 320,656 - 97754 (418410) - - - -
Disposal — cost RE—HRAK - - - - - - (759) (7159
— depreciation —E - - - - - - 759 759
Depreciation charge FEER (197,337) - (53,213) - - (519) 220 (253,271)
Currency translation differences NEHEEE (7,399 (1,941) - (1,734) - - ol (11,081)
Closing net book value FREEFE 2224548 683,024 518,526 561,932 - 2,002 4227 3,994,259
As at 31 December 2020 #20206125318
Cost R 3243198 683,024 760,026 561932 - 16922 53,647 5,318,749
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (1,018,650) - (241,500) - - (14,920) (49.420)  (1,324.490)
Net book value REFE 2224548 683,024 518,526 561,932 - 2002 4227 3,994,259
Year ended 31 December 2021 ~ HZ 2021512831 BLEE
Opening net book value FEmFE 2,224,548 683,024 518,526 561,932 - 2,002 4227 3,994,259
Additions 0 79,644 29,496 24,492 728,051 61,230 1,849 2,022 926,784
Transferred in/(out) &) /() 463,403 - 57,171 (520,574) = = = =
Disposal — cost RE—HAK - = - = (7,608) = (914) (8,522)
— depreciation — & - - - - - - 7 777
Write off i = (50,280) - - - - - (50,280)
Depreciation charge HEER (312,146) - (64,729) - (1,564) (775) (1,927)  (381,141)
Currency translation differences NEREEE (2,288) (642) - (567) - = (1) (3,498)
Closing net book value EREEEE 2,453,161 661,598 535,460 768,842 52,058 3,076 4184 4,478,379
As at 31 December 2021 R2021512A318
Cost KA 3,782,445 661,598 841,689 768,842 53,622 18,771 54,685 6,181,652
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (1,329,284) - (306,229) = (1,564) (15,695) (50,501)  (1,703,273)
Net book value REFHE 2,453,161 661,598 535,460 768,842 52,058 3,076 4184 4,478,379
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the additions of HZE2021%F 1231 HIFEE  THHE -
property, plant and equipment include RMB102,189,482 (2020: TR K 58 45 42 0 A R #6102,189,482 7T
RMB652,509) relating to the asset retirement obligations (20204 : AJR¥E652,5097T) « BE AR
recognised during the year. DHEEEBEEAR -
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7. LEASE 7. HE
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (a) EHEEEBRABIRANSE
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following AHEEBERV RO TY £5EH
amounts relating to leases: HERRA :
As at 31 December
M®12H831H
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTFT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use rights + b {F FE A 56,990 60,590
Buildings s 2,445 4,989
59,435 65,579
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current e (13,733) (16,709)
Non-current FERB (41,914) (40,357)
(55,647) (57,066)
Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2021 were 20212 - EREEEEZIMARE
RMB6,077,000 (2020: RMB8,002,000). 6,077,0007T (20205 : A R ¥
8,002,0007T) °
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (b) EHFZEEWNRRABRNSE
of comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income AHEAEWERY AT &5
shows the following amounts relating to leases: HEFH

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Depreciation charge of FRAEEENITEER
right-of-use assets
Land use rights + $h s A4 (7,112) (6,015)
Buildings BF (2,476) (6,307)
Equipment B - (10)
(9,588) (12,332)
Interest expense (included in MEEBRGIAMBER)
finance cost) (Note 22) (Kt 22) (3,707) (4,096)
Expense relating to short-term leases  E25EHATHEHEMNE A
(included in administrative expenses) (Gt ABEIEEMR) (3,140) (769)
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. EEEE
Computer
software
EL S
RMB'000
AREFIT
As at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 818
Cost AR 58,042
Accumulated amortisation BT (22,965)
Net book value BREDFE 35,077
Year ended 31 December 2020 BZE2020F12A31HLLEE
Opening net book value FHRREFE 35,077
Additions b2yl 432
Amortisation charge BIHER (5,765)
Currency translation differences SN E ERE )
Closing net book value FRREFE 29,742
As at 31 December 2020 M 2020%F12H31H
Cost [B%N 58,474
Accumulated amortisation BN (28,732)
Net book value BREDFE 29,742
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE2021F12A3MBILLEE
Opening net book value FHRREDFE 29,742
Additions 140 250
Amortisation charge BIHER (5,794)
Closing net book value FRREFE 24,198
As at 31 December 2021 M2021%12H31H
Cost AR 58,724
Accumulated amortisation BT (34,526)
Net book value BREDFE 24,198
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 9. HHENTARE
(a) Interests in associates (a) HEBEQNRRE
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 T AEBEE2021%12AH318 -
December 2021 which, in the opinion of the directors, are EFERAYEEBEANBER
material to the Group. The entities listed below have share BRI 0) NG o e
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held REEE - AEEEERE T
directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or KR ERBERIAEEZEBKH
registration is also their principal place of business, and the Bho PR EMMIFROAERES
proportion of ownership interest is the same as the FEE -

proportion of voting rights held.

Carrying
Place of business/ % of amount at
country of ownership Nature of Measurement 31 December
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship  method 2021
2021
HEMAIER 12A31H
=L EZ 3 ez BRNIME FERE ARTEE
RMB’000
% AREFTT
Shanxi Tongyu (i) Shanxi, PRC 32.1296  Associate Equity method 242,985
LI 783 TR (1) PEILT o /NC] A
0} Shanxi Tongyu Coalbed Methane Transportation and Distribution Ltd 0} B EBRELRERAR (LA
(“Shanxi Tongyu”) is mainly engaged in sales, transmission and BERDIERFEERNFEENE
distribution of CBM. During the year, the Group increased the capital Bl o RER - REBEILFABRERE
of Shanxi Tongyu with a total consideration of RMB257,036,418. As at & BHERARY 257,036,418 7T ¢
31 December 2021, the Group holds 32.1296% of the shares of Shanxi BE21F12A31H  X&EEFE
Tongyu. ILIPE3BTR 32.1296% HIAXHE ©
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 9. HEEQNTRARE®
(b) Summarised financial information for associates (b) HEERTWEMEER
The tables below provide summarised financial information HEBBERNBE QA RMEERHE
for those associates that are material to the Group. The BIEERIT - WEHNEE XM T
information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the HEBE AR BHRERZ2INE
financial statements of the relevant associates and not the BMTARAEBEELSEYH
Group's share of those amounts. They have been amended MEE - WIS F AR ERBARA
to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the R ERITMAAE  BREARE
equity method, including fair value adjustments and BRAEMETREEZENAE -

modifications for differences in accounting policy.

As at

31 December

2021

2021 %

Shanxi Tongyu LA BB 12A31H
RMB’'000

AR¥ T

Current assets A E 312,192
Non-current assets IERBEE 555,610
Current liabilities mEaE (258,148)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (113,806)
Net assets BEE 495,848

Reconciliation to carrying amounts: REMKER WAL

Net assets FEE 495,848
Group's share (%) INEEE RN (%) 32.1296%
Group's share (RMB’000) REERE(ARETT) 159,314
Goodwill and others R K EAM 83,671
Carrying amount BRMEE 242,985
Revenue WA 53,678
Loss for the period HANEE (131,466)
Other comprehensive income Hivsz 4 W =
Total comprehensive income wEEsWE (131,466)
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10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

11.

162

COST

10.

On 28 June 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with a

third party company (original lessor) and acquired the leased

property under the lease contract and its associated rights and

interests related to the leased property, and obtained the right

to collect rent and other payments from the lessee, a company

mainly engaged in the investment and construction of liquefied

natural gas, and the guarantee rights under the related guarantee

and pledge contracts.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and detail of loss

allowance are provided in Note 3.1 (a).

%Tﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬂiiﬁiﬂ’yﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬁ

R2021F6 H28R - REBEE=F1
AI(RHBBEAN) FEaTH#E - SHEAR
BTINHEEME  AREBSHERLH
MR - WARRAABA (—REBRSE
BRIERARKEZRO AR WS M
H A SRIR RN - LA AR RAHE (R A0 & 3
BRETHFERER -

RE B ERR R BRBEFIERRH
FT3.1() °

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 11. FEURBRFR % H {th FE UL K
As at 31 December
R12H31H
2021 2020
2021 % 2020
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Trade receivables (a) FEUER 3K (a)
— CUCBM — CUCBM 318,319 193,194
— PetroChina — i AH 102,049 71,828
— Shanxi Tongyu (Note 9, 28(b)) — LPRE B (FEEQ ~ 28(b)) 89,267 110,709
— External customers — INERR 8,271 12,355
517,906 388,086
Less: loss allowance for impairment of W FEUER TR R (e)
trade receivables (e) (15,184) (7,600)
Trade receivables, net JEUSBR 3K — JF5E 502,722 380,486
Notes receivables R ZE % - 1,100
Government grants receivables (b) JE U # 84 (b)
— Government — B 404,779 405,641
— CUCBM — CUCBM 43,783 -
— PetroChina — i AH 9,745 21,051
Due from PSC partners for cash calls ERERSKEREGIERRE
and accrued expenses (c) EFXRIFERER
— CUCBM — CUCBM 134,876 122,656
— PetroChina — dAH 123,096 109,294
Loans to third party (d) M%E=FRHER() 3,452 -
Deposits and others HeMEMmER 6,256 31,183
725,987 689,825
Less: loss allowance for impairment of B H AL PR GRIB R (e)
other receivables (e) (2,173) -
Other receivables, net H WG — F58 723,814 689,825
Total trade and other receivables JE U BR SR K EL A PR R B KR 1,226,536 1,071,411
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

11. EWBRF R H b WK ()

(a)

FEUs B R
FEW AR SR E BREE D AT AN TS

As at 31 December

M12H31H

2021 2020
2021 & 2020 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within 3 months =EAR 505,367 251,468
3 months to 6 months = AR =REHA - 12,245
6 months to 1 year NMEAZE—F 12,539 77,038
1 year to 2 years —EWMF - 42,288
2 years to 3 years ME=4F - 5,047
517,906 388,086

Less: loss allowance for impairment of  Jg : JiE U BR FUIE S B4 (e)
trade receivables (e) (15,184) (7,600)
502,722 380,486

Trade receivables due from CUCBM represent the cash
collected from external customers attributable to Sino-
American Energy, Inc. ("SAEI") and deposited into
CUCBM's bank account on behalf of the Group, which is
jointly managed by CUCBM and SAEI.

Trade receivables due from PetroChina represent the
amount to be collected from PetroChina relating to the sale
of the Group's share of CBM from Mabi and Panzhuang
concessions.

Trade receivables due from Shanxi Tongyu represent the
amount to be collected from Shanxi Tongyu relating to the
sale of the Group's share of CBM from Panzhuang
concession.

Trade receivables due from external customers represent
the amount to be collected from the independent
customers relating to the sale of the Group’s share of CBM
from Panzhuang concession.

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K

JEUR CUCBM Y FIE U BR 335 U B B
SNERE B P17 A B CUCBM E2 £ AR
BERAR AR ([EFaERAR ] H
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P& M5 ek ) FE AR R 4 U B
FRHBRAKES S LR NE
FRBATIERERNEERIR -

R M5 LI 7 5 TR Y R MK PR SR T
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

164

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

This represents the VAT refund and government subsidies
for CBM receivable from the government directly or
through CUCBM and PetroChina.

This represents CUCBM's and PetroChina’s share of the
cash calls and accrued expenses for the development and
production costs of Panzhuang and Mabi concessions yet
to be received from CUCBM and PetroChina, respectively.

This represents loans to third party with a term of six
months.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and detail of
loss allowance are provided in Note 3.1 (a).

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of trade and

other receivables approximated their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

11. BRI R H A EURK (&)
(b) It A& H B CUCBM &/ A
JRE LSBT O R T R (B R AR B R R
FFEEL -

() HACUCBM K Al o (H&EHR R
58 80 55 WA R R A B N AR EE PR AR D3R
TERLERER ®AR
CUCBM K 2 A ER »

(d) WARRE=FRERENEZR SRR
NER e
(e) AKERMEBRNMERBEFEH

AW EE3.1@) ©

(f) M2021F12A318 BERERK
Hitvf e EmEEE AR EE
RS

7 % [ 1 R LS B R L e P LR Y
REEA TIIEEEHE -

(9)

As at 31 December

MW12H318
2021 2020
2021 & 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFIT
RMB AR 1,226,312 1,070,652
HK$ BT 224 719
Us$ ETT = 40
1,226,536 1,071,411
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 12. EWEm T A (RER)

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T AREF T
Financial assets EREE
Other financial assets at amortised cost N SRR AT ENEM SR E E
(Note 10) (f$3E10) 55,000 -
Trade and other receivables (Note 11) JFE U5 AR R R LAt P MR (B EE11) 1,226,536 1,071,411
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 13) B MR EEY (FHFE13) 1,626,675 1,790,505
Term deposits with initial terms of )45 BRRR B 3B = 18 A 9 F B TE X
over three months (Note 13) (BF3E13) 200,000 -
Restricted bank deposits (Note 13) SRR EISRITIE R (HIFE13) 60,230 55,048
3,168,441 2,916,964
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 &
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFTT
Financial liabilities SMEE
Trade and other payables excluding JER BRI B A AT 3R
non-financial liabilities TREECHAaE 750,415 448,773
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEaBEME?) 55,647 57,066

806,062 505,839
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13. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 13. B RBITER
As at 31 December
R12H31H
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 £
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents RELFACEEY
— Cash at banks — RITFERX 1,626,675 1,790,505
Term deposits with initial terms of A HAMR A8 = 8 A M E i TE 3K
over three months 200,000 -
Restricted bank deposits (a) SRHIERITIER () 60,230 55,048
1,886,905 1,845,553
(a) Restricted bank deposits represented deposits for the (@) SRERITFEREELEEME N
purpose of decommissioning of gas properties and EEARERAARAREERER L
restoration of land deposits for Panzhuang and Mabi Y TFERR ©
concessions.
Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following e NIBITESIEUTEEE -
currencies:
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2021 2020
2021 & 2020
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
RMB AR 1,871,143 1,286,441
HK$ BT 13,437 504,063
us$ ET 2,325 55,049
1,886,905 1,845,553
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14. SHARE CAPITAL 14. R
Equivalent
Nominal value  nominal value
Number of of ordinary of ordinary
ordinary shares shares shares
EER
EERYA HEREE EHEMEE
Thousands US$'000 RMB’000
TR FET ARBFT
Issued and fully paid: EETRHE -
Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each P& {E0.0001 7T
oR=S Il

As at 1 January and M2020F1 818K
31 December 2020 12A31H 3,393,582 339 2,079
— Exercise of share options — (T B A E 1,542 - 1
As at 31 December 2021 7420214128318 3,395,124 339 2,080

15.

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (share
options) on 31 March 2015 and the Post-IPO Restricted Share
Unit Scheme (RSUs) on 5 June 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 1,541,722 (31
December 2020: nil) share options were exercised. As at 31
December 2021, there are 192,715 (31 December 2020: 1,734,437)
outstanding share options with the exercise price of US$0.151 per
share. All the outstanding share options are exercisable and have
expiry dates between 2022 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2018, all RSUs have been vested or cancelled
after Change of Control (Note 1), and no RSU was outstanding.

OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves consist of share-based compensation and foreign
currency translation difference.

15.

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K

N AP BIF20155 3 A31 HF20154F6
BASHERMNE X AREEAERETE
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16. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 16. EERERK

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MHILEE

2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%ET T AREFTT
Beginning of the year REL] 20,120 18,361
Provision B 127,994 816
Accretion expenses HANF 2 2,581 943
End of the year RER 150,695 20,120
The asset retirement obligations represent the present value of EEFBEEBIZEREARAREE
estimated future expenditures on decommissioning of gas ERTH RIRERBZNEREAZH
properties, restoration of land and recovery of environment. IE o
17. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 17. BEFRBHERE
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income BIEFEHEERBRLEMSEHABEI T
tax liabilities is as follows: UM
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARBTFT
Deferred income tax assets: ELEFMEHREE !
— Deferred income tax assets to be — B 12ME A ALK E
recovered within 12 months ELEFTISIHEE 872 747
— Deferred income tax assets to be — BRAEEA 1218 AU E
recovered after more than 12 months RIS EE 208,131 244,553
209,003 245,300
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFTEHERE :
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — #1218 B AR EIAY
recovered within 12 months RS AE (41,973) (43,611)
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — BB 1218 A & U R
recovered after more than 12 months RILFTISRAE (645,091) (639,301)
(687,064) (682,912)
Net balance EERREE (478,061) (437,612)
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to REAMSHEEREBBERAEERKS
Panzhuang and Mabi concessions. The Group has legally WERIBAER - & &R ALEE T 5 RI46E
enforceable right to offset the deferred tax assets and liabilities ERHIITEENEREMEHEERRA
in each concession. Accordingly, it is presented on net basis for BHEEE  EHSEEY I FEE
each of the concession. A2 o
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17. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)  17. Eﬁﬁﬁ SHAGwE

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as EIEFTISHIER B A E ST ¢
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBETT
Beginning of the year RED (437,612) (379,804)
Charged to the consolidated statement of R A& B4R 4 Wk & 0% (i EE24)
comprehensive income (Note 24) (40,449) (57,808)
End of the year RER (478,061) (437,612)
The movement in deferred income tax account is as follows: ELPTSREEMESINT -
Depreciation Income not yet
and subject to
amortisation Tax losses  tax and others Total
RARBE
mEREH BgER Wz R H At st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETFT
As at 1 January 2020 M20206181H (274,666) 175,772 (280,910) (379,804)
Charged to the consolidated ReHEe Rarnk
statement of comprehensive (Pt 3% 24)
income (Note 24) (110,291) 66,090 (13,607) (57,808)
As at 31 December 2020 M2020F12A31H (384,957) 241,862 (294,517) (437,612)
Charged to the consolidated ReHEe Rarnk
statement of comprehensive (BizE24)
income (Note 24) 5,502 (38,489 (7,462) (40,449
As at 31 December 2021 R2021E12A31H (379,455) 203,373 (301,979) (478,061)

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K 169




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

17. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 17. IEZEFBHEE @)

For the purpose of filing of PRC corporate income tax,
development expenditures incurred prior to commercial
production from tax perspective are tax deductible over a 8-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production; exploration expenditures incurred prior to
commercial production from tax perspective except for those
qualified as production wells are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production.

Deferred income tax assets for tax losses are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Other deferred income tax expense mainly relates to government
grants which comprise of government subsidies and VAT refunds
received by the Group, which will be taxable in specified future
periods according to relevant tax regulations and local authority
in the PRC.

RHBECERMENAENS  RAXE
ERBHARHE) EENFES
ERMFXEEMIGZ AREN\FHEAR
EITHEEN  REXEE(RRB AR
HITE) AT ATE A MBS H (A ERE
REEFNHRIHRIN IBRREE
Fitn 2 B = F B AE TR -

HREEBERERNELHEREEE®T
AIRE B AR RERB A B Al gLt (R E
REZRNBRT TARER -

H 3R ST P15 A5 8 A 2 22 B AT A B AR
7 B AN SR B B A BT 4 RS AR (B
BRH - RIBTHEBBERBER MM T
2RI TE BRI E AT o

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18. BRI R HMENK
As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2021 2020
2021 & 2020 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETTT
Trade payables FEfTRRFR 615,143 428,649
Amounts due to related parties JE 1<) g B 77 5K IE
— Xintai Jinggong (Note 28(b)) — EFRBI(MEE28()) 15,705 576
— Shanxi Tongyu (Note 9, 28(b)) — P (ML - 28(b)) 4,661 -
Amounts due to PSC partners ENERSKEREIERFKIEA
— CUCBM — CUCBM 93,257 7,112
— PetroChina — A 9,552 7,463
Advance from customers TR R K 4,476 -
Tax payables FE TR 14,513 2,258
Payroll liabilities FENT& 34,195 17,138
Other payables H i FE R 12,097 4,973
803,599 468,169
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(@) The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date is as follows:

18. ESBRA R HEMEMARK @)
(a) ENERWEBINOT :
ERNEE AN S
W -

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Within 6 months ~MEAR 536,916 371,832
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 24,646 20,331
1to 2 years —ZWE 38,208 12,441
2 to 3years ME=F 3,405 12,526
Over 3 years =FLE 11,968 11,519
615,143 428,649

(b) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables
approximated their fair values.

(c) The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other
payables are denominated in the following currencies:

(b) FEARRBIR H fth e < 7R A0 i 10 B 2
HARBERS -

(c) KB RN BRK M EA B A
AREEA TIIEEEHE -

As at 31 December

M12HA31H
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
RMB AR 802,989 467,393
HK$ BT 283 267
Us$ ETT 327 509
803,599 468,169

19. REVENUE

Almost all of the Group's revenue is derived through the sale of
the Group’s share of CBM sold to customers in the PRC. Sales of
gas are recognised when control of the gas has transferred,
being when the gas is delivered to the customers. The amount of
revenue is recognised based on the terms of the PSCs and gas
sales agreements.

19. KA
REBLT2HEABREAEEMG
CBMEFBEEFHHEEMS - EXER
ZHIECEE  BRERERNTER
B AEERRBRERFEERA - WA
SRRBERD KA R REERHEE W
& MR T DARERR
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20. OTHER INCOME 20. HAtblg A

172

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A831BLLFEE

2021 2020

2021 & 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T AREFIT

VAT refund (a) RETIRT (a) 140,245 85,343
Government subsidy (b) BT A 8L (b) 111,630 155,025
251,875 240,368

VAT refund is granted by the PRC government according to
"The Notice on Tax Policy Issued by The Ministry of Finance
and The State Administration of Taxation on Speeding Up
The Drainage of Coalbed Methane” (B EXEBEI R 75 48 /5
A0 AR B SR, T BR A8 R 7 W B 3R S RE Y 38 1 )). CUCBM
and PetroChina apply for the VAT refund for Panzhuang
and Mabi concessions, respectively. The Group recognises
its entitlement based on the Group’s share of CBM sold
and when there is reasonable assurance that the amount
will be received.

Government subsidy is granted by the PRC government
according to “The Implementation Opinions of Subsidies
Granted by The Ministry of Finance on The Development
and Utilisation of Coalbed Methane” (K87 Bt & B8 1A FE 8 R
(ELET) AEFNA®ATMERE R)) published on 20 April
2007, as amended by “Interim Measures for the
Administration of Special Funds for the Development of
Clean Energy” (/B RHERERZBESBTEETIR))
issued on 12 June 2020. The Group applies for the subsidy
for Panzhuang concession. PetroChina applies for the
subsidy for Mabi concession. The Group recognises its
entitlement based on the Group's share of CBM sold and
when there is reasonable assurance that the amount will be
received.
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 21. EERAIBEX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLFEE

2021 2020
2021 F 20206
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFR ARETT
Wages and salaries ITENHS 87,172 64,700
Retirement and other benefits (a) RS REMBETF () 15,729 8,672
102,901 73,372
(a) Retirement and other benefits (a) EAKERHMEF
In the PRC, the pension plans are organized by the E/i\_":':' CREEFEH—FELA
municipal and provincial governments at a certain rate of (25T LRARR) M RE KA
the employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceilings. The BIEARKR S EEL R - %%
Group also contributes to government-sponsored housing ETREEFHFCH —EHHI(RE
funds at a certain rate of the employees’ salaries, subject to T ERRR) ABEBGENNERS
certain ceilings. EEEHHRK -
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EUESHFMAL
Details of five highest paid individuals are set out below: AU GEEHFMATHOFFET

Number of Individuals

N
2021 2020
2021 % 2020
Director (Note 32) BE(M5E32) 3 2
Non-director individuals (i) EEEKE () 2 3
5 5
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 21. EERFABEZ @)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) by ENNZEEEFEMALE)
(i) The emoluments payable to the non-director individuals during the (i) RAEEREMNIEESA TN SN
year are as follows: T

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEE

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETT
Basic salaries and allowances BN e RERL 2,032 3,045
Discretionary bonuses WiEiEs 2,048 750
Retirement and other benefits BRINE REAMER 293 150
4,373 3,945

The emoluments fell within the following bands: HEMEE L

Number of Individuals

A

2021 2020
20216 2020%

Emolument bands HENEE
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T 2 1,500,000 7 7T = 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 7 7T = 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /& 702 2,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 78 7T 2 3,000,000/ 7T 1 -
2 3
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22. FINANCE INCOME, NET

23.

22. Bi%E — FH

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE

2021
2021 F
RMB’000

2020
20204
RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Interest expense of lease liabilities (Note 7) FAE & E/MFIEE R (MFE7) (3,707) (4,096)
Accretion expenses of asset retirement BEEEEFHIEIZER

obligations (2,043) (738)
Finance costs MBER (5,750) (4,834)
Finance income B U 2 24,522 33,237
Exchange losses P& I8k (8,597) (9,459)
Finance income, net B e — FEE 10,175 18,944

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax was determined after charging the
following:

23. BRATEH AIFIE

BRATS B AT A B EHBR TR RRE

i
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31MBLEFE
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEFIT
Power and fuel BAERE 48,599 54,740
Pipeline transportation cost BB A AN 84,453 37,576
LNG sales cost LNG &K A 37,509 -
Maintenance cost HwiEEH 27,374 27,277
Auditors’ remunerations % 2R BT 57 B
— Audit services — EE IR
— The Company e VNG| 2,900 2,900
— Subsidiaries — B A 250 250
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24. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 24. FRSHER

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Current income tax BEHMEH 288,194 174,469
Deferred income tax (Note 17) RIEPRIST (HFE17) 40,449 57,808
328,643 232,277
The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated under respective AR REEHESHE  ABERRE
jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands and EMEEDE QT E T M/ &S
Samoa, are exempted from payment of local income tax. NARRREE TS o
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the ARAEERAFELREETEIE
Group did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong during ERERBEFE - W EAIRETEFE
the year. B o
According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated BETBEBEEAOTREPERSRH
by the PRC government, the tax rate applicable to the Group's & REBEER BN B AT RAK
subsidiary established in the PRC and the PRC branches of the EEWB AT E S A T HE R
Group's subsidiaries is 25%. Corporate income tax in the PRC is F25% c B ERRER IRERH
calculated based on the taxable profit of the company or KA A RN AR ERBFEE -

branches established in the PRC.
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24.

25.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the

24.

theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as
follows:

FEHER @)
7 62 [ PR S 6 AR MO OB R O
ER RS EMBERSETR  HENT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEEE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Profit before income tax R PTAS 250 AT B 1,144,322 742,573
Tax expense calculated at applicable REAMETENRIEE A
tax rates 308,221 237,151
Utilization of previously year deductible PRI FEE RERELERIE
temporary differences for which no BEMAENERMEEZSR
deferred tax asset was recognised (744) (8,406)
Expenses not deductible for NRTHORR 8 & A
taxation purposes 21,122 3,227
Others HAh 44 305
Income tax expense FriSTHE A 328,643 232,277
EARNINGS PER SHARE 25. R W=
(a) Basic (@) EHZR

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

EARFRIN R T IRBE BRI A ARG A
BENFN BB NUE E2021F K
2020F12 A3 B IEFEALD ET
TR IMEFHEETES D -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020
Profit attributable to owners of BERANRAEENTIE
the Company (RMB’000) (AR®BFT) 815,679 510,296
Weighted average number of ordinary B 175 A% 5 IN4E 15 21
shares in issue (Thousands) (FH%) 3,394,444 3,393,582
Basic earnings per share (RMB) HAFWZE (AREIT) 0.240 0.150
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25. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has share options outstanding which
are potentially dilutive. The assumed proceeds from
conversion of these options shall be regarded as having
been received from the issue of ordinary shares at average
market price of ordinary shares during the period. The
difference between the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options and
the number of shares that could have been issued at the
average market price of the ordinary shares during the
period with the same total assumed proceeds is the number
of shares issued for no consideration. The resulting number
of shares issued for no consideration is included in the
weighted average number of ordinary shares as the
denominator for calculating diluted earnings per share.

25. BRWE @)

(b)

wme
mESRERREAE AR ENE
EEBBIREIBE  RECHETE
B IIE I BEE - ARFIH
BREARBEWMBYE - BRE
L B SO 1 H P JE R B (B R PR AR AR
RLBHNE AR FEm IS ER %
TMES - TREZBTHRMNEE
RERBRITE T BARERZET
MM BE - BERZRANLEE
BEAm S ERETLESHRS
AHERWBER T AR ERITHR
MBENER - E—TREHRTH
B BB A E B AR A N F 15
g —&0  XERFTERESR
W TR D& o

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31MBLEE

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
Profit attributable to owners of SEBNAARIMAEENFIE
the Company (RMB’000) (AREBFT) 815,679 510,296
Weighted average number of ordinary B 2877 A% &9 hniE F 15 81
shares in issue (Thousands) (FH) 3,394,444 3,393,582
Adjustments for assumed conversion &% 3 I B IR RO T EE (FI%)
of share options (Thousands) 34 -
Weighted average number of AERESRKERN T B
ordinary shares for diluted IniEFHE (Fi%)
earnings per share (Thousands) 3,394,478 3,393,582
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) mEgRWE (ARET) 0.240 0.150

26. DIVIDENDS

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of
RMBO0.0589 per share will be proposed at the annual general
meeting ("AGM") on 20 May 2022. These financial statements do
not reflect this dividend payable.

178

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of
RMBO0.1031 per share was approved at the AGM on 13 May 2021
and was paid on 28 May 2021.
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27. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 27. REREER
(@) Cash Generated from Operations (a) RETEFREES
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flow R BT B R AT B9 Bl 4% 2 E B FT/E I8
generated from operations: B E FERR A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BILLFEE

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Profit before income tax B B 15 3 B FE 1,144,322 742,573
Adjustments for: TP S IEER TR -
Depreciation e 390,729 265,603
Amortisation (Notes 8) #iH (H5Es) 5,794 5,765
Net impairment losses of financial TREEREFELX
assets 9,757 7,600
Write off of exploration and R K FTE B E M
evaluation assets 50,280 -
Gains on disposals of property, HETHE - THERED
plant and equipment ks (741) M
Gains on repayment of financial assets Y2 & R AT E K
at amortised costs TRVEEEERNFIE (12,386) -
Shares of losses of associates JE{REE A R)IRE EE 14,052 -
Finance income R (14,968) (33,237)
Finance costs i%EA 2,043 738
Exchange losses ERTREPS 5,465 9,615
Changes in working capital: FLEEMEE -
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOgmn), SHmd (1,227) 1,379
Increase in trade and other receivables & Y B 3k N L fih & U X 18 AN (200,906) (374,527)
Increase in trade and other payables JE 1<) BR SR K2 L A JE AT R 185,318 36,958
Cash generated from operations KEEFHELENRS 1,577,532 662,466
(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities (b) FRESEMEZTH
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MHLEE
2021 2020
2021 & 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARET T
Investments to associates with real AN E)E S E AR E
estate assets (22,648) -

DEEREBRERLARF/ 255K 179




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFM IR M A

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. Bt AR5
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, E—HARNEESHERERS— A5k
directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant HE— PGS REESRREMABEKN
influence over the other party in making financial and operation FEN AR ARE T o KRS
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are BEHME BT - REBTEESIEA
subject to common control. Members of key management and B R HERIEK B TR 2 B

their close family member of the Group are also considered as
related parties.

(a) The following companies are related parties of the (a) BZE2021F12A31HLEFE >
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 THRARARETEENEHS :
Names of the related parties Nature of relationship Ownership interest
)yt BENE FEERERS
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i) Ultimate control shareholder 56.96%
and executive director
B R ST A () BRIEERBRRRATES
XTRQ (i) Ultimate parent entity 56.96%
FARARR() RZZEIRAE
Sichuan Liming (i) Intermediate parent entity 56.96%
791 A EA () A EEAR A A
Liming (i) Immediate parent entity 56.96%
AR (i) BHEERAT
Urumgqi Xintai Jinggong Construction Under the same control of N/A
Engineering Co., Ltd. ("Xintai Jinggong”) ultimate control shareholder
REABEZRIZRIRARARAN(ERBEL]) XR—SERIZERBRERIZES E A
Zhongjiu Ante Equipment Co., Ltd. Under the same control of N/A
("Zhongjiu Ante") ultimate control shareholder
RARFREARRA ([P ALE]) X [A) — B AR A AR AR SR 12 E A
Beijing Sunshine Ji'ao Energy Technology Controlled by an independent N/A
Co., Ltd. ("Sunshine Ji'ao") non-executive director of
the Company
IERGA T RERRMER AR ([BAETE]) BAR BB IFITE RS E A
Shanxi Tongyu (Note 9) Associate 32.1296%
L PEsE R (PHEED) YN
(i) As at 31 December 2021, XTRQ, through its 100% controlled (i) R2021F12A31H - i kAR BB
subsidiary Sichuan Liming, holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares He2&EERARME)IFEREAE R B
of Liming. The directors regard Mr. Ming Zaiyuan as the ultimate 100% B ETE B - ARABEL
control shareholder of the Company for his holdings of XTRQ's HEEMARARTBTENER - ARAE
shares. FHEERBEITRR -
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) EHEBAINEARS
Year ended 31 December
BE12A3MBLEE
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Purchase of services EESHRT
— Xintai Jinggong —BFKBL 19,253 576
— Zhongjiu Ante — P ALK - 600
— Shanxi Tongyu — @R 17,708 -
36,961 1,176
Sales of goods EHEN MG
— Shanxi Tongyu — lAEm% 9,676 -
Purchase of goods EEENE M
— Shanxi Tongyu — L7EEE 3,639 -
Key management compensation () XEEEASFHMH
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A3MBLEE
2021 2020
2021 % 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Basic salaries and allowances HAR#r& FoERL 12,545 12,396
Discretionary bonuses [l Esan 9,919 2,762
Retirement and other benefits BINE N EMEF 721 406
23,185 15,564
Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases (d) $HE BEFRVNBREELN

(d)

(e)

28. B AR F (&)

of goods and services

Qutstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of
goods and services at the end of the year in relation to
transactions with related parties are provided in Note 11

and Note 18.

Terms and conditions

Transactions with related parties during the year were
based on the prices and terms that would be available to

third parties.

(e)

REER

MIE N A SR8 R T RFEER
HEAB T R ZHENHEBER

A M AR EE A D A B o

TR TR ANk 4+

FREFBITNXZGERE=0H

S EBIMER
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29. COMMITMENTS 29. A#HEE
Capital commitments B
Capital expenditure contracted at the end of the year but not yet REERBEITNELZEEENE AR
incurred is as follows: FRUNNE

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment TEE - TRAE 184,973 62,330
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30. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 30. A AT SEABRREERE
OF THE COMPANY

(a)

Balance sheet of the Company

ARAFREEEER

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 %
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Long-term investment RHEE 3,490,688 3,422,914
Property, plant and equipment TEpE - TREEE 151 195
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 870 8
Intangible assets mVAE = 431
3,491,709 3,423,548
Current assets REEE
Other receivables E b sk 523,228 51,723
Dividends receivables (i) FE YRS F (1) 36,545 800,000
Cash and cash equivalents HRENBEESEEY 111,698 243,742
671,471 1,095,465
Total assets MmEE 4,163,180 4,519,013
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of BERAATEENER
the Company
Share capital N 2,080 2,079
Share premium IR = (B 3,316,002 3,663,640
Other reserves Hib s 216,317 317,349
Retained earnings AFEW = 541,869 530,852
4,076,268 4,513,920
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Non-current lease liabilities ERBHEEEE 77 -
77 -
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E 3R 86,088 4,688
Current lease liabilities mEHERE 747 405
86,835 5,093
Total liabilities FS=R 86,912 5,093
Total equity and liabilities HEZRERE 4,163,180 4,519,013

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the AATEBEABEHESSN 2022

Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 and was signed on its FIA0BE  THEREEZ -

behalf.
Director Director
EE EE
Yan Danhua Zhang Jianbing
BE RES
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30. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 30. A A RIS EEBRREEET

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AENTFESS
(Accumulated
deficits)/
Share Other retained
premium reserves earnings
(REHER)
[N Hitnf# e BiERa
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREEFTT AREET T AREFIT
As at 1 January 2020 A 2020F181H 4,025,044 574,210 (273,7317)
Profit for the year (i) F =M ) - - 804,583
Currency translation SN E R
differences - (256,861) -
Dividend distributed R A B (361,404) _ _
As at 31 December 2020 A 2020F12H831H 3,663,640 317,349 530,852
Profit for the year FENH - - 11,017
Currency translation INEE AT R
differences - (99,361) -
Exercise of option TTIE BB 3,157 (1,671) -
Dividend distributed RE A B (350,795) - -
As at 31 December 2021 A 2021%12831H 3,316,002 216,317 541,869
0} A dividend of RMB800,000,000 was approved by the Board of 0} DEAEEERESFSON2020EF
Directors of AAGI on 25 December 2020 (2021: nil). 128258 #if R % IR B AR
800,000,000 7t (2021 £F : #&) °
(i) A dividend of RMB1,000,000,000 was approved by the Board of (ii) DEAMEREEBREZSE N 202251
Directors of AAGI on 20 January 2022. A2B# £ REKE AR

1,000,000,000 7T °
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31. SUBSIDIARIES

31. B AT
A TRBRA2021E12 A31 B B = Z K

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2021: BAT
Proportion of
ordinary
Place of incorporation and Issued/  Principal activities and shares held
Name type of legal entity paid-up capital  place of operation by the Group (%)
rRBEE
&R SRR EARRER BRfT/BERE ITEBREZHY EERLLAI %)
AAGI British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), US$50,000/US$50,000  CBM project development, BVI 100%
Limited liability company
DEAERER EBRARHB ((ERARER)) - 50000%7/ KREFEERY EB&RES
BRAT 50,000% 7T
AAG Energy (China) Limited ~ BVI, Limited liability company US$5,000/US$5,000  CBM project development, BV 100%
ARERES  BRAF 5000%7L/500%n KEREERY  XBARES
SAEI Samoa, Limited liability company US$7,000,000/  CBM project development, 100%
US$7,000,000  Samoa
ERERAT BEG ARAF 700000057/ KEFEERY  BET
7,000,000% T
Alpha Eagle Limited Cayman Islands, US$1/US$T  CBM project development, 100%
Limited liability company Cayman lslands
EEBRAR REHS  BRAA 1ET/1ET REREERE HEES
Xinhe Investment Holding Sichuan, PRC, US$100,000,000/  Investment, Sichuan, PRC 100%
Co., Ltd. Limited liability company US$81,395,400
HaRABRARECAR Wi T8 BRAF 100000,000%7T/ #& M)l

81,395,400 % 7T
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 32. EEEAK A=

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEIHTENMS
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive BREENEERTENHFNOT

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2021: HE2021F12A31 AILFE -

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in

respect of director's
other services in
connection with the
Employer's management of the
contribution to affairs of the Company
Discretionary Allowances and a retirement Termination or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme benefits undertaking Total
ESRARANEY
AMEAANEH
EREBNELER
BiEH [BLELL
% i #e il 5 EARE b 28 BEEA Mt &if
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARBFR ARBTR ARBTR
Executive Directors Hi7EE
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i BEELL() - 2814 2,503 - - - - 5317
Mr. Yan Danhua BAELE - 1514 1576 25 47 - - 3162
Mr. Zhang Jianbing () RERLE( - 1,106 1,063 - - - - 2,169
Non-executive Directors ~ $H#{TEZ
Dr. Cui Guiyong (i) ERERL() - - - - - - - -
Mr. Huang Min (i) BHE (i) - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive B H{TEE
Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BIELR 72 290 - - - - - - 290
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng AEiEEL 290 = = = - = - 290
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BRARL 290 - - - - - - 290
Total &t 870 5434 5142 25 47 - - 11,518
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 32. EEEMRRE 5

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEITENMNE (H)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020: HE2020F12 AN BIEFE -
Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director's
other services in
connection with the
Employer's management of the
contribution to affairs of the Company
Discretionary Allowances and aretirement Termination orits subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses benefits in kind benefit scheme benefits undertaking Total
ERHEALTY
ENBARNER
ERERNALRE
R [BGEED
iz - ¥ BiEgke R HElELES HEEN BALEN ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NRBFR NRETT ANRRTT AEBTT ARETR N So AEEFT ANRETT
Executive Directors YiES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (i BHEEL() - 2813 700 17 - - - 3530
Mr. Yan Danhua BRERE - 1513 375 - 3 - - 193
Mr. Zhang Jianbing () FEERE() - 1012 50 - - - - 1262
Non-executive Directors FUOES
Dr. Cui Guiyong i) EEERLH) - - - - - - - -
Mr. Huang Min i) EHE i) - - - - - - - -
Ms. Gu Ren {iv) Baat(v - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive B HTEE
Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander - BIEIR 4 32 - - - - - - 312
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng Bt 312 - - - - - - 312
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BRAEL 312 - - - - - - 312
Total At 936 5338 1325 17 3% - - 7,651
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 32. EEEMRRE 5

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEITENME (&)
(Continued) )
Notes: MIEE :
(i) Retirement benefit costs of Mr. Ming Zaiyuan and Mr. Zhang Jianbing (0) BB SR AR AR AR S S A VR KA A
are borne by the Company’s ultimate holding company. ERSASILEEGS e A

R2021F3 A26 0 - EHEBEREAERT

(if) Mr. Cui Guiyong has resigned as a non-executive Director and a (if)

member of the Strategic Development Committee of the Company @Eﬁitiﬂf?%$&ﬁﬂ§ﬁé@§§@
on 26 March 2021. KA o

(iii) Mr. Huang Min was appointed as a non-executive Director of the (iii) {54\2020&3)5] ZZ B EWAEREZIT
Company on 27 March 2020 and was appointed as a member of the 7%$Q§3F$ﬂﬁ§$ ° ﬁQ\ZOZOﬁﬁﬂ
Audit Committee of the Company on 27 August 2020. 278 %@kﬁ%i%%ﬁ%zﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ

ZEEKE -

(iv) Ms. Gu Ren has resigned as a non-executive Director and a member ) E/‘\ZOZOEEEH Z78 - EE%‘DJ?i%?‘lEK
of the Audit Committee of the Company on 27 August 2020. NFEBFTEERERZZRGKE -

Directors’ emoluments E=HM

Aggregate emoluments paid to Aggregate emoluments paid to
or receivable by directors in or receivable by directors in
respect of their services as  respect of their other services in
directors, whether of the  connection with the management
Company or its subsidiary ~ of the affairs of the Company or

undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total Total
EERHFERES EERHERATRHE
(FTRmAARREMEAR) MEARNSHEETENEM
9 AR 75 =k 1<) =k B Uk 9 S B 4 BB B 7 T Sz 455 =R P& WL Y 57 B 48 58 a5t A5t
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4F 2021 2020 4F 2021 % 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBT T ARETR AR¥ET T ARET R ARBT T
870 936 10,648 6,715 11,518 7,651
Notes: Emoluments above include estimated money value of non-cash MizE: FuiEMeEERSENNEES
benefits: insurance premium. ZH RBE o
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) EERIKRER
During the year ended 31 December 2021, no retirement HE2021FE12A31BIFEE - N
benefits operated by the Group was paid or made, directly SEESEME B EA N Tk
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his EMBARINEEEEAEMEM
services as a director or other services in connection with RiE  BEExxBERES Y NEiE
the management of the affairs of the Company or its HERIEF] - ES IS A FEYUE R
subsidiaries (2020: nil). BHF (20204 : &) o
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

2. EERWARNE @

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c) EE=BERH
During the year ended 31 December 2021, no payments or HE2021F12A31HIEFE 8
benefits in respect of termination of director’s services was EREERBR I LEEXHEAERE
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a EXMHRELREF - TREEM
director, nor is any payable (2020: nil). FERTFR (2020 4F : £%)

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making (d EEE=RHERE=ZFRENIR
available directors’ services [0}
During the year ended 31 December 2021, no consideration HE2021F12A3MBIEFE 8
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making BREERBERE = FIREREN -
available director’s services (2020: nil). FE =7 TR B e R B (2020 4F -

) o

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other (e) BREESE ZTEHEZARHRE
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies ZEEHEBHNERRHNE
corporate by and connected entities with such M EERRHEMRZZER
directors
During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no HE2021F12A3NBIEFE 8
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors, BREZEE - EHEARMBBEHR
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities ERIEHMNER  BEERHEMBR
(2020: nil). 5 (20204 : #&) o

() Directors’ material interests in transactions, ( ESERS THIEHNFTE
arrangements or contracts ME K=
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in R2021 FER K2 FEMERE -
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was AR BRAE T M AT ] B AN 52 B HE 75
a party and in which a director of the Company had a ERBARRESHEEAER
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at (BEmeEEdEE) NEARS
the end of 2021 or at any time during the year ended 31 LR A K (20204 : £&) ©
December 2021 (2020: nil).

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 33. HRER

On 18 January 2022, the Group entered into an agreement with
XTRQ, pursuant to which the Group and XTRQ agreed to make a
capital contribution of RMB24.5 million and RMB25.5 million to
establish a company, representing 49.0% and 51.0% of the total

capital contribution, respectively. On 30 March 2022, the Group

entered into a capital increase agreement with XTRQ, pursuant
to which the Group and XTRQ agreed to contribute additional
RMB122.5 million and RMB127.5 million, respectively.
Subsequent to the capital increase, the share of equity held by

202241 A18 8 » AEFEF KRR
Rl ek o Bt AEBRFRAARE
A& & AR 24,500,000 7T & AR
25,500,000 T A2 — A A 2 BIME H
BB 49.0% N 51.0% ° 72202243 A
08 AEBEMRKARAGTLIZE W
HoBl AEBRHAARERELL
& N R 122,500,000 & A B &
127,500,0007T © & 1% + &5 FA% L

(RIS -

both parties remains unchanged.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Yan Danhua (President)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Executive Vice President)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Huang Min
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Chiu Ming King
Ms. Su Xiaohang

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Zhang Jianbing

Mr. Chiu Ming King

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng
Mr. Huang Min

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (Chairman)
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander
Mr. Zhang Jianbing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Chairman)

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Mr. Yan Danhua (appointed on 26 March 2021)
Dr. Cui Guiyong (resigned on 26 March 2021)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
("ESG"”) WORKING GROUP
Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Leader)
Mr. Yan Danhua (Vice Leader)
Mr. Wang Bing (Member)
The Head of Safety and Environmental Protection Department (Member)
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Member) (appointed on 19 August 2021)
Mr. Li Jun (Member) (appointed on 19 August 2021)
Ms. Su Xiaohang (Member) (appointed on 19 August 2021)
Mr. Wei Jiangtao (Member) (appointed on 19 January 2022)
Secretary to the Chairman of the Board (Member)
(resigned on 19 August 2021)

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 2506, 25/F

Cosco Tower

183 Queen'’s Road Central, Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA

Panzhuang Management Center
Guobei Village

Jiafeng Town, Qinshui County
Jincheng City

Shanxi Province, 048204
People’s Republic of China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

B B RER(ESG]) T4E

Bin ARt (EE)

B ESE (RIEAR)

FkEE(MEE)

ZERREIHE(EE)
RELAE(EE)(R2021F8 A19BEERT)
TEHEA(HE)(R2021F8 A 19 BEE(T)
gEfAZ T (ME)(R2021 458 A19 BEZE)
FTERAE(ME)(R202241 A19BEZT)
EFEgXRWEEE) (202148 19 T)

APPSR

P.O. Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

ERARR ETEEEME,
575

FIREFREF 1835

HIERANE

2518 2506 =
FEFELEEME

R AR HEFE

L PEE B K S 5 & $E
EISIda)

R E AL

AR © 048204
HERERMVBFELERKR

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR EREBSERLE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BAERREBLSEZLBRAA

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor BB

Hopewell Centre ERKEFR1835%

183 Queen'’s Road East AR

Wanchai, Hong Kong 17117121716 %744
PRINCIPAL BANKERS EEARBIT

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited EELSELZRITERAA

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited RiBIRIT(BE)BRAF]

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd., Offshore Banking Unit TEIBITIRDER A FBEESREBLD L
China Minsheng Bank Corporation Limited (Hong Kong Branch) RERAESRITIRNDEBRATEEDTT
AUDITOR BB Em

PricewaterhouseCoopers FEEROKEG TN EIEAT

Certified Public Accountants and HEDE AL

Registered PIE Auditor A 2R Fil 25 B RE X 2L

22/F, Prince’s Building BB

Central IR

Hong Kong RFRE2218

LEGAL ADVISERS SRR

As to Hong Kong law: BEBERE:

Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

BRABEMEEABREREEAE

Suite 3203-3207 B

Edinburgh Tower FIREFREFR 1557
The Landmark EhES

15 Queen’s Road Central NEKRE

Hong Kong 3203 % 3207 =

As to PRC law: REEE

Beijing Broad & Bright Law Firm IR E AR
Room 1508, Tower C R AR
Office Park bR

No. 5 Jinghua South Road, Chaoyang District
Beijing, 100020
People’s Republic of China

S5 E S EREAESH
BFRERR CEI508 E
AR 100020

Shanxi Benhe Law Office L PR AR AN ST
14th Floor, Yicui Commercial Centre FREE AR EFE
Jincheng City Gy

Shanxi Province, 048000
People’s Republic of China

B MEREG L 1418
4 - 048000

STOCK CODE IR 43135
2686 2686
COMPANY'S WEBSITE NGE R

www.aagenergy.com
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